Immune Responses against Hepatitis C Virus

by

Shakti Singh

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Experimental Surgery

Department of Surgery University of Alberta

© Shakti Singh, 2015

Abstract

Hepatitis C virus (HCV) leads to chronic infection in the majority of infected patients presumably due to failure or inefficiency of the immune responses generated. Both antibody and cellular immune responses have been suggested to be important in viral clearance. Non-replicative adenoviral vectors expressing antigens of interest are considered as attractive vaccine vectors for a number of pathogens. In this study, we sought to evaluate cellular and humoral immune responses against HCV NS4 protein using recombinant adenovirus as a vaccine vector expressing NS4 antigen. We have also measured the effect of antigen doses and routes of immunization on the quality and extent of the immune responses, especially their role in viral load reduction, in a recombinant Vaccinia-HCV (Vac-HCV) infection mouse model. Our results show that an optimum dose of adenovirus vector (2×10^7 pfu/mouse) administered intramuscularly (i.m.) induces high T cell proliferation, granzyme B-expressing CD8⁺ T cells, pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-2 and IL-6, and antibody responses that can significantly reduce the Vac-HCV viral load in the ovaries of female C57BL/6 mice. Our results demonstrate that recombinant adenovirus vector can induce both humoral and cellular protective immunity against HCV-NS4 antigen, and that immunity is intricately controlled by route and dose of immunizing vector.

Adenoviruses (Ad) are commonly used as vectors for gene therapy and/or vaccine delivery. Recombinant Ad vectors are being tested as vaccines for many pathogens. Here, we have made a surprising observation that peptides derived from various hepatitis C virus (HCV) antigens contain extensive regions of homology with multiple adenovirus proteins, and conclusively demonstrate that adenovirus vector can induce robust, heterologous cellular and humoral immune responses against multiple HCV antigens. Intriguingly, the induction of this cross-reactive immunity leads to significant reduction of viral loads in a recombinant vaccinia-HCV virus infected mouse model, supporting their role in antiviral immunity against HCV. Healthy human subjects with Ad-specific pre-existing immunity demonstrated cross-reactive cellular and humoral immune responses against multiple HCV antigens. These findings reveal the potential of a previously uncharacterized property of natural human adenovirus infection to dictate, modulate and/or alter the course of HCV infection upon exposure. This intrinsic property of adenovirus vectors to cross-prime HCV immunity can also be exploited to develop a prophylactic and/or therapeutic vaccine against HCV.

Preface

This thesis is an original work by Shakti Singh. The animal experiments/ procedures (Protocol# AUP212, till Aug 12, 2015) were approved and conducted in accoradance with the University of Alberta Animal Care and Use Committee. The procedures related to human tissue were approved (Protocol# 3983 till Nov 23, 2015) by University of Alberta Human Research Ethics Board.

Recombinant adenoviral vectors expressing Hepatitis C virus antigens were prepared by Dr. Wen Li (University of Alberta), and chimeric vaccinia-HCV viruses were gifted by Dr. Alfred M. Prince (New York University, USA).

Chapter 2 of this thesis has been published as S. Singh, S. Vedi, W. Li, S.K. Samrat, R. Kumar R, and B. Agrawal, "Recombinant adenoviral vector expressing HCV NS4 induce protective immune responses in a mouse model of Vaccinia-HCV virus infection: A dose and route conundrum", *Vaccine*, Vol. 32, issue 23, 2712-2721. I was responsible for the experiment design, execution, data collection and anaylysis, and manuscript writing. S. Vedi and S.K. Samrat assisted with the execution of experiments and data collection. Dr. W. Li prepared recombinant adenovector expressing Hepatitis C virus NS4 antigen. Dr. R. Kumar contributed to concept and manuscript composition. Dr. B. Agrawal was the supervisory and corresponding author and was involved with concept formation, manuscript edits and composition.

Dedicated to my parents

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Babita Agrawal for her continuous support of my Ph.D thesis research, for her patience and encouragement. Her guidance helped me in all the time of research and writing of this thesis.

Besides my supervisor, I would like to thank my graduate committee: Dr. Lorne Tyrrell and Dr. Gina Rayat for their insightful comments and encouragement, but also for the hard questions, which incited me to widen my research from various perspectives. I would like to thank Dr. Quim Madrenas and Dr. Andrew Mason for participating in my thesis defense. I would like to extend special gratitude to Dr. Fred Berry for serving as chair of my defense committee. I am very thankful to Dr. Rakesh Kumar for encouragement and support during my Ph.D. program.

I have a deep sense of gratitude and regard for all the people who voluntarily donated the blood, due to which it became possible to pursue some of the research directions. I would like to acknowledge Ms. Christina Smith, for her continuing help for official work and Ms. Dorothy Kratochwil-Otto for helping me doing flow cytometry experiments. My fellow lab mates Dr. Satish Vedi, Subodh Samrat, Eric Loo, Saurabh and Nancy have been a great support and made my stay in the lab memorable.

I am very grateful to my friends at the University of Alberta, especially Nutan Srivastava, Keshav Gopal and Bharti Singh for their unconditional support and help all the time, and making my stay in Edmonton so memorable. I am very fortunate to have many loving and caring friends, especially, Arun Kumar, Purshottam Malik, Sudhir Kumar, Vijay Chauhan, Prerna Chaudhary, Himani Kaushik, Arpita Mishra, Taranjeet Kaur and Jayita Thakur; who always have been very supportive and encouraging through thick and thin.

In particular, I am very grateful to Dr. Sudhanshu Vrati for introducing me to the virus and vaccine research. He has been a great source of inspiration, and always has supported throughout my research career.

Last but not the least, I would like to thank my parents, my sisters and my brother-inlaws for their continuous support by all means possible, and always believing in me.

-Shakti Singh

Table of Contents

List o	f Tables	X		
List o	f Figures	xi		
List o	f Abbreviations	xiii		
Chap	pter 1: Introduction to Hepatitis C Virus			
1.1	Hepatitis	2		
1.2	Hepatitis C Virus	2		
1.3	Transmission and Epidemiology	3		
1.4	4 Genome and Proteins			
	1.4.1 Structural Proteins	7		
	1.4.2 Non-structural Proteins	9		
1.5	Genetic Variability and Quasispecies	11		
1.6	Classification and Genotypes	12		
1.7	1.7 Viral Life Cycle			
1.8	.8 Progression of HCV Infection 15			
	1.8.1 Acute Hepatitis	15		
	1.8.2 Chronic Hepatitis	15		
1.9	9 Immune Responses against HCV 10			
	1.9.1 Innate Immune Responses			
	1.9.2 Adaptive Immune Responses	23		
	1.9.2.1 Humoral Immune Response	23		
	1.9.2.2 Cellular Immune Responses	24		
	1.9.3 HCV-specific Heterologous Immunity	28		
	1.9.4 Summary of HCV-specific Immune Responses	30		
1.10	Vaccine Development	31		
1.11	Treatment of HCV Infection	33		
1.12	Animal Models	36		
1.13	Current Study and Hypothesis	38		
1.14	.14 References 40			

Chapter 2: Recombinant Adenoviral Vector Expressing HCV NS4 Induces Protective Immune Responses: A Dose and Route Conundrum

2.1	Introdu	roduction 63		
2.2	Materi	als and Methods	64	
	2.2.1	Recombinant Adenoviral Vector	64	
	2.2.2	Vaccinia Virus	65	
	2.2.3	Mice Immunizations	65	
	2.2.4	T Cell Proliferation Assay	65	
	2.2.5	Cytokine ELISA	66	
	2.2.6	T Cell Phenotype Analyses by Flow Cytometery	66	
	2.2.7	T Cell Killing Assay	67	
	2.2.8	Antigen Specific Antibody ELISA	67	
	2.2.9	Neutralizing Antibodies against Recombinant Adenovirus Vectors	68	
	2.2.10	Chimeric Vac-HCV Challenge	68	
	2.2.11	Statistical Analysis	68	
2.3	Results			
	2.3.1	Intramuscular Immunization with an Optimum Dose of rAd-NS4 Induces High Antigen-Specific T Cell Proliferation and Cytokine Responses	69	
	2.3.2	Phenotypic Characteristics and Target Killing Activity Differ in T Cells Obtained from Mice Immunized with High vs. Low Doses of rAd-NS4 Given by Intramuscular or Intraperitoneal Routes	72	
	2.3.3	Induction of Antigen-Specific Humoral Immune Responses in Mice Immunized with Higher vs. Lower Doses of rAd-NS4 Given by Intramuscular or Intraperitoneal Routes	75	
	2.3.4	Intramuscular Immunization with rAd-NS4 Induces Higher Long-term Cellular and Humoral Memory Responses than Intraperitoneal Immunization	78	
	2.3.5	Immunization with Low Intramuscular Dose rAd-NS4 Provides the Maximum Reduction in Vac-HCV Viral Load	80	
2.4	Discus	sion	81	
2.5	References 87			

Chapter 3: Adenoviral Proteins Induce Heterologous Immune Responses Against Hepatitis C Virus Antigens in Mice

3.1	Introd	Introduction 9		
3.2 Materials and Methods		als and Methods	95	
	3.2.1	Adenovirus Vector	95	
	3.2.2	DNA Purification and PCR Amplification	96	
	3.2.3	Sequence Alignment	98	
	3.2.4	Mice Immunizations	98	
	3.2.5	T Cell Proliferation Assay	99	
	3.2.6	Cytokine ELISA	99	
	3.2.7	Antibody ELISA	99	
	3.2.8	Flow Cytometry	100	
	3.2.9	T Cell Cytotoxicity Assay	101	
	3.2.10	Chimeric Vac-HCV Challenge	102	
	3.2.11	Vac-HCV Titration by Plaque Assay	102	
	3.2.12	Statistical Analysis	102	
3.3	Result	S	103	
	3.3.1	DNA Isolated from Ad Vector does not Contain HCV Genes	103	
	3.3.2	Peptide Sequences Derived from HCV Antigens Exhibit Varying Degrees of Homology with Different Adenoviral (Ad) Vector Proteins	103	
	3.3.3	Immunization of Mice with Ad Vector Induces Cross-reactive Cellular and Humoral Immune Responses against Multiple HCV Antigens	105	
	3.3.4	Cross-Reactive Effector T Cells Induced Upon Immunization with Ad Vector Exert Cytotoxicity to Target Cells Loaded with HCV-Derived Peptides	112	
	3.3.5	Role of The HCV-Specific Cross-Reactive Immune Responses Induced by Ad Vector in Reducing Viral Loads in Vaccinia-HCV Challenged Mice	113	
3.4	Discus	ssion	116	
3.5	References 1			

Chapter 4: Humans with Pre-Existing Ad Immunity Show HCV Specific		
	Cross-Reactive Immunity	
4.1	Introduction	125
4.2	Materials and Methods	126
	4.2.1 Human Blood Donors, Plasma and PBMCs	126
	4.2.2 Human IgG Antibody ELISA	126
	4.2.3 Ex Vivo Stimulation of Human PBMCs and Intracellular Cytokine Staining	127
	4.2.4 Statistical Analysis	129
4.3	Results	129
	4.3.1 Human Healthy Donors Enrolled in the Study were Seropositive for Adenovirus	129
	4.3.2 Ad-Seropositive Human Donors have Cross-reactive Humoral Immune Responses against HCV Antigens Which Correlate with Ad Specific Immunity	130
	4.3.3 Humans with Pre-Existing Ad Immunity Express IFN- γ and IL-10 in CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺ T Cells in HCV Antigen(s) Dependent Manner	132
4.4	Discussion	134
4.5	References	136
Chaj	pter 5: Genral Discussion	
5.1	Recombinant Ad Vector Expressing HCV NS4 Protein Induces Protective Immunity which Critically Depends upon Dose and Route of Immunization	140
5.2	Ad Vector Derived Proteins have High Amino Acid Homology with Peptide Epitopes Derived from Multiple HCV Proteins and Induce Strong HCV Specific Heterologous Immunity	141
5.3	HCV Antigen Specific Cross-Reactive Immunity in HCV Naïve but Ad-immune Healthy Human Blood Donors	142
5.4	Conclusions	143
5.5	Future Direction	144
5.6	References	146
	Bibliography	149
	Appendices	181

List of Tables

1.1	Global sero-prevalence of HCV6				
1.2	Prophylactic and therapeutic vaccines in human clinical trials 32				
1.3	Currently approved and future antiviral drugs for HCV chronic infection 35				
2.1	Comparison of various immune parameters in mice immunized with rAd-NS4 with 8 different doses and routes of immunization				
3.1	.1 PCR primers used to detect presence of HCV genes in adenoviral vector stock				
3.2	Description of adenoviral (Ad) proteins which were compared to determine homologies with HCV proteins derived peptide epitopes				
3.3	Summary of HCV peptides showing homology to adenovirus (Ad) proteins	104			
Арр	endix 3: List of HCV Core protein derived peptides and number of Ad proteins showing homology	184			
Арр	endix 4: List of HCV F protein derived peptides and number of Ad proteins showing homology	185			
Арр	endix 5: List of HCV NS3 protein derived peptides and number of Ad proteins showing homology	186			
Арр	endix 6: List of HCV NS4 protein derived peptides and number of Ad proteins showing homology	187			
Арр	endix 7: List of HCV NS5A protein derived peptides and number of Ad proteins showing homology	188			
Арр	endix 8: List of HCV NS5B protein derived peptides and number of Ad proteins showing homology	189			
Арр	endix 9: List of HCV E1 derived peptides and number of Ad proteins showing homology	190			
Арр	endix 10: List of HCV E2 derived peptides and number of Ad proteins showing homology	191			
Арр	endix 11: List of HCV p7 derived peptides and number of Ad proteins showing homology	192			
Арр	endix 12: List of HCV NS2 derived peptides and number of Ad proteins showing homology	193			

List of Figures

1.1	Progression of HCV infection 5		
1.2	Genome and proteins of HCV	8	
1.3	Life cycle of HCV	14	
1.4	Innate immune signaling in HCV infection	18	
1.5	Innate immune cells in HCV infection	22	
1.6	T cell immune responses in HCV infection	26	
2.1	T cell proliferation after two immunizations	70	
2.2	Cytokine profile of spleen and lymph node T cells after two immunizations	71	
2.3	T cell phenotyping	73	
2.4	Killing activity of effector T cell	74	
2.5	Anti-NS4 antibodies	76	
2.6	Adeno-vector specific antibodies	77	
2.7	Adenovirus vector neutralizing antibodies	78	
2.8	Memory responses two months after two immunizations	79	
2.9	Vaccinia-HCV challenge after two immunizations	80	
3.1	HCV genes Core, F, NS3, NS4, NS5a or NS5b are not amplified in Ad vector stock by PCR	104	
3.2	Cross-reactive cellular immune responses against HCV antigens in mice immunized with Ad vector (with or without poly I:C adjuvant)	106	
3.3	Proliferation and IFN- γ production upon stimulation with individual synthetic peptides derived from HCV antigens (Core, NS3, NS4 and NS5) in Ad vector immunized mice	107	
3.4	Cross-reactive CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺ T cells obtained from Ad vector immunized mice proliferate in HCV antigen-dependent manner	109	
3.5	Cross-reactive $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cells obtained from Ad vector immunized mice produce cytokines upon <i>ex vivo</i> stimulation with various HCV proteins	110	

- **3.6** Cross-reactive CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells obtained from Ad vector immunized mice 111 produce cytokines upon *ex vivo* stimulation with HCV peptides
- **3.7** Cross-reactive antibody response against HCV antigens in mice immunized with 112 Ad vector (with or without poly I:C adjuvant)
- **3.8** Cytotoxic killing of target cells loaded with HCV antigens-derived peptides, by 114 cross-reactive effector T cells obtained from Ad vector immunized mice
- **3.9** Immunization of mice with Ad vector leads to reduced titer of Vaccinia-HCV 115 chimeric virus
- **4.1** Experimental outline of the study of HCV specific heterologous immunity in 128 healthy humans
- **4.2** Human healthy donors enrolled in the study were seropositive for Adenovirus 129
- **4.3** Ad-seropositive human donors demonstrate cross-reactive humoral immune 131 responses against HCV antigens
- **4.4** Cross-reactive humoral immune responses against HCV antigens correlate with Ad 132 specific immunity in HCV naïve healthy donors
- **4.5** Humans with pre-existing Ad immunity express IFN-γ and IL-10 in CD4+ and 133 CD8+ T cells in HCV antigen(s) dependent manner

Appendix 1:	: T cell proliferation after single immunization	

Appendix 2: Vaccinia-HCV challenge after single immunization183

List of Abbreviations

AA	: Amino Acid			
Ad	: Adenovirus			
Ag	: Antigen			
ALT	: Alanine Transaminase			
ANOVA	: Analysis of Variance			
APC	: Allo-phycocyanin			
APCs	: Antigen-Presenting Cells			
ATCC	: Antigen-Presenting Cells : American Type Culture Collection			
CCAC	: American Type Culture Collection : Canadian Council of Animal Care			
CD	: Cluster of Differentiation			
cDNA	: Complementary DNA			
CFA	: Complete Freund's Adjuvant			
CLRs	: C-type Lectin Receptors			
CFSE	: 5(6)-Carboxy Fluorescein N-hydroxy Succinimidyl Ester			
ConA	: Concanavalin A			
CpG	: Cytosine-phosphate-Guanine			
CTL	: Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte			
CTLA-4	: Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-Associated Antigen 4			
CXCR6	: Chemokine (C-X-C Motif) Receptor 6			
GrB	: Granzyme B			
DCs	: Dendritic Cells			
DAA	: Direct Acting Antiviral			
DMSO	: Dimethyl Sulfoxide			
DNA	: Deoxyribonucleic Acid			
EDTA	: Ethylene Diamine Tetraacetic Acid			
ELISA	: Enzyme-linked ImmunoSorbent Assay			
ER	: Endoplasmic Reticulum			
FACS	: Fluorescent-activated Cell Sorting			
FBS	: Fetal Bovine Serum			
FITC	: Fluorescein Isothiocyanate			
FoxP3	: Forkhead Box P3			
GFP	: Green Fluorescent Protein			
GM-CSF	: Granulocyte-macrophage Colony Stimulating Factor			
HCC	: Hepato Cellular Carcinoma			
HCV	: Hepatitis C Virus			
HDL	: High Density Lipoprotein			
HSLAS	: Health Sciences Laboratory Animals Services			
HVR	: Hyper Variable Region			
ICAM-I	: Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1			
IDU	: Intravenous Drug Use			
IFN-γ	: Interferon-gamma			
IL	: Interleukin			
IM or i.m.	: Intramuscular			

IP or i.p.	: Intraperitoneal
ISGs	: Interferon Stimulatory Genes
JAK	: Janus Kinase
kDa	: Kilo Dalton
LPS	: Lipopolysaccharide
mAb	: Monoclonal Antibody
mDCs	: Myeloid Dendritic Cells
mg	: Milligram
MHC	: Major Histocompatibility Complex
min	: Minute
ml	: Milliliter
NANBH	: Non-A Non-B Hepatitis
NK cells	: Natural Killer Cells
NF-ĸB	: Nuclear Factor-Kappa B
NS	: Non Structural
OD	: Optical Density
ORF	: Open Reading Frame
PAMPS	: Pathogen-associated Molecular Patterns
PBS	: Phosphate Buffered Saline
PBMCs	: Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells
PD-1	: Programmed Cell Death Protein 1
PCR	: Polymerase Chain Reaction
pDCs	: Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells
PE	: Phycoerythrin
PEG-IFN	: Pegylated Interferon
pg	: Picogram
PI	: Propidium Iodide
Poly I:C	: Polyinosinic-polycytidylic Acid
RBCs	: Red Blood Cells
PRRs	: Pattern Recognition Receptor
RBV	: Ribavirin
RIG-1	: Retinoic Acid Inducible Gene-I
RPMI	: Roswell Park Memorial Institute
RNA	: Ribonucleic Acid
rpm	: Revolution Per Minute
STAT	: Signal Transducer And Activator Of Transcription
SVR	: Sustained Virologic Response
TCR	: T Cell Receptor
TGF-β	: Transforming Growth Factor-beta
Th	: T Helper
TLR	: Toll Like Receptor
UTR	: Un-translated Region
VLDL	: Very Low Density Lipoprotien
μg	: Microgram
μl	: Microliter

Chapter 1

Introduction to Hepatitis C Virus

1.1 Hepatitis

Hepatitis, inflammation of the liver, can be caused by several agents such as viral infection, alcohol, drugs, toxins, and/or cells of immune system that have gathered to counter an infection. Inflammation is a natural reaction of the body's immune system to injury and is often characterized by swelling and edema due to an infiltration of immune cells. Several hepatitis viruses such as hepatitis A, B, C, D, and E can infect the human liver and cause hepatitis. Hepatitis caused by these hepatic viruses shows similar symptoms but differs in the transmission, duration, and magnitude of the infection. Several non-hepatic viruses such as cytomegalovirus, Epstein-Barr virus, and the virus that causes yellow fever also can cause hepatitis. This chapter describes the current knowledge about hepatitis C virus, its epidemiology, infection, immunity, and other aspects.

1.2 Hepatitis C Virus

Initially, hepatitis A and hepatitis B viruses were thought to be the agents that caused most of the hepatitis cases initiated by blood transfusions. Blood tests were developed for hepatitis B in 1963 and for hepatitis A in 1973, but many of the blood samples taken for post-transfusion illness tested negative for both hepatitis A and B; and this transfusion-associated hepatitis continued to occur. In 1975, the etiological agent for this non-A non-B hepatitis (NANBH) in post-transfusion patients was confirmed as an unknown NANBH infectious agent [1]. In 1989, the genome of this unknown NANBH virus was determined to be a positive sense double stranded RNA and it was partially cloned. This newly identified virus which causes NANBH was named *hepatitis C virus* (HCV) [2]. After identification of this new virus, several anti-HCV antibody and PCR-based detection methods were developed to diagnose cases of NANBH or HCV infection [3]. After

screening of stored blood using these detection methods, it was estimated that approximately 90 to 95% of NANBH cases were actually caused by the hepatitis C virus.

1.3 Transmission and Epidemiology

HCV is mainly transmitted through contaminated blood transfusions, needles (used in occupational health injuries under medical care and in drug injection), syringes, and/ other medical devices. Sexual and perinatal transmission may also occur, although such cases are infrequent. Other less common modes of transmission includes social, cultural, and behavioral practices such as ear and body piercing, circumcision, and tattooing with contaminated tools. HCV transmission associated with blood and blood products was very high before 1991. After 1992, when a number of sensitive screening tests for HCV were developed and instituted for the screening of blood and blood products, the risk of transmission through blood transfusion was quickly reduced (27-80%) and become as low as 1 in 100, 000 per unit of blood transfused in many developed countries [4-6]. Presently, in low prevalence high income regions such as North America, Central and Western Europe, Pacific Asia (Japan and Korea), and Australia, the majority (up to 60-90%) of HCV infections are due to a high number of intravenous drug users (IDU) who share contaminated needles; this number is followed by HCV infections due to unprotected sex and occupational health care workers exposed to blood [7]. HCV transmission through blood transfusions and unsterilized injection is still high in many developing countries that have moderate to high prevalence rate due to lack of proper screening of blood and blood products [4, 7]. Worldwide, approximately two million HCV infections result annually from contaminated therapeutic injections, accounting for up to 40% of all new cases [8]. Transmission through a perinatal route is very low; however, HIV co-infection has been reported to increase the rate of perinatal transmission 4–5 fold [9].

The incidence of HCV in a population can be difficult to determine because acute infections can be mild or asymptomatic. It is estimated that about 2.8% of the world population or 184 million people are chronic carriers of HCV [10, 11]. The majority (80%) of newly HCV infected people enter into a chronic disease state and 20-30% of these further develop liver cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) [12] (Fig 1.1). In Canada, about 1.1% of the population (332,000 individuals) are HCV seropositive [13]. The global economic impact of HCV is difficult to estimate. The prevalence of HCV differs not only between countries, but also within geographic regions and by socioeconomic class within a given country [14]. Table 1.1 provides the details of very low (<1.0%), low (1.1–1.5%), moderate (1.5–2.0%), high (2.0–5.0%) and very high (>5.0%) HCV sero-prevalence regions [13].

The genotype distribution in HCV infected individuals also varies by region. Based on genotypic prevalence data available from 98 countries, it has been estimated that genotype (G) 1 or G1 is the most common (46%), followed by G3: 22%, G2: 13%, G4: 13%, G6: 2% and G5: 1% [13]. Subtype 1b accounts for 22% of all infections globally. In North America, Latin America and Europe, G1 is the most common (60–71%), with G1b representing 26%, 39%, and 50% of all infections in these regions respectively. The genotype distribution in Canada is mostly represented by G1a (34.2%), followed by G3: 22.3%, 1b: 20.1%, G2: 15.4% and G4: 2.3% [13]. In the United States, the prevalence of HCV infection is represented by G1a: 46.2%, G1b: 26.3%, G2: 10.7% and G3: 10-12 %. Genotype 1 is also most prevalent in Australasia, Europe, Latin America and North America and ranges from 53–71%. Genotype 4 is the most prevalent in North Africa (71%) and the Middle East. In this region, Egypt alone accounted for 37% of G4 infections; if Egypt is excluded, HCV infections in North Africa comprise 46% genotype 1 and 34% genotype 4. In South Asia and South-East Asia (India, Pakistan and Bangladesh), G3 is the

most prevalent (> 50%), whereas genotype 1b is the most common in Russia, China, Korea, and Japan (>50%) [13].



Fig 1.1: Progression of HCV infection. Acute HCV infection may progress to chronic infection in majority of the cases, which may further leads to cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma.

Incident	% Sero-	Major Geographical Regions	
Rate	prevalence		
Very Low	< 1.0	Asia Pacific: Korea Republic	
		Asia, South: India	
		Asia, Southeast: Indonesia, Philippines	
		Europe, Central: Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland	
		Europe, Western: Austria, Belgium, Cyprus, Germany, Denmark,	
		Finland, France, United Kingdom, Luxemburg, Netherlands, Sweden	
		Middle East: Iran, Qatar	
Low	1.0-2.4	Asia Pacific: Japan	
		Asia, East: China	
		Asia, South: Afghanistan, Bangladesh	
		Asia, Southeast: Cambodia, Sri Lanka, Myanmar, Malaysia	
		Australasia: Australia and New Zealand	
		Europe, Central: Bulgaria, Slovakia	
		Europe, Eastern: Belarus, Latvia	
		Europe, Western: Greece, Switzerland, Spain, Ireland, Israel, Italy,	
		Portugal	
		America, Latin: Mexico, Peru, Venezuela, Argentina, Brazil	
		Middle East: Algeria, Libya, Morocco, Saudi Arabia, Yemen, Tunisia	
		and Turkey	
		America, North: Canada, USA	
		Africa: Ethiopia, Madagascar, South Africa, Zimbabwe, Gambia	
Moderate	2.5-4.9	Asia, East: Taiwan	
		Asia, Central: Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan	
		Asia, Southeast: Thailand	
		Europe, Central: Romania	
		Europe, Eastern: Russia, Okraine	
		Middle-East: Iraq	
TT• 1	50.100	Africa: Congo Republic	
High	5.0-10.0	Asia, Central: Georgia, Turkmenistan	
		Asia, South: Pakistan	
N7	> 10.0	Arria Control: Mongolia Unhabistar	
v ery	~10.0	Asia, Central: Mongolia, Uzbekistan	
High		Airica: Egypt, Gabon, Cameroon	

Table 1.1: Global sero-prevalence of HCV [Reference 15]

1.4 Genome and Proteins

HCV is an enveloped virus 50–60 nm in diameter [16]. HCV is thought to adopt a classical icosahedral scaffold in which glycoproteins E1 and E2 are anchored to the host cell-derived double-layer lipid envelope. Within the envelope is the nucleo-capsid which is composed of multiple copies of the core protein, forming an internal icosahedral capsid. The capsid contains genomic positive single-stranded RNA of about 9.6 kb which can be translated into a single polyprotein. The processing of the polyprotein, which occurs co-translationally as well as post-translationally by a cellular and viral protease, makes structural proteins (E1, E2, core) and non-structural proteins (p7, NS2, NS3, NS4A, NS4B, NS5A, NS5B) [17, 18]. These viral proteins are described in section 1.4.1 and 1.4.2 (**Fig 1.2**).

1.4.1 Structural Proteins

Capsid

The capsid consists of 21–24 KDa protein subunits, which formed from the first 191 amino acids (aa) of the HCV polyprotein. This protein is relatively conserved and contains several antigenic epitopes. It plays a major role in the packaging of viral RNA and also can modulate cellular transduction pathways and also contribute to pathogenicity. In the host cell, HCV core protein is mainly cytoplasmic, located on the endoplasmic reticulum membranes and around lipid vesicles [19-23].

Envelope Glycoproteins (E1 & E2)

The envelope glycoproteins, E1 and E2, are essential components of the HCV virion and necessary for fusion with the host cell membrane and viral entry [24, 25]. E1 and E2 have molecular weights of 33–35 and 70–72 KDa respectively, and assemble as non-covalent heterodimers [26]. E1 and E2 are highly glycosylated, containing up to 5 and 11 glycosylation

sites, respectively. Viral attachment is thought to be initiated via E2 interaction with several components of the receptor complex such as high-density lipoproteins (HDL), scavenger receptor B type I (SR–BI), CD81, occludin, claudin-1 [27-29].



Fig 1.2: Genome and proteins of HCV. HCV RNA genome encodes a single polyprotein of about 3000 amino acid, which is cleaved by host and viral proteases into various structural and non-structural proteins. Cellular signal proteases cleave the polyprotein at Core-E1, E1-E2, E2-P7 and P7-NS2 junctions. This is followed by cleavage at NS2-NS3 junction by NS2-NS3 auto protease. Rest of the polyprotein is cleaved by NS3-4A serine protease. Lower left panel shows the HCV virion structure and right panel shows the arrangement of HCV proteins in endoplasmic reticulum membrane [Lower panels of the figure were modified from references: www.prn.org and 30].

Frame-shift Protein

The F (frame-shift) protein is generated as a result of a -2/+1 ribosomal frame-shift in the N-terminal capsid-encoding region of the HCV poly-protein. The role of F protein in the HCV lifecycle is not defined but it was proposed to be involved in viral persistence [31], and have been found to modulate host immune system [32].

1.4.2 Non-Structural Proteins

NS1 (p7)

NS1 or p7 is a small polypeptide (63 aa) that has been shown to be an integral membrane protein [33]. It belongs to the viroporin family and can act as a calcium ion channel [34]. Mutations or deletions in its cytoplasmic loop suppress the infectivity of HCV cDNA in chimpanzees [35].

NS2

NS2 is a non-glycosylated trans-membrane protein of 21–23 KDa. NS2, together with amino-terminal domain of the NS3 protein, the NS2/NS3 protease, constitutes a zinc-dependent metallo-protease that cleaves the NS2-NS3 junction [17, 18].

NS3

The HCV NS3 protein has serine protease, NTPase, and RNA helicase activities. The serine protease activity remains in N-terminal 1/3 domain (181 aa) and a helicase/NTPase activity in C-terminal 2/3 domain (465 aa). The serine protease domain of NS3 binds to its cofactor NS4A and catalyzes polyprotein cleavage at the NS3–NS4A, NS4A–NS4B, NS4B–NS5A and NS5A–NS5B junctions [36-38]. The 3D structure of the NS3 serine protease domain complexed with NS4A has been determined [39-41], and is one of the most popular targets for antiviral drugs

[42]. The NS3 helicase–NTPase has several functions, including RNA-stimulated NTPase activity, RNA binding, and unwinding of RNA regions of extensive secondary structure by coupling unwinding and NTP hydrolysis [43, 44].

NS4A

The NS4 region of the polyprotein comprises 2 proteins; namely, NS4A and NS4B. The HCV NS4A protein is a 54 amino acid protein, which has a hydrophobic N-terminal region followed by a hydrophilic C-terminal region [45]. The central region (aa 21–34) of NS4A is hydrophobic and required for the activation of NS3 [37, 45, 46] and appears to be an integral part of the protease complex.

NS4B

NS4B is a 27 KDa integral membrane protein containing both hydrophobic transmembrane and amphipathic helices [47, 48]. It induces the formation of specialized membrane compartment called 'membranous web', which act as RNA replication site [48]. It also binds HCV RNA and help in the formation of replication complex [49, 50].

NS5A

NS5A is 56-58 KDa (447 amino acid) phosphorylated zinc-metallo-protein which does not have any enzymatic property. NS5A exists as multiple phospho-isoforms and is predominantly localized in the cytoplasmic/peri-nuclear compartments of the cell, including the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and the Golgi apparatus. This pattern of NS5A localization is consistent with the notion that NS5A interacts with multiple host cell and viral proteins. The NS5A plays multiple roles in mediating viral replication, host-cell interactions, and viral pathogenesis [51, 52]. Therefore, this protein is a major target for various direct acting antiviral (DAA) drugs.

NS5B

NS5B is a 68 KDa RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp). The crystal structure of NS5B revealed that the RdRp has a classical "fingers, palm and thumb" structure formed by its 530 N-terminal aa [53-55] responsible for synthesizing the complementary negative strand of the genome as the replication intermediate and then genomic RNA using the negative strand as the template. Other important features of the HCV NS5B include a β -hairpin loop [56], a GTP-binding site [53, 57] and the ability to homo-oligomerize [58, 59]. A functional interaction between NS5A and NS5B has been reported [60]), and the proposed function of NS5A is to serve as a cofactor for NS5B [61].

1.5 Genetic Variability and Quasispecies

HCV shows a high genetic diversity like other single stranded RNA viruses, which is due to lack of proofreading activity in its RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp), resulting in the introduction of wrong nucleotides that are not corrected during replication. Hence, any new mutation incorporated during replication, will be inherited in the progeny virus. Because of the high replication rate and a very high frequency of error in replication results in very high mutation rate[62]. Therefore, inside the host, HCV exists as a heterogeneous species called as "quasispecies". The quasispecies nature is distributed throughout the genome except in the 5'UTR, where no variation is observed. Some of the non-structural protein, NS5A in particular, as well as the capsid encoding sequences also show a lower, yet significant, rate of variability. Rest other non-structural proteins are relatively conserved. Some 'hot spots' of mutation (1.6%) have been identified in the E2 envelope protein as hypervariable regions: HVR 1 and 2. HVRI is 27 amino acids in length that shows up to 80% diversity in amino acid sequence. However, several positions in HVRI are relatively conserved and have B-cell epitopes, suggesting that a conserved

secondary structure of HVR1 is required for the viability of the virus. The complexity of this region does not correlate with the severity of liver disease, HCV genotype, or viral load [18, 63, 64]. HVR2 is only found in the HCV–1b genotype [63] and consists of 7 amino acids, located at positions 91 to 97 of the E2 envelope protein. HVR2 shows up to 100% amino acid sequence diversity and have no B-cell epitopes. The sequence analysis of the HCV genome reveals that the 5' and 3' coding regions are relatively conserved and form secondary structures [65]. The mechanism of frequent genetic mutations in HVR1 and HVR2 is not yet fully understood, but it certainly helps HCV in generating variants and escape from immune recognition [66-70].

1.6 Classification and Genotypes

HCV has been classified under *flaviviridae* family as a separate genus *hepaciviruses*. Its genome shows extensive heterogeneity and contains several variable and hypervariable regions in the genome. There are also relatively well-conserved regions, such as capsid, NS3, NS5 coding and 5'-non coding region [71]. On the basis of these conserved regions in genome, HCV can be classified in to seven distinct genotypes (1 to 7) and more than 50 subtypes. It has been showed that anti-capsid or NS4 antibodies can be used to distinguish between many HCV genotypes. However, the serologic differences do not equate much with distinct serotypes based on antibody recognition as seen in most other viruses. It also does not show a regular correlation with specific genotype that can be used as a quicker method to determine genotype using the antibody. Therefore, the most reliable methods used for genotyping of HCV are based on nucleic acid genome rather than antibody based serotyping, and includes: restriction length polymorphism of the 5' NCR, reverse dot blot hybridization analysis of 5'-NCR or LIPA (Line Probe Assay) and nested PCR amplification of the core region using type specific primers. PCR amplification has been found to be the most reliable method of genotyping. Each genotype regularly shows a

difference of more than 20% at the nucleotide level and more than 15% at the amino acid level, although the 5' NCR and capsid protein-encoding region show high homology, i.e., > 90%. However, the clinical and virological data have not shown significant phenotypic differences between various genotypes, but there is a general agreement that the response to interferon therapy depends on the infecting HCV genotype [72].

1.7 Viral Life Cycle

Due to lack of efficient cell culture system, the study of HCV viral life cycle has been delayed and still is not completely understood. The initial step in the viral life cycle involves the attachment and binding of the virus to its cellular receptor(s) on hepatocyte. Several receptors such as CD-81, human scavenger receptors class B type (HSR-B), lectins L–SIGN and DC–SIGN, glycosaminoglycans and low density lipoprotein receptor (LDLR) binds E2 protein and help in attachment and entry of virus in to the host cell [73-78]. Another receptors occludin and claudin-1 which are highly expressed at tight junctions, has also been shown to be involved in the late stage of viral entry [79]. After attachment, the virus enters the host cell by endocytosis and the release of the viral genomic RNA into the cytoplasm is thought to be pH dependent.

Immediately after the release of the genomic RNA into the cytoplasm, translation of the viral proteins starts by binding of 5'-internal ribosome entry site (5'-IRES) to ribosomes. The translation generates the polyprotein that is co- and post-translationally cleaved by cellular and viral proteases into individual structural and non-structural proteins. The capsid protein associates with LDs and recruits non-structural proteins and the replication complex to LDs-ER-associated membranes [80]. The newly synthesized NS5B RdRp along with other viral and host factors form replication complex and makes full-length negative strand RNA intermediate. This negative strand then serves as a template for synthesis of positive strands, used for further translation,

replication and RNA genomes for new viral particles. The NS3/4A helicase/NTPase unwinds the double stranded replication intermediates [44, 81], and NS4B induces the formation of membranous web [48].



Fig 1.3: Life cycle of HCV. The first step in the HCV life cycle is the attachment of virus to the cell surface. Viral envelope E1 and E2 proteins interact with the cell surface receptors. Envelope fuses with the cell membrane and capsid containing viral genome released inside the cell, where capsid degrades and viral RNA releases in the cytoplasm. Viral RNA translated into polyprotein, which is cleaved into individual viral proteins by cellular and viral proteases [30]. The RNA polymerase (NS5B) synthesizes multiple copies of original ssRNA genome using (-) ssRNA intermediate. The virus assembly takes place in golgi complex from where the virus particles transported through vesicle to the cell surface and bud outside the cell. Viral RNA translation and polyprotein processing takes place in close proximity, which is shown here in separate steps just for the sake of simplicity [This figure was modified from reference 30].

The capsid protein form nucleo-capsid with viral RNA, and further interact with envelope glycoproteins E1 and E2, which is followed by budding of viral particles through ER or other intracellular membranes acquiring envelope membrane. The mature infectious virus particles are released from the host cell through the golgi complex via a secretory pathway [82, 83] (Fig 1.3).

1.8 Progression of HCV Infection

Hepatitis C virus causes acute infections in liver, which can progress to persistent chronic infection.

1.8.1 Acute Infection

Clinical manifestation of acute HCV infection varies widely from mild or asymptomatic infection requiring no treatment to fulminant hepatic failure needing liver transplantation. Only 20% to 30% of patients show jaundice, and 10% to 20% may show non-specific symptoms including anorexia, malaise and abdominal pain [84]. Altogether, the illness generally lasts for 3 to 12 weeks. Serum alanine amino transferase (ALT) is released in bloodstream when liver is diseased or damaged, and can increase up to 10 fold in serum before the clinical symptoms appears. In patients with self-limited hepatitis, serum ALT levels return to normal and HCV RNA becomes undetectable; levels of anti HCV antibodies also decrease progressively and will finally disappear. The concentrations of HCV RNA are low during the acute symptomatic phase.

1.8.2 Chronic Infection

Approximately 80% of newly infected patients progress to develop chronic infection. Such virus infection has potential to cause liver damage and over time, more liver cells are damaged and destroyed, and replaced with scar tissue. This process is called fibrosis. Severe fibrosis can cause the liver to become scarred, and prevents it from working normally. This is called cirrhosis of the liver. In several cases, serious damage to the liver can lead to liver failure and hepato-cellular carcinoma (HCC). Symptoms are commonly absent, minimal, intermittent or non-specific. Fatigue is commonly reported. Only patients in a more severe or advanced disease stage will suffer from abdominal pain, anorexia, pruritus, weight loss and malaise. Cirrhosis develops in about 20% to 30% of people with chronic infection, and which is followed by HCC in further 20-30% of the patients with cirrhosis. In chronic HCV infections 65-70% of patients show constantly elevated or fluctuating serum ALT level and remaining 30% have normal ALT level despite persistence of viremia [84] (Figs 1.1 and 1.6).

1.9 Immune Responses against HCV

The first defense against any viral infection is the innate immune response. Anatomic barriers, the skin and mucous membranes have to be penetrated to allow the infectious agent to reach the blood flow and subsequently target liver cells. In the liver the innate immune responses are represented by rapid IFN response present in by the infected hepatocytes, natural killer (NK) cells, natural killer T (NKT) cells, and Kupffer cells (liver macrophages). The innate immune responses are followed by the activation of adaptive immune responses.

1.9.1 Innate Immune Responses

Viral infection in target cells initiates a series of intracellular events that establish an antiviral state in infected and neighboring cells [85, 86]. This response depends upon induction of the type I interferons (IFN– α and β), which is triggered by binding of pathogen associated molecular patterns or PAMPs on viral components with the PAMPs receptors expressed on the host cells. HCV RNA and their unique structures such as internal ribosome entry site (IRES), poly-U/UC sequences, 5'–triphosphate of the uncapped RNA act as PAMPs and could be recognized by host intracellular receptors such as TLR–3, protein kinase receptor (PKR) and retinoic acid inducible gene–1 (RIG–I) and melanoma differentiation associated gene 5 (MDA5)

[86-89]. After viral PAMPs' engagement with PKR, RIG-I or TLR-3, the signal is transmitted to downstream signaling molecules [87], which activates various transcription factors such as interferon regulatory factors (IRF-3/7/9) and nuclear factor kappa B (NK-kB), and results in the production and secretion of type I IFNs (IFN- α and IFN- β) and type III IFNs (IL29, IL28A, and from the infected cells. Activation of NF-kB also induces the expression of pro-IL28B) inflammatory cytokines and chemokines that function to amplify the inflammatory response and facilitate leukocyte recruitment. Secreted IFN- α/β binds to IFN receptors in autocrine and/ or paracrine signaling and activates the JAK/STAT pathway which leads to induction of IFN stimulated genes or ISGs. Intracellularly, IFN activates the Mx protein, the 2'5'-oligoadenylate synthase-induced RNA L that degrades the viral RNAs, and the dsRNA dependent protein kinase (PKR) that inhibits the synthesis of cellular and viral proteins. Type I IFN also stimulates the effector functions of NK cells and CD8⁺ T cells and triggers the virus specific adaptive response by the up regulation of MHC expression on target cells. Type I IFNs also activates various innate immune cells such as NK cells, NKT cells, Kupffer cells (liver macrophages) and dendritic cells [90], which also can produce type I and III IFNs during HCV infection [91]. Various HCV proteins interfere with the signaling pathways of innate immunity and modulate the subsequent events. The NS3-4A serine protease has been reported to block HCV-induced activation of IRF3 and RIG-I, while core and NS5A inhibit IFN α/β signaling [92-94]. The E2 and NS5A protein of HCV block PKR pathway, which regulates cell proliferation and viability and also has antiviral effect [95-97] (Fig 1.4).



Fig 1.4: Innate immune signaling in HCV infection. Infected cells sense viral RNA through various TLR and produce Type I IFN and pro-inflammatory cytokines, which in turn activate the expression of various ISG in infected and surrounding cells. HCV Core and NS5A inhibit IFN signaling by blocking JAK-STAT pathway. The E2 and NS5A inhibit PKR pathway, which leads to repression of protein synthesis. The NS3/4A inhibits phosphorylation of IRF-3, which leads to blocking of IFN- α and β expression [This figure was modified from reference 98].

Natural Killer (NK) Cells

NK cells recognize and kill virus infected cells. They can be activated by type 1 IFN produced early in infection and by interleukin (IL)–12, produced by the macrophages and dendritic cells. These factors in turn recruit more NK cells and leucocytes in liver. NK cells are significantly higher in number in the liver (30–50% of the lymphocytes) than the peripheral blood or any other organ; therefore these cells also might be of interest in defense against HCV [99]. They produce various cytokines such as GM–CSF, IFN– γ , IL–10, IL–13, TNF– α and TGF– β , which can modulate various DC functions and adaptive immune responses [100]. NK cells themselves are regulated by the expression of various activation and inhibitory receptors.

During acute HCV infection, NK cells have been shown to increase cytotoxic activity, IFN– γ and TNF– α production and up-regulation of activation marker NKG2D. These cytokines (IFN– γ and TNF– α) further activate DCs, and favor Th1 adaptive immune responses [101, 102]. However, during chronic infection NK cells show reduced frequency, cytotoxicity and IFN– γ production; and increased expression of inhibitory receptor NKG2A, cytokines IL–10 and TGF– β [103-110], which results into reduced activation of DCs. Together, these factors favor Th2 biased immune responses. Various HCV proteins interfere with the NK cell functions. HCV E2 protein can directly bind CD81 and inhibit NK cell mediated cytotoxicity [111, 112]. Core protein of HCV can up-regulate TAP1 in p53-dependent pathway, which results in increased MHC class I expression on infected hepatocytes, making them resistant to NK cell killing [113] (Fig 1.5).

Natural Killer T (NKT) Cells

Natural killer T (NKT) cells have both NK and T cell markers and possess both regulatory and effector functions [114]. Upon stimulation they produce immune-stimulatory cytokines such as IL-4, IFN- γ , TNF- α and may activate both dendritic cells and NK cells. They constitute about 50% of the hepatic lymphocytes in humans [115].

Further, NKT cells are found in decreased frequency in the liver of chronic HCV infected patients [106, 116, 117]. In contrast, sustained response to IFN– α /ribavirin combination therapy results in increased frequency of NKT cells [117]. However, NKT cells also have been correlated with liver damage and fibrosis [118] (Fig 1.5).

Dendritic Cells

Dendritic cells can uptake antigens and present them to T cells after processing. DCs can be activated by antigen uptake or by inflammatory cytokines produced by infected cells, NK and NKT cells. Upon stimulation, they also produce various inflammatory cytokines and IFNs, which recruits other immune cells to the infection sites. Natural killer cells producing TNF- α and IFN- γ help in activation of DCs, which in turn produce IL–12, IL–15, and IL–18 and activate more NK cells. Further, DCs has two subsets: myeloid and plasmacytoid (mDCs and pDCs), which play a crucial role in initial stage of infection and can prime T cells and B cells at the infection site or at distant secondary lymphoid organs. The mDCs secrete IL–10 and IL–12 and express TLR–3 and TLR–8, whereas pDCs are major producers of IFN– α and are specifically equipped to sense viral nucleic acids by TLR–7 and TLR–9 [119].

During chronic HCV infection, mDCs produce low levels of IFN– α , IL–12 and high levels of IL–10, thus creating an immunosuppressive environment which results in impaired T-cell stimulation [120-123]. Further, they also express several inhibitory markers such as PD1–L and induce T_{regs} [124, 125]. Interestingly, pDCs also produce less IFN- α and show reduced frequency in chronic HCV infection. In transgenic mice expressing HCV core and NS3/4A proteins, the pDCs were found in reduced frequencies and having modulated function [126]. Further, the core and NS3 proteins of HCV have been linked to reduction of IL-29 production by DCs in HCV infected patients [127]. Several *in vitro* studies have been done on behavior of DCs in relation to induction of adaptive immune response when an HCV antigen is endogenously expressed. In one study, DCs were found to induce primary responses against the HCV antigens when these antigens were endogenously expressed [128]; moreover, DCs from HCV naïve individuals endogenously expressing HCV antigens NS4, NS5A/NS5B were able to prime both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells [129]. Expression of Core or NS3 HCV antigen in DCs leads to secretion of proinflammatory cytokines [130]. Recently, it has been shown that DCs expressing HCV core and NS3 antigens were able to prime T cells in vitro, which becomes effector cells upon activation by TLR ligands and IFN-α and granzyme B [131]. However, HCV genomic RNA has been detected in circulating DCs of HCV patients [132], and was associated with impaired expression of IL-12 and TNF- α [133]. Certainly, DCs are at the forefront in the priming of HCV specific immune responses and play a crucial role in both stimulatory as well as suppressive immune responses and outcome of the infection. During HCV infection, the higher expression of inhibitory markers, suppressive cytokines and poor T cell stimulation capabilities of DCs, collectively may result in exhausted HCV specific T cell responses (Fig 1.5).

Macrophage (Kupffer Cells)

In liver, macrophages are referred to as Kupffer cells, which can phagocytose the pathogen, toxins, and infected dead cells. They act as professional antigen-presenting cells. Kupffer cells express various TLRs, which can sense viral components and secrete various inflammatory cytokines such as TNF– α .



Fig 1.5: Innate immune cells in HCV infection. In acute viral infections, natural killer (NK) cells secrete large amount of IFN- γ and TNF- α , which help in the activation of dendritic cells (DCs). The DCs upon maturation up-regulate various co-stimulatory markers; produce inflammatory cytokines, which activate more NK cells. The TNF- α and IFN- γ produced by NK cells also activate macrophages. Both NK cells and macrophages with such cytokine profiles favors induction of Th1 type immune responses. During chronic HCV infection, these innate immune cells show modulated functions and express inhibitory cytokines and receptors. The DCs show impaired maturation, and become dysfunctional. This kind of innate immune cells producing IL-10 and TGF- β favors Th2 type T cell responses. Various HCV proteins, core, NS3 and NS3-4A induce expression of IL-10 and TGF- β and also expression of various inhibitory receptors on macrophages [This figure was modified from reference 134].
Kupffer cells express a variety of activation markers (CD40, CD80 and MH class-II molecules), inhibitory markers (PD–1 and TIM–3) and inhibitory molecules (galactin-9). Galactin-9 can induce the expansion of T_{regs} and contraction of CD4+ T cells while TIM–3 and PD–1 may impair IL-12 secretion and T cell responses [135, 136]. Transfection of NS3, NS3/4, NS5B or NS5A into mouse macrophages resulted in inhibition of IL–6 induction by various TLR ligands [137]. However, the monocytes and/macrophages from chronic HCV patients secrete pro-inflammatory cytokine upon stimulation with TLR–4 or TLR–2 agonists [138, 139] (Fig 1.5).

1.9.2 Adaptive Immune Response

Activation of innate signaling pathways and cells of innate immune system set the stage for adaptive immune responses. Various antigen-presenting cells such as DCs and macrophages and inflammatory cytokines and chemokines secreted from these innate immune cells recruit and activate both components of adaptive immunity i.e. humoral and cellular.

1.9.2.1 Humoral Immune Response

Humoral immune responses are represented by B cells and antibodies produced by them. Antibodies play a pivotal role in defending the host against pathogens within the extracellular space, with effector mechanisms for viral clearance including neutralization, complement activation, opsonization and antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) [140]. Virus neutralization results in the loss of infectivity due to the virus' inability to attach to the cell surface receptors. Further, Fc chain of antibodies bound to virus triggers complement pathway and opsonization, which subsequently taken up by APCs for antigen presentation to B and T cells. Binding of antibodies to the viral antigen expressed on infected cell surface may result in recognition by NK cells and lysis in ADCC pathway. In the majority of cases, antibodies against HCV are detectable after an average of 23 days (range 7–72), detectable plasma viremia after 39 days (range 23–72) of exposure [141]. These antibodies remain detectable throughout decades of chronic infection. In those who clear the virus, antibody levels gradually diminish in titer. Further, IgG2 responses against Core and NS3 antigens were seen more frequently in those who clear the HCV infection than those who developed chronic infection [142]. This IgG2 predominance has been linked to a Th1 bias in CD4⁺ T cell responses [143]. Antibody-mediated neutralization of infectivity has been demonstrated *in vitro* for homologous strains in chimpanzees [144]. In some studies, rapid development of high titer neutralization antibodies has been correlated with the viral clearance and those with delayed induction progress to chronic infection [145, 146]. Further, HCV can avoid neutralizing antibodies by several mechanisms such as: by associating with serum lipoproteins (LDL and VLDL) [147], shielding by glycosylation [148, 149], direct cell to cell transfer [150] and escape mutant using HVR1 and 2 in envelope glycoproteins [151, 152].

1.9.2.2 Cellular Immune Responses

Components of cellular immune responses includes $CD4^+$ T helper (Th) cells, $CD8^+$ cytotoxic T cells and regulatory T cells (T_{regs}), which requires antigen epitope presented by MHC class I (to CD8+ T cells) or MHC class II (to CD4+ T cells) molecules on infected host cells or professional antigen-presenting cells (APCs) (Fig 1.6).

CD4⁺ T Cells

Antigen-presenting cells (APCs) engulf the virus-infected, apoptotic, necrotic cells, cell debris or viral proteins and cleave viral exogenous antigen to 13–18 aa long peptides which can be presented by MHC class II molecule at the cell surface. These MHC class II presented antigens can be identified by CD4⁺ T cells expressing TCR and the CD4 molecule, which activates the T

helper cells. The CD4⁺ T cells perform several important functions including direct activation of macrophages, antigen specific B cells and production of cytokines that activate CD8⁺ T cells [153]. The T helper cells become differentiated into Th1 or Th2 type cells. The Th1 cells produce IL–2, IFN– γ and TNF– α which stimulate activation of CD8⁺ and NK cells; while Th2 cells produce IL–4, IL–5, IL–6, IL–13 and IL–10 cytokines which stimulate maturation of B cells [154, 155].

Multi-specific and functional CD4⁺ T cell responses are correlated with HCV clearance while weak and dysfunctional CD4⁺ T cell responses with the chronic HCV infections [156, 157]. The depletion of CD4⁺ T cells in chimpanzees that naturally cleared HCV infection have been shown to develop persistent infection upon re-challenge [158]. Further, activated CD25⁺ HCVspecific CD4⁺ T cells from patients with chronic HCV have been reported to have impaired capacity to produce IFN- γ and IL-2, and to proliferate *in vitro*; in comparison to cells from subjects who have cleared the infection [159, 160]. The viral clearance is generally associated with Th1 CD4⁺ T cell responses and viral persistence with Th2 CD4⁺ T cells response [143]. In the majority of chronic HCV cases, the loss of CD4⁺ T cell help result in failure of viral clearance by the CD8⁺ T cells [161, 162]. The cause of the apparent failure of CD4⁺ T cell responses in patients who develop chronic HCV is not well understood. Current theories include exhaustion or anergy, or possibly both. Exhaustion may result from the high rate of viral production exceeding the capacity of the immune response, resulting in T cells that are over stimulated and therefore cannot be activated further [163]. Anergy, or functional inactivation, may result from high and sustained antigen concentrations that tolerize the immune response [164] (Fig 1.6).



Fig 1.6: T cell immune responses in HCV infection. Both $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cells responses play a critical role in viral clearance and persistence. This figure displays the T cell immune status in patients who clear the virus and who develops chronic infection. The upper panels of the figure were modified from reference [Upper panels of the figure were modified from reference 165].

CD8⁺ T cells

A host cell with ongoing infection produces viral proteins that are processed to 8 or 9 aa long epitopes and presented on cell surface by MHC class 1 which can be recognized by $CD8^+T$ cells, expressing the T cell receptor (TCR) and CD8 molecule. This recognition of viral epitopes lead to maturation and activation of effector functions of $CD8^+T$ cells which include lysis of target infected cell (by perform or granzymes) and secretion of inflammatory cytokines (e.g. IFN- γ and TNF- α). The CD8⁺ T cells can also be primed by cross-presentation of viral antigens by

DCs. This occurs when DCs acquire exogenous antigens and present them to CD8⁺ T cells by the endogenous MHC class I pathway.

Similarly as with CD4⁺ T cells, strong multi-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses produced early in HCV infection are associated with viral clearance [166-170]. There are controversial reports on the maintenance of HCV-specific CD8⁺ T cell responses following clearance of HCV infection. In some studies, immune responses have been shown to variably persist for up to several decades after resolution [171, 172], while another study [173] showed that HCV-specific CD8⁺ T cells persist in chronically infected patients but not in patients with resolved infection, which also suggest that ongoing viremia is important in the maintenance of CD8⁺ T cell responses. Although, both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ memory T cells are maintained in the absence of HCV antigens in experimental animal models, but this may not occur in the human immune system [174, 175]. Using HLA Class I tetramers, it has been shown that HCV specific CD8⁺ T cells are detectable at higher frequencies in the liver than in peripheral blood, and in patients with acute resolving infection than in chronic infection [166, 170]. Acutely infected individuals that fail to achieve clearance have similar frequencies [170] but functional assays fail to comparably recognize this population of HCV-specific CD8⁺ T cells. This strongly suggests a functional impairment of these cells rather than deletion. Impaired production of IFN- γ and TNF- α has been demonstrated from HCV specific CD8⁺ T cells of patients with acute HCV, who develop chronic infection. This CD8⁺ T cell dysfunction was HCV specific, as influenza-specific CD8⁺ T cells from patients with chronic HCV readily secreted IFN-y. Further, the secretion of IL-10 and TGF- β has been associated with the T cell exhaustion. During chronic infections, CD8⁺ T cells mainly secret IL-10 and TGF-B [176, 177]. In multiple human and mouse studies, blocking of IL-10/IL-10 receptor and/ TGF-β by antibodies results in the restoration of functional activities of T cells and subsequent viral clearance [178-181]. Various inhibitory receptors/ ligands such as PD–1/PD– 1 ligand, CTLA–4, and TIM–3/galactin–9 are over-expressed by APCs and T cells, and also have been linked to the exhaustion of T cells [182-185] (**Fig 1.6**).

Treg Cells

Regulatory T cells (T_{reg} Cells) can suppress the induction and proliferation of effector T cells, and help in the maintenance of immune balance. There are mainly two types: natural or induced T_{regs} . Natural T_{regs} are CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cells which develop in the thymus whereas induced T_{regs} develop outside the thymus by acquiring CD25 marker. They become functional under the influence of high levels of IL–10 and TGF– β , and acquire Foxp–3. The T_{regs} functions by secreting immuno-suppressive cytokines such as IL–9, IL–10 and TGF– β ; and by directly inhibiting antigen specific effector T cells via apoptosis or co-inhibitory molecules.

Several studies have shown higher frequency and functional activity of HCV-specific T_{reg} in chronic patients with dysfunctional CD4⁺ T cells compared to individual who cleared the infection [186-189]. The HCV induced secretion of IL-10 and TGF- β , which are characteristic of T_{reg} , has been demonstrated to be prevalent in patients with chronic HCV [159]. Importantly, study of acute HCV infection in chimpanzees demonstrated that the frequency and suppressive activity of CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ T cells predicted establishment of chronic infection [190]. Higher frequency of T_{regs} in liver may be due to increased expression of chemokines such as CCL17 and CCL22, which attracts higher number of CD4⁺ T cells expressing CCR4 receptors. These chemokines could be up-regulated due to NS3/4A [191, 192] (Fig 1.6).

1.9.3 HCV-Specific Heterologous Immunity

The human population is exposed to a plethora of infectious agents and these exposures induce memory T cells and antibodies, which can cross-react with the homologous epitopes

containing antigens of other pathogens, and can modulate immune responses and subsequent outcome of the infection [193]. This type of cross-reactive humoral and cellular immunity is called as heterologous immunity. This occurs due to similarities in amino acid sequences in small stretches of antigen derived peptides and/or promiscuity of T cell receptors (TCR). The ability of a TCR to recognize and bind multiple peptide epitopes which differ in amino acid sequences is called T cell promiscuity [194]. This recognition further depends upon the affinity of MHC-class I or II with the peptide being presented. It has been established that only 2-4 amino acids in the peptide epitopes actively take part in interaction with the TCR, and further strength in peptide-TCR association is provided by co-stimulatory molecules and MHC class I or II molecules [194, 195]. Therefore, it is quite possible that a TCR will still recognize a peptide if its other amino acid(s) is replaced with other similar amino acid(s) [196]. Further, an MHC class I or II molecule can bind to and present a set of epitopes which differ in amino acid composition. Various studies show that CD4⁺ T cells are more promiscuous than CD8⁺ T cells in peptide epitope recognition [197]. Studies have shown that if amino acids on a peptide epitope can be substituted by amino acids with similar biochemical property, it will be still recognized by the same T cell clone [196]. Furthermore, some T cell clones could be intrinsically more cross-reactive than the other, which also depends upon the MHC-molecules phenotype it recognizes [198]. Therefore, some individuals may show higher heterologous immunity against certain antigens than others.

Heterologous immunity can modulate the breadth of T cell repertoire and resulting memory T cell pool and immuno-dominance of a specific antigen epitope, which can lead to enhanced or diminished immune response against a pathogen [199-202]. The cross-reactive T cell responses against evolutionary conserved regions among viruses can be seen more frequently, for example among different strains of Influenza viruses or dengue viruses, but are not restricted to

related or evolutionary closed virus groups. Influenza virus has been shown to generate HCVspecific cross-reactive CD8⁺ T cell responses [200, 203]. Many studies have predicted the change in the immuno-dominant epitopes against a specific virus in individuals which have a pre-existing repertoire of cross-reactive T cells [202].

1.9.4 Summary of HCV-Specific Immune Responses

Both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell responses are crucial for viral clearance as demonstrated by both chimpanzees and human studies. The chimpanzees who successfully resolve primary infection show increased levels of protection from persistent infection upon re-challenge and show decreased viremia and its duration [169]. Depletion of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells before HCV re-challenge in chimpanzees demonstrated that viremia was prolonged, and did not resolve until this subset of cells recovered in the liver, despite the presence of a primed memory CD4⁺ T cell response [158, 204]. Although caution is needed when extrapolating results from chimpanzee studies to humans given the high rate of natural clearance in these animals [205-208]. The induction of broad sustained and robust CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell immune responses in some acutely HCV infected individuals that results in viral clearance is the minority response rather than majority. The reason for this response is unclear. However the development of viral escape mutants resulting from the high replication rate and error prone RNA dependent RNA polymerase is thought to play a major role. Besides, HCV has adopted several ways to down regulate the host immune responses and establish persistence infection. Increasing evidence suggests that several host genetic factors such as certain HLA types and IFN $-\lambda 3$ (IL-28b) gene phenotypes in human may place some at higher risk and others at low risk of developing a chronic HCV infection [209-211]. Furthermore, pre-existing cross-reactive T cell repertoire against HCV antigens may also be playing a role in induction of stimulatory or inhibitory immune responses and subsequent viral clearance or persistence.

1.10 Vaccine Development

Despite so many advances in the field of HCV biology, we are still awaiting an effective vaccine against HCV infection. Currently available antiviral drugs have many problems such as side effects, cost and resistance; therefore, HCV vaccine is still a priority. However, vaccine development faced many challenges since the beginning including lack of clear immune-correlate in protection, unusual viral escape capabilities, unavailability of suitable cell culture and infection model. Now much clearer data is available about immune correlates in protection and natural immunity which have helped in the design of an effective vaccine. Broad and sustained virus-specific CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-cell responses have been correlated with protection against HCV infection [158, 204, 212]. Many studies have now detected neutralizing antibodies against homologous and heterologous strain of HCV [213-216]. Furthermore, rapid appearance of antibodies has been correlated with spontaneous clearance of HCV infection [145, 217, 218]. There are reports where individuals with chronic infection spontaneously cleared the virus upon reversal of poor exhausted immune responses to strong and effective humoral and cellular immune responses [217]. The individuals who spontaneously cleared the HCV infection show reduced levels and duration of viremia with clearance rate of 80% instead of 20% upon re-infection [219]. Together, these reports provide evidence of HCV specific immune memory and possibilities of therapeutic and prophylactic vaccines. There are several prophylactic and therapeutic vaccines, which are currently being tested in human clinical trials and aim to induce broad neutralizing antibodies and/or strong multi-specific and durable T cell immune responses (Summarized in Table 1.2).

Phase I Clinical Trial	Phase II Clinical Trial					
Prophylactic vaccines (Clinical trial ID, Sponsor)						
 Recombinant glycoprotein E1/E2/ adjuvant MF59 (<i>NCT00500747, NIAID</i>) Ad6NSmut; AdCh3NSmut: target NS3, 4, 5 (<i>NCT01070407, Okairos</i>) 	 Ad3NSmut; MVA-NSmut: target NS3, 4, 5 (<i>NCT01436357, NIAID</i>) 					
Therapeutic vaccines (Clinical trial ID, Sponsor)						
 Adch3NSmut /MVA-NSmut and AdCh3Nmut /MVA-NS2,3,5 (<i>NCT01094873</i> & <i>NTC01296451</i>, <i>Okairos</i>) Virosome formulated CD4/CD8 synthetic peptide and poly-L-arginine (<i>NCT00445419</i>, <i>Pevion Biotech</i>) GI5005 inactivated Saccharomyces cerevisiae encoding NS3-core (<i>NCT00124215</i>, <i>GlobeImmune</i>) 	 TG4040+peg IFN+ Ribavirin MVA encoding NS3, 4, 5b (<i>NCT01055821, Transgene</i>) DNA plasmid expressing HCV NS3/4a (<i>NCT01335711, Chron Tech Pharma AB</i>) IC41 peptide vaccine (core NS3, 4) (<i>NCT00602784, Intercell AG</i>) GI5005+peg IFN+ribavirin (<i>NCT00606086, GlobeImmune</i>) 					

Table 1.2: Prophylactic and therapeutic vaccines in human clinical trials [Reference 220]

1.10.1 Prophylactic Vaccines

A glycoprotein E1/E2 based vaccine adjuvanted with MF59 has been tested in phase I clinical trial and proven safe as well as demonstrated induction of humoral and CD4⁺ T cells responses [221]. This vaccine has shown promising results in chimpanzees [220]. It was able to reduce the rate of chronic infection and in some complete protection against homologous viral challenge. Further, it has shown induction of cross-genotype neutralizing activity [216, 222, 223]. Another vaccine approach use a prime

boost strategy using replication-deficient chimpanzee adenoviral vectors and vaccinia Ankara containing HCV NS3, 4 and 5 antigens. This vaccine approach has shown suppression of acute hepatitis upon heterologous challenge with genotype 1a in chimpanzees [224, 225]. The efficacy of this vaccine is being tested in a clinical trial with intravenous drug users in the United States. (Table 1.2)

1.10.2 Therapeutic Vaccines

Recombinant HCV core-based vaccine adjuvanted with ISCOMATRIX (IMX, saponin based adjuvant) has shown favorable results in healthy volunteers and modest reduction in viremia in chronic HCV patients during phase I clinical trial [220, 226]. Another approach uses modified vaccinia Ankara vector containing HCV NS3, NS4a, NS5 genes to enhance cellular immune responses against these antigens. In a human clinical trial, this vaccine has shown improvement in T cell responses and reduction in viremia [227]. In a phase II trial, pretreatment of chronic HCV patients with this vaccine followed by INF- α and ribavirin treatment, significantly improved the cure rate [228]. A replication defective chimpanzee adenovirus 3 and modified vaccinia Ankara containing HCV NS3, NS4 and NS5 has been tested in phase I clinical trial (**Table 1.2**). A DNA plasmid based vaccine is also being tested in phase II clinical trial (**Table 1.2**). It contains NS3 and NS4a antigens of HCV. Other therapeutic vaccine approaches which are currently in phase I clinical trials include virosome formulated peptide based vaccines and inactivated bacterial vaccine expressing HCV NS3-core fusion proteins [220] (**Table 1.2**).

1.11 Treatment of HCV Infection

Historically, there was limited success in the treatment of HCV chronic infection due to lack of effective antiviral drugs. Until 2011, pegylated-IFN– α and ribavirin combination therapy was the only treatment option, which provided cure only in 34–54% with genotype 1, 80–82% with genotype 2/3 and 33–50% with genotype 4/5/6 [229]. Overall cure rate with standard IFN

and ribavirin combined therapy was only about 47–54%. In 2011, two directly acting antiviral drugs (DAAs), boceprevir and telaprevir were approved, which target viral NS3 protease. In combination with standard therapy, boceprevir and telaprevir improved the cure rate of genotype 1 up to 75 and 68 % respectively [230-233]. In 2013, two more DAAs were approved which were highly effective even without interferon: Simeprevir (NS3-4A protease inhibitor) and Sofosbuvir (nucleotide analogue, NS5B RNA polymerase inhibitor). Sofosbuvir with interferon and ribavirin for 12 week showed 89% cure rate in chronic HCV patients infected with genotypes 1, 4, 5, or 6 [234, 235]. Simeprevir with interferon and ribavirin, after 12-week of treatment have cured up to 71-80 % of genotype 1a and 82–90% in chronic HCV patients infected with 1b [236, 237]. Apart from these, several other DAAs targeting NS3/4A protease and NS5B RNA dependent-RNA polymerase and NS5A are under clinical trial (Table 1.3). Several host factors such as cyclophillin and microRNA-122 which play a critical role in HCV replication, are now being targeted for drug development [172]. Further, as interferon therapy has serious side-effects and show no response in some chronic patients, studies have evaluated the efficacy of these new age DAAs without interferon. Sofosbuvir with ribavirin for 12 weeks has shown cure rates up to 86-97% in genotype 2 chronic patients [235, 238, 239], while in 24 week treatment it shows up to 87–94% cure rate in genotype 3 chronic patients. Further, sofosbuvir and simeprevir +/- RBV for 12 weeks showed >90% cure rate in genotype 1 chronic patients [240]. These new emerging drugs are very promising in terms of cure rate and their effectiveness against broad range of HCV genotypes, and in reducing the time duration of treatment. Various antiviral drugs that are currently under development and licensed, are summarized in Table 1.3 [230, 233, 235, 236, 238-245].

Drug regimen	DAA class	Genotype selectivity	Duration in weeks	Cure rate in % (SVR)	Study & References		
Interferon/ Ribavirin (RBV) containing							
Boceprevir *	NS3–4A	1	24	69-75	[231]		
Telaprevir *	NS3–4A	1	24	68	[232]		
Sofosbuvir **	NS5b	1, 4, 5 & 6	12	≥89	NEUTRINO [235]		
Simeprevir **	NS3–4A	1a	24	71-80	QUEST 1 [237]		
		1b	24	82–90	QUEST 2 [236]		
Faldaprevir	NS3–4A	1a	24	64	STARTVerso1 [246]		
		1b	24	82	STARTVerso2 [246]		
Interferon-free							
Sofosbuvir + RBV	NS5b	2	12	86–97	FISSION/ FUSION [244] [238]		
		3	24	87–94	VALENCE [239]		
Sofosbuvir & simeprevir +/- RBV	NS5b/ NS3-4A	1	12	≥90	COSMOS [240]		
Sofosbuvir & daclatasvir +/– RBV	NS5b/ NS5A	1, 2, 3	12 or 24	89–98	[241]		
Asunaprevir & daclatasvir	NS3–4A/ NS5A	1b	24	80.50	[245]		
Sofosbuvir & ledipasvir +/– RBV	NS5b/ NS5A	1	12	≥95	LONESTAR [243]		
ABT450/ABT267, ABT333 +/- RBV	NS3– 4A/NS5A/NS5b	1	8–24	88–96	[242]		

Table 1.3: Currently approved and future antiviral drugs for HCV chronic infection

*Approved for use by FDA in 2011 (withdrawn from the market due to drug-related side effects),

****** Approved for use by FDA in 2014

1.12 Animal models

1.12.1 Chimpanzees

Chimpanzees so far are the best animal model for HCV studies. HCV can infect and replicate in chimpanzees very efficiently, and imitates the infection in humans. They have helped in the studies of HCV transmission, replication and immune responses, antiviral drugs and vaccine development, immensely. However, HCV causes milder liver disease in chimpanzees, which resolve the infection naturally with higher rate, and do not progress to cirrhosis and fibrosis. Further, due to maintenance cost, availability, limited chimpanzee specific reagents, use of chimpanzees in HCV studies is limited. Moreover, many countries have banned the use of chimpanzees in research [247].

1.12.2 Tree Shrew

Tree shrew (*Tupaia* sp.) allows HCV replication, and can be used for the study of HCV replication, pathogenesis and immune responses. However, this animal shows a very low level of viremia and persistent infection could not be established without severe immune-suppression [248]. Moreover, lack of immune-pathological data and research reagents, also restricts the use of tree shrews as model for HCV studies.

1.12.3 Mouse Model

Several strategies have been used to allow HCV infection and replication in mouse. In one, humanized mice were developed by engraftment of hepatocyte progenitors and human CD34⁺ human hematopoietic stem cells. These mice allowed human hepatocytes and T cells to establish themselves, and they can be infected as well as showed human T cell specific immune responses against HCV antigens. However, these mice did not show viremia in serum and also they lack B-cell immune responses [249]. In another strategy, immuno-deficient (SCID) urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA) transgenic mouse model was developed which show over expression of uPA which causes hepatocyte death with hemorrhagic events due to defects in coagulation system but liver show a continuous regeneration. Such mice have been used to transplant up to 50% of human hepatocytes, followed by infection with HCV with a virus titer up to 10⁶ copy/ ml in blood [250, 251]. These mice have been used in direct antiviral drugs' (NS3–4A protease inhibitors, NS5B inhibitors) trials for efficacy, pharmacokinetics and side effects testing and the study of HCV specific innate immune responses [252-254]. However, these mice lack intact immune system and cannot be used for the study of immune responses and vaccine development.

Many transgenic mouse strains have been used to access the effect of individual or coexpression of HCV proteins. The use of transgenic mice can generate important information on HCV proteins and their function. In many of these transgenic mouse models, protein expression levels may be low or even absent, and in some cases may be even higher than in the native HCV infection. Further limitation in the use of transgenic mice includes their immune tolerance to the transgene HCV antigens.

Further, many studies attempt to generate transgenic mice which express HCV entry factors such as human CD81, occludin, SCARB–1, CLDN1. These mice have intact immune system and allow HCV entry and replication. However, due to intact immune system these mice showed only limited viral replication and infection [255, 256].

In several vaccine development and protection studies a vaccinia-HCV chimera has been used to challenge the mice. Vaccinia virus and HCV polyprotein chimera virus causes systemic infection in mouse, specifically in ovaries [257-260]. The mice infected with recombinant replicative vaccinia virus expressing HCV polyprotein have been used as a surrogate of HCV infection.

This is a valuable cost effective model to demonstrate the induction of protective immunity against HCV antigens, as the ability of the induced immunity to kill targets expressing HCV antigens is a critical parameter in antiviral response against HCV.

1.12.4 Rat Model

Rat model is an attractive infection model for the study of several viruses. To develop a rat infection model, fetal rats at 15–17 days of gestation age were injected with Huh7 human hepatoma cells intaperitoneally to induce tissue specific tolerization. Subsequently, Huh7 cells were transplanted successfully in new born rats. These rats were infected with HCV and showed biochemical evidence of hepatic inflammation and human albumin in serum and liver cells. Viral RNA levels peaked at 20x10³ copies / ml in serum by week 12 post infection [261, 262]. This model has intact immune system and can be used for antiviral drugs. However, due to low number of transplanted human hepatocytes and relatively low viremia levels, this model still is not as good as chimpanzees.

1.13 Current Study and Hypothesis

Despite the reduction in the number of new infections, HCV still remains a global health threat and an economic burden. There is no HCV vaccine available so far and the available antiviral treatment options are highly costly, , prone to development of resistance and have several side effects. Efforts are being focused on the development of a protective vaccine. Strong humoral and cellular immune responses targeting both structural and non-structural proteins of HCV have been correlated with the protection. Multiple strategies are being employed to improve the quality of HCV vaccine-specific humoral and cellular immunity. One such approach use replication-deficient adenoviral vector which express HCV antigens. However, studies show that pre-existing immunity against these vectors has negative effect on transgene specific immune responses and both route and dose of immunization further impact these immune responses [263, 264]. Further, a number of pathogens have been shown to induce cross-reactive immunity against other un-related pathogens, which may impact the immuno-pathogenesis of the new pathogen.

In order to understand the role of immune responses against a specific HCV non-structural antigen (NS4) in protection, we immunized the mice with Ad vector expressing HCV NS4 and evaluated the induced immune responses and protection from chimeric-HCV challenge in C57BL/6 mice. We also studied the role of different route and dose of immunization in induction of transgene specific immunity. In these experiments, we surprisingly discovered HCV antigen specific immunity in mice immunized with empty Ad vector not expressing HCV antigens. Which lead us to investigate amino acid homology between several Ad proteins and HCV protein derived peptides, and the HCV specific cross-reactive immune responses induced by adenoviral proteins in both mice and humans. A chimeric vaccinia-HCV mouse challenge model has been very helpful in evaluation and characterization of HCV specific immune responses due to its cost effectiveness and ease of study. Our hypotheses in these studies are described below:

- I. Ad vector expressing HCV NS4 can induce strong protective immune responses *in vivo*, which can be further enhanced by using optimized dose and route of immunization.
- II. Ad vector have some level of amino acid homology with HCV proteins, and therefore induce HCV antigen specific cross-reactive immune responses.
- III. HCV naïve human with pre-existing Ad immunity may have HCV cross-reactive antibodies and T cells which will secrete IFN-γ and/or IL-10 upon stimulation with HCV antigens.

These hypotheses will be explored in the following chapters of this thesis.

1.14 References

- 1. Feinstone SM, Kapikian AZ, Purcell RH, Alter HJ, Holland PV. Transfusion-associated hepatitis not due to viral hepatitis type A or B. *N Engl J Med* 1975, **292**:767-770.
- 2. Choo QL, Kuo G, Weiner AJ, Overby LR, Bradley DW, Houghton M. Isolation of a cDNA clone derived from a blood-borne non-A, non-B viral hepatitis genome. *Science* 1989,**244**:359-362.
- 3. Kuo G, Choo QL, Alter HJ, Gitnick GL, Redeker AG, Purcell RH, *et al.* An assay for circulating antibodies to a major etiologic virus of human non-A, non-B hepatitis. *Science* 1989,**244**:362-364.
- 4. Alter MJ. Transmission of hepatitis C virus--route, dose, and titer. *N Engl J Med* 1994,**330**:784-786.
- 5. Schreiber GB, Busch MP, Kleinman SH, Korelitz JJ. The risk of transfusion-transmitted viral infections. The Retrovirus Epidemiology Donor Study. *N Engl J Med* 1996,**334**:1685-1690.
- 6. Alter MJ. Epidemiology of hepatitis C. *Hepatology* 1997,**26**:62s-65s.
- 7. Alter MJ. Prevention of spread of hepatitis C. *Hepatology* 2002,**36**:S93-98.
- 8. Hauri AM, Armstrong GL, Hutin YJ. The global burden of disease attributable to contaminated injections given in health care settings. *Int J STD AIDS* 2004,**15**:7-16.
- 9. Mast EE, Hwang LY, Seto DS, Nolte FS, Nainan OV, Wurtzel H, *et al.* Risk factors for perinatal transmission of hepatitis C virus (HCV) and the natural history of HCV infection acquired in infancy. *J Infect Dis* 2005,**192**:1880-1889.
- 10. Berenguer M. Management of hepatitis C virus in the transplant patient. *Clin Liver Dis* 2007,**11**:355-376.
- 11. Mohd Hanafiah K, Groeger J, Flaxman AD, Wiersma ST. Global epidemiology of hepatitis C virus infection: new estimates of age-specific antibody to HCV seroprevalence. *Hepatology* 2013,**57**:1333-1342.
- 12. Davis GL, Alter MJ, El-Serag H, Poynard T, Jennings LW. Aging of hepatitis C virus (HCV)-infected persons in the United States: a multiple cohort model of HCV prevalence and disease progression. *Gastroenterology* 2010,**138**:513-521, 521.e511-516.
- 13. Gower E, Estes C, Blach S, Razavi-Shearer K, Razavi H. Global epidemiology and genotype distribution of the hepatitis C virus infection. *J Hepatol* 2014.

- 14. WHO. Global distribution of hepatitis A, B, and C, 2001. *WEEKLY EPIDEMIOLOGICAL RECORD* 2002,77:45-48.
- 15. Gower E, Estes C, Blach S, Razavi-Shearer K, Razavi H. Global epidemiology and genotype distribution of the hepatitis C virus infection. *J Hepatol* 2014,**61**:S45-57.
- 16. Yuasa T, Ishikawa G, Manabe S, Sekiguchi S, Takeuchi K, Miyamura T. The particle size of hepatitis C virus estimated by filtration through microporous regenerated cellulose fibre. *J Gen Virol* 1991,72 (Pt 8):2021-2024.
- 17. Grakoui A, McCourt DW, Wychowski C, Feinstone SM, Rice CM. Characterization of the hepatitis C virus-encoded serine proteinase: determination of proteinase-dependent polyprotein cleavage sites. *J Virol* 1993,**67**:2832-2843.
- 18. Hijikata M, Kato N, Ootsuyama Y, Nakagawa M, Ohkoshi S, Shimotohno K. Hypervariable regions in the putative glycoprotein of hepatitis C virus. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 1991,**175**:220-228.
- 19. Santolini E, Migliaccio G, La Monica N. Biosynthesis and biochemical properties of the hepatitis C virus core protein. *J Virol* 1994,**68**:3631-3641.
- 20. Large MK, Kittlesen DJ, Hahn YS. Suppression of host immune response by the core protein of hepatitis C virus: possible implications for hepatitis C virus persistence. J Immunol 1999,162:931-938.
- 21. Shih CM, Lo SJ, Miyamura T, Chen SY, Lee YH. Suppression of hepatitis B virus expression and replication by hepatitis C virus core protein in HuH-7 cells. *J Virol* 1993,**67**:5823-5832.
- 22. Ray RB, Steele R, Meyer K, Ray R. Transcriptional repression of p53 promoter by hepatitis C virus core protein. *J Biol Chem* 1997, **272**:10983-10986.
- 23. Srinivas RV, Ray RB, Meyer K, Ray R. Hepatitis C virus core protein inhibits human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication. *Virus Res* 1996,**45**:87-92.
- 24. Bartosch B, Dubuisson J, Cosset FL. Infectious hepatitis C virus pseudo-particles containing functional E1-E2 envelope protein complexes. *J Exp Med* 2003,**197**:633-642.
- 25. Nielsen SU, Bassendine MF, Burt AD, Bevitt DJ, Toms GL. Characterization of the genome and structural proteins of hepatitis C virus resolved from infected human liver. *J Gen Virol* 2004,**85**:1497-1507.
- 26. Deleersnyder V, Pillez A, Wychowski C, Blight K, Xu J, Hahn YS, *et al.* Formation of native hepatitis C virus glycoprotein complexes. *J Virol* 1997,**71**:697-704.

- 27. McKeating JA, Zhang LQ, Logvinoff C, Flint M, Zhang J, Yu J, *et al.* Diverse hepatitis C virus glycoproteins mediate viral infection in a CD81-dependent manner. *J Virol* 2004,**78**:8496-8505.
- 28. Flint M, McKeating JA. The role of the hepatitis C virus glycoproteins in infection. *Rev Med Virol* 2000,**10**:101-117.
- 29. Rosa D, Campagnoli S, Moretto C, Guenzi E, Cousens L, Chin M, *et al.* A quantitative test to estimate neutralizing antibodies to the hepatitis C virus: cytofluorimetric assessment of envelope glycoprotein 2 binding to target cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1996,**93**:1759-1763.
- 30. Moradpour D, Penin F, Rice CM. Replication of hepatitis C virus. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 2007,**5**:453-463.
- 31. Baril M, Brakier-Gingras L. Translation of the F protein of hepatitis C virus is initiated at a non-AUG codon in a +1 reading frame relative to the polyprotein. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2005,**33**:1474-1486.
- 32. Samrat SK, Li W, Singh S, Kumar R, Agrawal B. Alternate reading frame protein (F protein) of hepatitis C virus: paradoxical effects of activation and apoptosis on human dendritic cells lead to stimulation of T cells. *PLoS One* 2014,9:e86567.
- 33. Carrere-Kremer S, Montpellier-Pala C, Cocquerel L, Wychowski C, Penin F, Dubuisson J. Subcellular localization and topology of the p7 polypeptide of hepatitis C virus. *J Virol* 2002,**76**:3720-3730.
- 34. Gonzalez ME, Carrasco L. Viroporins. FEBS Lett 2003,552:28-34.
- 35. Sakai A, Claire MS, Faulk K, Govindarajan S, Emerson SU, Purcell RH, *et al.* The p7 polypeptide of hepatitis C virus is critical for infectivity and contains functionally important genotype-specific sequences. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2003,**100**:11646-11651.
- 36. Bartenschlager R, Lohmann V, Wilkinson T, Koch JO. Complex formation between the NS3 serine-type proteinase of the hepatitis C virus and NS4A and its importance for polyprotein maturation. *J Virol* 1995,**69**:7519-7528.
- 37. Lin C, Thomson JA, Rice CM. A central region in the hepatitis C virus NS4A protein allows formation of an active NS3-NS4A serine proteinase complex in vivo and in vitro. *J Virol* 1995,**69**:4373-4380.
- 38. Tanji Y, Hijikata M, Satoh S, Kaneko T, Shimotohno K. Hepatitis C virus-encoded nonstructural protein NS4A has versatile functions in viral protein processing. *J Virol* 1995, **69**:1575-1581.

- 39. Kim JL, Morgenstern KA, Lin C, Fox T, Dwyer MD, Landro JA, *et al.* Crystal structure of the hepatitis C virus NS3 protease domain complexed with a synthetic NS4A cofactor peptide. *Cell* 1996,**87**:343-355.
- 40. Love RA, Parge HE, Wickersham JA, Hostomsky Z, Habuka N, Moomaw EW, *et al.* The crystal structure of hepatitis C virus NS3 proteinase reveals a trypsin-like fold and a structural zinc binding site. *Cell* 1996,**87**:331-342.
- 41. Yan Y, Li Y, Munshi S, Sardana V, Cole JL, Sardana M, *et al.* Complex of NS3 protease and NS4A peptide of BK strain hepatitis C virus: a 2.2 A resolution structure in a hexagonal crystal form. *Protein Sci* 1998,7:837-847.
- 42. Pawlotsky JM, McHutchison JG. Hepatitis C. Development of new drugs and clinical trials: promises and pitfalls. Summary of an AASLD hepatitis single topic conference, Chicago, IL, February 27-March 1, 2003. *Hepatology* 2004,**39**:554-567.
- 43. Gwack Y, Kim DW, Han JH, Choe J. DNA helicase activity of the hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 3. *Eur J Biochem* 1997, **250**:47-54.
- 44. Tai CL, Chi WK, Chen DS, Hwang LH. The helicase activity associated with hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 3 (NS3). *J Virol* 1996,**70**:8477-8484.
- 45. Failla C, Tomei L, De Francesco R. Both NS3 and NS4A are required for proteolytic processing of hepatitis C virus nonstructural proteins. *J Virol* 1994,**68**:3753-3760.
- 46. Bartenschlager R, Ahlborn-Laake L, Mous J, Jacobsen H. Kinetic and structural analyses of hepatitis C virus polyprotein processing. *J Virol* 1994,**68**:5045-5055.
- 47. Elazar M, Liu P, Rice CM, Glenn JS. An N-terminal amphipathic helix in hepatitis C virus (HCV) NS4B mediates membrane association, correct localization of replication complex proteins, and HCV RNA replication. *J Virol* 2004,**78**:11393-11400.
- 48. Egger D, Wolk B, Gosert R, Bianchi L, Blum HE, Moradpour D, *et al.* Expression of hepatitis C virus proteins induces distinct membrane alterations including a candidate viral replication complex. *J Virol* 2002,**76**:5974-5984.
- 49. Einav S, Gerber D, Bryson PD, Sklan EH, Elazar M, Maerkl SJ, *et al.* Discovery of a hepatitis C target and its pharmacological inhibitors by microfluidic affinity analysis. *Nat Biotechnol* 2008,**26**:1019-1027.
- 50. Stone M, Jia S, Heo WD, Meyer T, Konan KV. Participation of rab5, an early endosome protein, in hepatitis C virus RNA replication machinery. *J Virol* 2007,**81**:4551-4563.
- 51. Gao L, Aizaki H, He JW, Lai MM. Interactions between viral nonstructural proteins and host protein hVAP-33 mediate the formation of hepatitis C virus RNA replication complex on lipid raft. *J Virol* 2004,**78**:3480-3488.

- 52. Huang Y, Staschke K, De Francesco R, Tan SL. Phosphorylation of hepatitis C virus NS5A nonstructural protein: a new paradigm for phosphorylation-dependent viral RNA replication? *Virology* 2007,**364**:1-9.
- 53. Bressanelli S, Tomei L, Rey FA, De Francesco R. Structural analysis of the hepatitis C virus RNA polymerase in complex with ribonucleotides. *J Virol* 2002,**76**:3482-3492.
- 54. Ago H, Adachi T, Yoshida A, Yamamoto M, Habuka N, Yatsunami K, *et al.* Crystal structure of the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase of hepatitis C virus. *Structure* 1999,7:1417-1426.
- 55. Lesburg CA, Cable MB, Ferrari E, Hong Z, Mannarino AF, Weber PC. Crystal structure of the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase from hepatitis C virus reveals a fully encircled active site. *Nat Struct Biol* 1999,**6**:937-943.
- 56. Hong Z, Cameron CE, Walker MP, Castro C, Yao N, Lau JY, *et al.* A novel mechanism to ensure terminal initiation by hepatitis C virus NS5B polymerase. *Virology* 2001,**285**:6-11.
- 57. Cai Z, Yi M, Zhang C, Luo G. Mutagenesis analysis of the rGTP-specific binding site of hepatitis C virus RNA-dependent RNA polymerase. *J Virol* 2005,**79**:11607-11617.
- 58. Qin W, Luo H, Nomura T, Hayashi N, Yamashita T, Murakami S. Oligomeric interaction of hepatitis C virus NS5B is critical for catalytic activity of RNA-dependent RNA polymerase. *J Biol Chem* 2002,**277**:2132-2137.
- 59. Wang QM, Hockman MA, Staschke K, Johnson RB, Case KA, Lu J, *et al.* Oligomerization and cooperative RNA synthesis activity of hepatitis C virus RNA-dependent RNA polymerase. *J Virol* 2002,**76**:3865-3872.
- 60. Shirota Y, Luo H, Qin W, Kaneko S, Yamashita T, Kobayashi K, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus (HCV) NS5A binds RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRP) NS5B and modulates RNA-dependent RNA polymerase activity. *J Biol Chem* 2002,**277**:11149-11155.
- 61. Shimakami T, Hijikata M, Luo H, Ma YY, Kaneko S, Shimotohno K, *et al.* Effect of interaction between hepatitis C virus NS5A and NS5B on hepatitis C virus RNA replication with the hepatitis C virus replicon. *J Virol* 2004,**78**:2738-2748.
- 62. Ogata N, Alter HJ, Miller RH, Purcell RH. Nucleotide sequence and mutation rate of the H strain of hepatitis C virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1991,**88**:3392-3396.
- 63. Kato N, Ootsuyama Y, Ohkoshi S, Nakazawa T, Sekiya H, Hijikata M, *et al.* Characterization of hypervariable regions in the putative envelope protein of hepatitis C virus. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 1992,**189**:119-127.
- 64. Weiner AJ, Brauer MJ, Rosenblatt J, Richman KH, Tung J, Crawford K, *et al.* Variable and hypervariable domains are found in the regions of HCV corresponding to the flavivirus

envelope and NS1 proteins and the pestivirus envelope glycoproteins. *Virology* 1991,**180**:842-848.

- 65. Smith DB, Simmonds P. Characteristics of nucleotide substitution in the hepatitis C virus genome: constraints on sequence change in coding regions at both ends of the genome. J Mol Evol 1997,45:238-246.
- 66. Farci P, Alter HJ, Govindarajan S, Wong DC, Engle R, Lesniewski RR, *et al.* Lack of protective immunity against reinfection with hepatitis C virus. *Science* 1992,**258**:135-140.
- 67. Hijikata M, Shimizu Y, Yoshikura H. [Hypervariable region specific formation of immune complexes in a plasma with quasispecies of hepatitis C virus]. *Nihon Rinsho* 1995,**53** Suppl:150-155.
- 68. Hijikata M. [Trends in molecular epidemiology of hepatitis B virus]. *Nihon Rinsho* 1995,**53** Suppl:40-46.
- 69. Kojima M, Osuga T, Tsuda F, Tanaka T, Okamoto H. Influence of antibodies to the hypervariable region of E2/NS1 glycoprotein on the selective replication of hepatitis C virus in chimpanzees. *Virology* 1994,**204**:665-672.
- 70. Okamoto H, Kojima M, Okada S, Yoshizawa H, Iizuka H, Tanaka T, *et al.* Genetic drift of hepatitis C virus during an 8.2-year infection in a chimpanzee: variability and stability. *Virology* 1992,**190**:894-899.
- Carpentier A, Conti F, Carriere M, Aoudjehane L, Miroux C, Morales O, *et al.* Analysis of gene transcription in sera during chronic hepatitis C infection. *J Med Virol* 2009,81:473-480.
- 72. Simmonds P, Bukh J, Combet C, Deleage G, Enomoto N, Feinstone S, *et al.* Consensus proposals for a unified system of nomenclature of hepatitis C virus genotypes. *Hepatology* 2005,**42**:962-973.
- 73. Wakita T, Pietschmann T, Kato T, Date T, Miyamoto M, Zhao Z, *et al.* Production of infectious hepatitis C virus in tissue culture from a cloned viral genome. *Nat Med* 2005,**11**:791-796.
- 74. Pileri P, Uematsu Y, Campagnoli S, Galli G, Falugi F, Petracca R, *et al.* Binding of hepatitis C virus to CD81. *Science* 1998, **282**:938-941.
- 75. Scarselli E, Ansuini H, Cerino R, Roccasecca RM, Acali S, Filocamo G, *et al.* The human scavenger receptor class B type I is a novel candidate receptor for the hepatitis C virus. *Embo j* 2002,**21**:5017-5025.
- 76. Bartosch B, Cosset FL. Cell entry of hepatitis C virus. *Virology* 2006,**348**:1-12.

- 77. Gardner JP, Durso RJ, Arrigale RR, Donovan GP, Maddon PJ, Dragic T, *et al.* L-SIGN (CD 209L) is a liver-specific capture receptor for hepatitis C virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2003,**100**:4498-4503.
- 78. Pohlmann S, Zhang J, Baribaud F, Chen Z, Leslie GJ, Lin G, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus glycoproteins interact with DC-SIGN and DC-SIGNR. *J Virol* 2003,77:4070-4080.
- 79. Evans MJ, von Hahn T, Tscherne DM, Syder AJ, Panis M, Wolk B, *et al.* Claudin-1 is a hepatitis C virus co-receptor required for a late step in entry. *Nature* 2007,**446**:801-805.
- 80. Miyanari Y, Atsuzawa K, Usuda N, Watashi K, Hishiki T, Zayas M, *et al.* The lipid droplet is an important organelle for hepatitis C virus production. *Nat Cell Biol* 2007,**9**:1089-1097.
- 81. Lindenbach BD, Evans MJ, Syder AJ, Wolk B, Tellinghuisen TL, Liu CC, *et al.* Complete replication of hepatitis C virus in cell culture. *Science* 2005,**309**:623-626.
- 82. Suzuki T, Aizaki H, Murakami K, Shoji I, Wakita T. Molecular biology of hepatitis C virus. *J Gastroenterol* 2007,**42**:411-423.
- 83. Blanchard E, Brand D, Trassard S, Goudeau A, Roingeard P. Hepatitis C virus-like particle morphogenesis. *J Virol* 2002,**76**:4073-4079.
- 84. Zoulim F, Chevallier M, Maynard M, Trepo C. Clinical consequences of hepatitis C virus infection. *Rev Med Virol* 2003,13:57-68.
- 85. Katze MG, He Y, Gale M, Jr. Viruses and interferon: a fight for supremacy. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2002,**2**:675-687.
- 86. Sen GC. Viruses and interferons. Annu Rev Microbiol 2001,55:255-281.
- 87. Horner SM, Gale M, Jr. Regulation of hepatic innate immunity by hepatitis C virus. *Nat Med* 2013,**19**:879-888.
- 88. Li Kea. Activation of chemokine and inflammatory cytokine response in HCV-infected hepatocytes depends on TLR3 sensing of HCV dsRNA intermediates. *Hepatology* 2011.
- 89. Wang N, Liang Y, Devaraj S, Wang J, Lemon SM, Li K. Toll-like receptor 3 mediates establishment of an antiviral state against hepatitis C virus in hepatoma cells. *J Virol* 2009,**83**:9824-9834.
- 90. Bode JG, Brenndorfer ED, Haussinger D. Hepatitis C virus (HCV) employs multiple strategies to subvert the host innate antiviral response. *Biol Chem* 2008,**389**:1283-1298.
- 91. Takagi H, Fukaya T, Eizumi K, Sato Y, Sato K, Shibazaki A, *et al.* Plasmacytoid dendritic cells are crucial for the initiation of inflammation and T cell immunity in vivo. *Immunity* 2011,**35**:958-971.

- 92. Foy E, Li K, Sumpter R, Jr., Loo YM, Johnson CL, Wang C, *et al.* Control of antiviral defenses through hepatitis C virus disruption of retinoic acid-inducible gene-I signaling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2005,**102**:2986-2991.
- 93. Li K, Foy E, Ferreon JC, Nakamura M, Ferreon AC, Ikeda M, *et al.* Immune evasion by hepatitis C virus NS3/4A protease-mediated cleavage of the Toll-like receptor 3 adaptor protein TRIF. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2005,**102**:2992-2997.
- 94. Meylan E, Curran J, Hofmann K, Moradpour D, Binder M, Bartenschlager R, *et al.* Cardif is an adaptor protein in the RIG-I antiviral pathway and is targeted by hepatitis C virus. *Nature* 2005,**437**:1167-1172.
- 95. Gale M, Jr., Kwieciszewski B, Dossett M, Nakao H, Katze MG. Antiapoptotic and oncogenic potentials of hepatitis C virus are linked to interferon resistance by viral repression of the PKR protein kinase. *J Virol* 1999,**73**:6506-6516.
- 96. Ghosh AK, Steele R, Meyer K, Ray R, Ray RB. Hepatitis C virus NS5A protein modulates cell cycle regulatory genes and promotes cell growth. *J Gen Virol* 1999,80 (Pt 5):1179-1183.
- 97. Kaufman RJ. Double-stranded RNA-activated protein kinase mediates virus-induced apoptosis: a new role for an old actor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1999,**96**:11693-11695.
- 98. Sklan EH, Charuworn P, Pang PS, Glenn JS. Mechanisms of HCV survival in the host. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2009,6:217-227.
- 99. Corado J, Toro F, Rivera H, Bianco NE, Deibis L, De Sanctis JB. Impairment of natural killer (NK) cytotoxic activity in hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection. *Clin Exp Immunol* 1997,**109**:451-457.
- 100. Andoniou CE, Andrews DM, Degli-Esposti MA. Natural killer cells in viral infection: more than just killers. *Immunol Rev* 2006,**214**:239-250.
- 101. Amadei B, Urbani S, Cazaly A, Fisicaro P, Zerbini A, Ahmed P, et al. Activation of natural killer cells during acute infection with hepatitis C virus. *Gastroenterology* 2010,138:1536-1545.
- 102. Pelletier S, Drouin C, Bedard N, Khakoo SI, Bruneau J, Shoukry NH. Increased degranulation of natural killer cells during acute HCV correlates with the magnitude of virus-specific T cell responses. *J Hepatol* 2010,**53**:805-816.
- 103. Meier UC, Owen RE, Taylor E, Worth A, Naoumov N, Willberg C, *et al.* Shared alterations in NK cell frequency, phenotype, and function in chronic human immunodeficiency virus and hepatitis C virus infections. *J Virol* 2005,**79**:12365-12374.

- 104. Morishima C, Paschal DM, Wang CC, Yoshihara CS, Wood BL, Yeo AE, et al. Decreased NK cell frequency in chronic hepatitis C does not affect ex vivo cytolytic killing. *Hepatology* 2006,43:573-580.
- 105. Nattermann J, Feldmann G, Ahlenstiel G, Langhans B, Sauerbruch T, Spengler U. Surface expression and cytolytic function of natural killer cell receptors is altered in chronic hepatitis C. *Gut* 2006,**55**:869-877.
- 106. Kawarabayashi N, Seki S, Hatsuse K, Ohkawa T, Koike Y, Aihara T, *et al.* Decrease of CD56(+)T cells and natural killer cells in cirrhotic livers with hepatitis C may be involved in their susceptibility to hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hepatology* 2000,**32**:962-969.
- 107. Ahlenstiel G, Titerence RH, Koh C, Edlich B, Feld JJ, Rotman Y, *et al.* Natural killer cells are polarized toward cytotoxicity in chronic hepatitis C in an interferon-alfa-dependent manner. *Gastroenterology* 2010,**138**:325-335.e321-322.
- 108. Oliviero B, Varchetta S, Paudice E, Michelone G, Zaramella M, Mavilio D, *et al.* Natural killer cell functional dichotomy in chronic hepatitis B and chronic hepatitis C virus infections. *Gastroenterology* 2009,**137**:1151-1160, 1160.e1151-1157.
- 109. De Maria A, Fogli M, Mazza S, Basso M, Picciotto A, Costa P, *et al.* Increased natural cytotoxicity receptor expression and relevant IL-10 production in NK cells from chronically infected viremic HCV patients. *Eur J Immunol* 2007,**37**:445-455.
- 110. Jinushi M, Takehara T, Tatsumi T, Kanto T, Miyagi T, Suzuki T, *et al.* Negative regulation of NK cell activities by inhibitory receptor CD94/NKG2A leads to altered NK cell-induced modulation of dendritic cell functions in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *J Immunol* 2004,**173**:6072-6081.
- 111. Crotta S, Stilla A, Wack A, D'Andrea A, Nuti S, D'Oro U, *et al.* Inhibition of natural killer cells through engagement of CD81 by the major hepatitis C virus envelope protein. *J Exp Med* 2002,**195**:35-41.
- 112. Tseng CT, Klimpel GR. Binding of the hepatitis C virus envelope protein E2 to CD81 inhibits natural killer cell functions. *J Exp Med* 2002,**195**:43-49.
- 113. Herzer K, Falk CS, Encke J, Eichhorst ST, Ulsenheimer A, Seliger B, *et al.* Upregulation of major histocompatibility complex class I on liver cells by hepatitis C virus core protein via p53 and TAP1 impairs natural killer cell cytotoxicity. *J Virol* 2003,77:8299-8309.
- 114. Taniguchi M, Harada M, Kojo S, Nakayama T, Wakao H. The regulatory role of Valpha14 NKT cells in innate and acquired immune response. *Annu Rev Immunol* 2003,**21**:483-513.
- 115. Norris S, Doherty DG, Collins C, McEntee G, Traynor O, Hegarty JE, *et al.* Natural T cells in the human liver: cytotoxic lymphocytes with dual T cell and natural killer cell phenotype

and function are phenotypically heterogenous and include Valpha24-JalphaQ and gammadelta T cell receptor bearing cells. *Hum Immunol* 1999,**60**:20-31.

- 116. Deignan T, Curry MP, Doherty DG, Golden-Mason L, Volkov Y, Norris S, et al. Decrease in hepatic CD56(+) T cells and V alpha 24(+) natural killer T cells in chronic hepatitis C viral infection. J Hepatol 2002,37:101-108.
- 117. Yamagiwa S, Matsuda Y, Ichida T, Honda Y, Takamura M, Sugahara S, *et al.* Sustained response to interferon-alpha plus ribavirin therapy for chronic hepatitis C is closely associated with increased dynamism of intrahepatic natural killer and natural killer T cells. *Hepatol Res* 2008,**38**:664-672.
- 118. de Lalla C, Galli G, Aldrighetti L, Romeo R, Mariani M, Monno A, *et al.* Production of profibrotic cytokines by invariant NKT cells characterizes cirrhosis progression in chronic viral hepatitis. *J Immunol* 2004,**173**:1417-1425.
- 119. Cao W, Liu YJ. Innate immune functions of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Curr Opin Immunol 2007,19:24-30.
- 120. Yonkers NL, Rodriguez B, Milkovich KA, Asaad R, Lederman MM, Heeger PS, *et al.* TLR ligand-dependent activation of naive CD4 T cells by plasmacytoid dendritic cells is impaired in hepatitis C virus infection. *Journal of Immunology* 2007,**178**:4436-4444.
- 121. Averill L, Lee WM, Karandikar NJ. Differential dysfunction in dendritic cell subsets during chronic HCV infection. *Clin Immunol* 2007,**123**:40-49.
- 122. Kanto T, Inoue M, Miyatake H, Sato A, Sakakibara M, Yakushijin T, *et al.* Reduced numbers and impaired ability of myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells to polarize T helper cells in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *J Infect Dis* 2004,**190**:1919-1926.
- 123. Murakami H, Akbar SM, Matsui H, Horiike N, Onji M. Decreased interferon-alpha production and impaired T helper 1 polarization by dendritic cells from patients with chronic hepatitis C. *Clin Exp Immunol* 2004,**137**:559-565.
- 124. Shen T, Chen X, Chen Y, Xu Q, Lu F, Liu S. Increased PD-L1 expression and PD-L1/CD86 ratio on dendritic cells were associated with impaired dendritic cells function in HCV infection. *J Med Virol* 2010,82:1152-1159.
- 125. Dolganiuc A, Paek E, Kodys K, Thomas J, Szabo G. Myeloid dendritic cells of patients with chronic HCV infection induce proliferation of regulatory T lymphocytes. *Gastroenterology* 2008,**135**:2119-2127.
- 126. Frelin L, Brenndorfer ED, Ahlen G, Weiland M, Hultgren C, Alheim M, *et al.* The hepatitis C virus and immune evasion: non-structural 3/4A transgenic mice are resistant to lethal tumour necrosis factor alpha mediated liver disease. *Gut* 2006,**55**:1475-1483.

- 127. Langhans B, Kupfer B, Braunschweiger I, Arndt S, Schulte W, Nischalke HD, *et al.* Interferon-lambda serum levels in hepatitis C. *J Hepatol* 2011,**54**:859-865.
- 128. Li W, Krishnadas DK, Li J, Tyrrell DL, Agrawal B. Induction of primary human T cell responses against hepatitis C virus-derived antigens NS3 or core by autologous dendritic cells expressing hepatitis C virus antigens: potential for vaccine and immunotherapy. *J Immunol* 2006,**176**:6065-6075.
- 129. Li W, Krishnadas DK, Kumar R, Tyrrell DL, Agrawal B. Priming and stimulation of hepatitis C virus-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells against HCV antigens NS4, NS5a or NS5b from HCV-naive individuals: implications for prophylactic vaccine. *Int Immunol* 2008,20:89-104.
- 130. Li W, Li J, Tyrrell DL, Agrawal B. Expression of hepatitis C virus-derived core or NS3 antigens in human dendritic cells leads to induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines and normal T-cell stimulation capabilities. *J Gen Virol* 2006,**87**:61-72.
- 131. Krishnadas DK, Li W, Kumar R, Tyrrell LJ, Agrawal B. In vitro activation and differentiation of naive CD4(+) and CD8(+) T cells into HCV Core- and NS3-specific armed effector cells: A new role for CD4(+) T cells. *Cellular Immunology* 2009,259:141-149.
- 132. Rodrigue-Gervais IG, Jouan L, Beaule G, Sauve D, Bruneau J, Willems B, *et al.* Poly(I:C) and lipopolysaccharide innate sensing functions of circulating human myeloid dendritic cells are affected in vivo in hepatitis C virus-infected patients. *J Virol* 2007,**81**:5537-5546.
- 133. Rodrigue-Gervais IG, Rigsby H, Jouan L, Sauve D, Sekaly RP, Willems B, *et al.* Dendritic cell inhibition is connected to exhaustion of CD8+ T cell polyfunctionality during chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *J Immunol* 2010,**184**:3134-3144.
- 134. Brenndorfer ED, Sallberg M. Hepatitis C virus-mediated modulation of cellular immunity. *Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz)* 2012,60:315-329.
- 135. Mengshol JA, Golden-Mason L, Arikawa T, Smith M, Niki T, McWilliams R, *et al.* A crucial role for Kupffer cell-derived galectin-9 in regulation of T cell immunity in hepatitis C infection. *PLoS One* 2010,**5**:e9504.
- 136. Zhang Y, Ma CJ, Ni L, Zhang CL, Wu XY, Kumaraguru U, *et al.* Cross-talk between programmed death-1 and suppressor of cytokine signaling-1 in inhibition of IL-12 production by monocytes/macrophages in hepatitis C virus infection. *J Immunol* 2011,**186**:3093-3103.
- 137. Abe T, Kaname Y, Hamamoto I, Tsuda Y, Wen X, Taguwa S, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 5A modulates the toll-like receptor-MyD88-dependent signaling pathway in macrophage cell lines. *J Virol* 2007,**81**:8953-8966.

- 138. Duesberg U, von dem Bussche A, Kirschning CJ, Miyake K, Sauerbruch T, Spengler U. Cell activation by synthetic lipopeptides of the hepatitis C virus (HCV) core protein is mediated by toll like receptors (TLRs) 2 and 4. *Immunology Letters* 2002,**84**:89-95.
- 139. Szabo G, Dolganiuc A. Subversion of plasmacytoid and myeloid dendritic cell functions in chronic HCV infection. *Immunobiology* 2005,**210**:237-247.
- 140. Parren PW, Burton DR. The antiviral activity of antibodies in vitro and in vivo. Adv Immunol 2001,77:195-262.
- 141. Peterson J, Green G, Iida K, Caldwell B, Kerrison P, Bernich S, *et al.* Detection of hepatitis C core antigen in the antibody negative 'window' phase of hepatitis C infection. *Vox Sang* 2000,**78**:80-85.
- 142. Zein NN, Li H, Persing DH. Humoral immunity in acute and chronic hepatitis C infection. *Gastroenterology* 1999,**117**:510.
- 143. Tsai SL, Liaw YF, Chen MH, Huang CY, Kuo GC. Detection of type 2-like T-helper cells in hepatitis C virus infection: implications for hepatitis C virus chronicity. *Hepatology* 1997,**25**:449-458.
- 144. Farci P, Alter HJ, Wong DC, Miller RH, Govindarajan S, Engle R, *et al.* Prevention of hepatitis C virus infection in chimpanzees after antibody-mediated in vitro neutralization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1994,**91**:7792-7796.
- 145. Pestka JM, Zeisel MB, Blaser E, Schurmann P, Bartosch B, Cosset FL, *et al.* Rapid induction of virus-neutralizing antibodies and viral clearance in a single-source outbreak of hepatitis C. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2007,**104**:6025-6030.
- 146. Lavillette D, Morice Y, Germanidis G, Donot P, Soulier A, Pagkalos E, *et al.* Human serum facilitates hepatitis C virus infection, and neutralizing responses inversely correlate with viral replication kinetics at the acute phase of hepatitis C virus infection. *J Virol* 2005,**79**:6023-6034.
- 147. Nielsen SU, Bassendine MF, Burt AD, Martin C, Pumeechockchai W, Toms GL. Association between hepatitis C virus and very-low-density lipoprotein (VLDL)/LDL analyzed in iodixanol density gradients. *J Virol* 2006,**80**:2418-2428.
- 148. Helle F, Goffard A, Morel V, Duverlie G, McKeating J, Keck ZY, *et al.* The neutralizing activity of anti-hepatitis C virus antibodies is modulated by specific glycans on the E2 envelope protein. *J Virol* 2007,**81**:8101-8111.
- 149. Falkowska E, Kajumo F, Garcia E, Reinus J, Dragic T. Hepatitis C virus envelope glycoprotein E2 glycans modulate entry, CD81 binding, and neutralization. *J Virol* 2007,**81**:8072-8079.

- 150. Timpe JM, Stamataki Z, Jennings A, Hu K, Farquhar MJ, Harris HJ, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus cell-cell transmission in hepatoma cells in the presence of neutralizing antibodies. *Hepatology* 2008,**47**:17-24.
- 151. Farci P, Shimoda A, Wong D, Cabezon T, De Gioannis D, Strazzera A, *et al.* Prevention of hepatitis C virus infection in chimpanzees by hyperimmune serum against the hypervariable region 1 of the envelope 2 protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1996,**93**:15394-15399.
- 152. Shimizu YK, Hijikata M, Iwamoto A, Alter HJ, Purcell RH, Yoshikura H. Neutralizing antibodies against hepatitis C virus and the emergence of neutralization escape mutant viruses. *J Virol* 1994,**68**:1494-1500.
- 153. Tonomura N, McLaughlin K, Grimm L, Goldsby RA, Osborne BA. Glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis of thymocytes: requirement of proteasome-dependent mitochondrial activity. *J Immunol* 2003,**170**:2469-2478.
- 154. Nakamura I, Imawari M. Cellular immune response in HCV infection. J Gastroenterol 2000,35:881-889.
- 155. Neumann-Haefelin C, Blum HE, Chisari FV, Thimme R. T cell response in hepatitis C virus infection. *J Clin Virol* 2005,**32**:75-85.
- 156. Schulze zur Wiesch J, Lauer GM, Day CL, Kim AY, Ouchi K, Duncan JE, *et al.* Broad repertoire of the CD4+ Th cell response in spontaneously controlled hepatitis C virus infection includes dominant and highly promiscuous epitopes. *J Immunol* 2005,175:3603-3613.
- 157. Rosen HR, Miner C, Sasaki AW, Lewinsohn DM, Conrad AJ, Bakke A, *et al.* Frequencies of HCV-specific effector CD4+ T cells by flow cytometry: correlation with clinical disease stages. *Hepatology* 2002,**35**:190-198.
- 158. Grakoui A, Shoukry NH, Woollard DJ, Han JH, Hanson HL, Ghrayeb J, *et al.* HCV persistence and immune evasion in the absence of memory T cell help. *Science* 2003,**302**:659-662.
- 159. Ulsenheimer A, Gerlach JT, Gruener NH, Jung MC, Schirren CA, Schraut W, *et al.* Detection of functionally altered hepatitis C virus-specific CD4 T cells in acute and chronic hepatitis C. *Hepatology* 2003,**37**:1189-1198.
- 160. Folgori A, Spada E, Pezzanera M, Ruggeri L, Mele A, Garbuglia AR, *et al.* Early impairment of hepatitis C virus specific T cell proliferation during acute infection leads to failure of viral clearance. *Gut* 2006,**55**:1012-1019.
- 161. Schulze Zur Wiesch J, Ciuffreda D, Lewis-Ximenez L, Kasprowicz V, Nolan BE, Streeck H, *et al.* Broadly directed virus-specific CD4+ T cell responses are primed during acute

hepatitis C infection, but rapidly disappear from human blood with viral persistence. *J Exp Med* 2012,**209**:61-75.

- 162. Gerlach JT, Diepolder HM, Jung MC, Gruener NH, Schraut WW, Zachoval R, *et al.* Recurrence of hepatitis C virus after loss of virus-specific CD4(+) T-cell response in acute hepatitis C. *Gastroenterology* 1999,**117**:933-941.
- 163. Fuller MJ, Hildeman DA, Sabbaj S, Gaddis DE, Tebo AE, Shang L, *et al.* Cutting edge: emergence of CD127high functionally competent memory T cells is compromised by high viral loads and inadequate T cell help. *J Immunol* 2005,**174**:5926-5930.
- 164. Brooks DG, Teyton L, Oldstone MB, McGavern DB. Intrinsic functional dysregulation of CD4 T cells occurs rapidly following persistent viral infection. J Virol 2005,79:10514-10527.
- 165. Bowen DG, Walker CM. Adaptive immune responses in acute and chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *Nature* 2005,**436**:946-952.
- 166. Lauer GM, Barnes E, Lucas M, Timm J, Ouchi K, Kim AY, *et al.* High resolution analysis of cellular immune responses in resolved and persistent hepatitis C virus infection. *Gastroenterology* 2004,**127**:924-936.
- 167. Gruner NH, Gerlach TJ, Jung MC, Diepolder HM, Schirren CA, Schraut WW, *et al.* Association of hepatitis C virus-specific CD8+ T cells with viral clearance in acute hepatitis C. *J Infect Dis* 2000,**181**:1528-1536.
- 168. Cucchiarini M, Kammer AR, Grabscheid B, Diepolder HM, Gerlach TJ, Gruner N, *et al.* Vigorous peripheral blood cytotoxic T cell response during the acute phase of hepatitis C virus infection. *Cell Immunol* 2000,**203**:111-123.
- 169. Cooper S, Erickson AL, Adams EJ, Kansopon J, Weiner AJ, Chien DY, *et al.* Analysis of a successful immune response against hepatitis C virus. *Immunity* 1999,**10**:439-449.
- 170. Lechner F, Wong DK, Dunbar PR, Chapman R, Chung RT, Dohrenwend P, *et al.* Analysis of successful immune responses in persons infected with hepatitis C virus. *J Exp Med* 2000,**191**:1499-1512.
- 171. Lechner F, Gruener NH, Urbani S, Uggeri J, Santantonio T, Kammer AR, *et al.* CD8+ T lymphocyte responses are induced during acute hepatitis C virus infection but are not sustained. *Eur J Immunol* 2000,**30**:2479-2487.
- 172. Thimme R, Bukh J, Spangenberg HC, Wieland S, Pemberton J, Steiger C, *et al.* Viral and immunological determinants of hepatitis C virus clearance, persistence, and disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2002,**99**:15661-15668.

- 173. Chang KM, Thimme R, Melpolder JJ, Oldach D, Pemberton J, Moorhead-Loudis J, *et al.* Differential CD4(+) and CD8(+) T-cell responsiveness in hepatitis C virus infection. *Hepatology* 2001,**33**:267-276.
- 174. Lau LL, Jamieson BD, Somasundaram T, Ahmed R. Cytotoxic T-cell memory without antigen. *Nature* 1994,**369**:648-652.
- 175. Veiga-Fernandes H, Walter U, Bourgeois C, McLean A, Rocha B. Response of naive and memory CD8+ T cells to antigen stimulation in vivo. *Nat Immunol* 2000,1:47-53.
- 176. Abel M, Sene D, Pol S, Bourliere M, Poynard T, Charlotte F, *et al.* Intrahepatic virusspecific IL-10-producing CD8 T cells prevent liver damage during chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *Hepatology* 2006,44:1607-1616.
- 177. Alatrakchi N, Graham CS, van der Vliet HJ, Sherman KE, Exley MA, Koziel MJ. Hepatitis C virus (HCV)-specific CD8+ cells produce transforming growth factor beta that can suppress HCV-specific T-cell responses. *J Virol* 2007,**81**:5882-5892.
- 178. Brooks DG, Trifilo MJ, Edelmann KH, Teyton L, McGavern DB, Oldstone MB. Interleukin-10 determines viral clearance or persistence in vivo. *Nat Med* 2006,**12**:1301-1309.
- 179. Ejrnaes M, Filippi CM, Martinic MM, Ling EM, Togher LM, Crotty S, *et al.* Resolution of a chronic viral infection after interleukin-10 receptor blockade. *J Exp Med* 2006,**203**:2461-2472.
- 180. Kaplan DE, Ikeda F, Li Y, Nakamoto N, Ganesan S, Valiga ME, *et al.* Peripheral virusspecific T-cell interleukin-10 responses develop early in acute hepatitis C infection and become dominant in chronic hepatitis. *J Hepatol* 2008,**48**:903-913.
- 181. Marie JC, Letterio JJ, Gavin M, Rudensky AY. TGF-beta1 maintains suppressor function and Foxp3 expression in CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J Exp Med* 2005, **201**:1061-1067.
- 182. Wedemeyer H, He XS, Nascimbeni M, Davis AR, Greenberg HB, Hoofnagle JH, *et al.* Impaired effector function of hepatitis C virus-specific CD8+ T cells in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *J Immunol* 2002,**169**:3447-3458.
- 183. Bengsch B, Seigel B, Ruhl M, Timm J, Kuntz M, Blum HE, et al. Coexpression of PD-1, 2B4, CD160 and KLRG1 on exhausted HCV-specific CD8+ T cells is linked to antigen recognition and T cell differentiation. PLoS Pathog 2010,6:e1000947.
- 184. Golden-Mason L, Palmer BE, Kassam N, Townshend-Bulson L, Livingston S, McMahon BJ, et al. Negative immune regulator Tim-3 is overexpressed on T cells in hepatitis C virus infection and its blockade rescues dysfunctional CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. J Virol 2009,83:9122-9130.

- 185. Nakamoto N, Cho H, Shaked A, Olthoff K, Valiga ME, Kaminski M, *et al.* Synergistic reversal of intrahepatic HCV-specific CD8 T cell exhaustion by combined PD-1/CTLA-4 blockade. *PLoS Pathog* 2009,**5**:e1000313.
- 186. Boettler T, Spangenberg HC, Neumann-Haefelin C, Panther E, Urbani S, Ferrari C, et al. T cells with a CD4+CD25+ regulatory phenotype suppress in vitro proliferation of virus-specific CD8+ T cells during chronic hepatitis C virus infection. J Virol 2005,79:7860-7867.
- 187. Cabrera R, Tu Z, Xu Y, Firpi RJ, Rosen HR, Liu C, *et al.* An immunomodulatory role for CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T lymphocytes in hepatitis C virus infection. *Hepatology* 2004,**40**:1062-1071.
- 188. Rushbrook SM, Ward SM, Unitt E, Vowler SL, Lucas M, Klenerman P, *et al.* Regulatory T cells suppress in vitro proliferation of virus-specific CD8+ T cells during persistent hepatitis C virus infection. *J Virol* 2005,**79**:7852-7859.
- 189. Li S, Floess S, Hamann A, Gaudieri S, Lucas A, Hellard M, *et al.* Analysis of FOXP3+ regulatory T cells that display apparent viral antigen specificity during chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *PLoS Pathog* 2009,**5**:e1000707.
- 190. Manigold T, Shin EC, Mizukoshi E, Mihalik K, Murthy KK, Rice CM, *et al.* Foxp3+CD4+CD25+ T cells control virus-specific memory T cells in chimpanzees that recovered from hepatitis C. *Blood* 2006,**107**:4424-4432.
- 191. Brenndorfer ED, Brass A, Soderholm J, Frelin L, Aleman S, Bode JG, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus non-structural 3/4A protein interferes with intrahepatic interferon-gamma production. *Gut* 2012,**61**:589-596.
- 192. Riezu-Boj JI, Larrea E, Aldabe R, Guembe L, Casares N, Galeano E, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus induces the expression of CCL17 and CCL22 chemokines that attract regulatory T cells to the site of infection. *J Hepatol* 2011,**54**:422-431.
- 193. Selin LK, Wlodarczyk MF, Kraft AR, Nie S, Kenney LL, Puzone R, *et al.* Heterologous immunity: immunopathology, autoimmunity and protection during viral infections. *Autoimmunity* 2011,44:328-347.
- 194. Venturi V, Rudd BD, Davenport MP. Specificity, promiscuity, and precursor frequency in immunoreceptors. *Curr Opin Immunol* 2013,**25**:639-645.
- 195. Ekeruche-Makinde J, Miles JJ, van den Berg HA, Skowera A, Cole DK, Dolton G, *et al.* Peptide length determines the outcome of TCR/peptide-MHCI engagement. *Blood* 2013,**121**:1112-1123.
- 196. Nakagawa Y, Kikuchi H, Takahashi H. Molecular analysis of TCR and peptide/MHC interaction using P18-I10-derived peptides with a single D-amino acid substitution. *Biophys* J 2007,92:2570-2582.

- 197. Wilson DB, Wilson DH, Schroder K, Pinilla C, Blondelle S, Houghten RA, *et al.* Specificity and degeneracy of T cells. *Mol Immunol* 2004,**40**:1047-1055.
- 198. Amrani A, Serra P, Yamanouchi J, Trudeau JD, Tan R, Elliott JF, *et al.* Expansion of the antigenic repertoire of a single T cell receptor upon T cell activation. *J Immunol* 2001,**167**:655-666.
- 199. Nie S, Lin SJ, Kim SK, Welsh RM, Selin LK. Pathological features of heterologous immunity are regulated by the private specificities of the immune repertoire. *Am J Pathol* 2010,**176**:2107-2112.
- 200. Kasprowicz V, Ward SM, Turner A, Grammatikos A, Nolan BE, Lewis-Ximenez L, *et al.* Defining the directionality and quality of influenza virus-specific CD8+ T cell cross-reactivity in individuals infected with hepatitis C virus. *J Clin Invest* 2008,**118**:1143-1153.
- 201. Chen HD, Fraire AE, Joris I, Welsh RM, Selin LK. Specific history of heterologous virus infections determines anti-viral immunity and immunopathology in the lung. *Am J Pathol* 2003,**163**:1341-1355.
- 202. Brehm MA, Pinto AK, Daniels KA, Schneck JP, Welsh RM, Selin LK. T cell immunodominance and maintenance of memory regulated by unexpectedly cross-reactive pathogens. *Nat Immunol* 2002,**3**:627-634.
- 203. Wedemeyer H, Mizukoshi E, Davis AR, Bennink JR, Rehermann B. Cross-reactivity between hepatitis C virus and Influenza A virus determinant-specific cytotoxic T cells. *J Virol* 2001,**75**:11392-11400.
- 204. Shoukry NH, Grakoui A, Houghton M, Chien DY, Ghrayeb J, Reimann KA, *et al.* Memory CD8+ T cells are required for protection from persistent hepatitis C virus infection. *J Exp Med* 2003,**197**:1645-1655.
- 205. Mehta SH, Cox A, Hoover DR, Wang XH, Mao Q, Ray S, *et al.* Protection against persistence of hepatitis C. *Lancet* 2002,**359**:1478-1483.
- 206. Bassett SE, Guerra B, Brasky K, Miskovsky E, Houghton M, Klimpel GR, *et al.* Protective immune response to hepatitis C virus in chimpanzees rechallenged following clearance of primary infection. *Hepatology* 2001,**33**:1479-1487.
- 207. Nascimbeni M, Mizukoshi E, Bosmann M, Major ME, Mihalik K, Rice CM, *et al.* Kinetics of CD4+ and CD8+ memory T-cell responses during hepatitis C virus rechallenge of previously recovered chimpanzees. *J Virol* 2003,**77**:4781-4793.
- 208. Major ME, Mihalik K, Puig M, Rehermann B, Nascimbeni M, Rice CM, *et al.* Previously infected and recovered chimpanzees exhibit rapid responses that control hepatitis C virus replication upon rechallenge. *Journal of Virology* 2002,**76**:6586-6595.

- 209. Rauch A, Gaudieri S, Thio C, Bochud PY. Host genetic determinants of spontaneous hepatitis C clearance. *Pharmacogenomics* 2009,**10**:1819-1837.
- 210. Neumann-Haefelin C, Thimme R. Impact of the genetic restriction of virus-specific T-cell responses in hepatitis C virus infection. *Genes Immun* 2007,**8**:181-192.
- 211. Bellanti F, Vendemiale G, Altomare E, Serviddio G. The impact of interferon lambda 3 gene polymorphism on natural course and treatment of hepatitis C. *Clin Dev Immunol* 2012,**2012**:849373.
- 212. Shoukry NH, Cawthon AG, Walker CM. Cell-mediated immunity and the outcome of hepatitis C virus infection. *Annu Rev Microbiol* 2004,**58**:391-424.
- 213. Wahid A, Dubuisson J. Virus-neutralizing antibodies to hepatitis C virus. *J Viral Hepat* 2013, **20**:369-376.
- 214. Stamataki Z, Coates S, Evans MJ, Wininger M, Crawford K, Dong C, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus envelope glycoprotein immunization of rodents elicits cross-reactive neutralizing antibodies. *Vaccine* 2007, **25**:7773-7784.
- 215. Lin Y, Kwon T, Polo J, Zhu YF, Coates S, Crawford K, et al. Induction of broad CD4+ and CD8+ T-cell responses and cross-neutralizing antibodies against hepatitis C virus by vaccination with Th1-adjuvanted polypeptides followed by defective alphaviral particles expressing envelope glycoproteins gpE1 and gpE2 and nonstructural proteins 3, 4, and 5. J Virol 2008,82:7492-7503.
- 216. Law JL, Chen C, Wong J, Hockman D, Santer DM, Frey SE, *et al.* A hepatitis C virus (HCV) vaccine comprising envelope glycoproteins gpE1/gpE2 derived from a single isolate elicits broad cross-genotype neutralizing antibodies in humans. *PLoS One* 2013,**8**:e59776.
- 217. Raghuraman S, Park H, Osburn WO, Winkelstein E, Edlin BR, Rehermann B. Spontaneous clearance of chronic hepatitis C virus infection is associated with appearance of neutralizing antibodies and reversal of T-cell exhaustion. *J Infect Dis* 2012,**205**:763-771.
- 218. Osburn WO, Snider AE, Wells BL, Latanich R, Bailey JR, Thomas DL, *et al.* Clearance of hepatitis C infection is associated with the early appearance of broad neutralizing antibody responses. *Hepatology* 2014,**59**:2140-2151.
- 219. Osburn WO, Fisher BE, Dowd KA, Urban G, Liu L, Ray SC, *et al.* Spontaneous control of primary hepatitis C virus infection and immunity against persistent reinfection. *Gastroenterology* 2010,**138**:315-324.
- 220. Houghton M. Prospects for prophylactic and therapeutic vaccines against the hepatitis C viruses. *Immunol Rev* 2011,239:99-108.

- 221. Frey SE, Houghton M, Coates S, Abrignani S, Chien D, Rosa D, *et al.* Safety and immunogenicity of HCV E1E2 vaccine adjuvanted with MF59 administered to healthy adults. *Vaccine* 2010,**28**:6367-6373.
- 222. Meunier JC, Gottwein JM, Houghton M, Russell RS, Emerson SU, Bukh J, *et al.* Vaccineinduced cross-genotype reactive neutralizing antibodies against hepatitis C virus. *J Infect Dis* 2011,**204**:1186-1190.
- 223. Stamataki Z, Coates S, Abrignani S, Houghton M, McKeating JA. Immunization of human volunteers with hepatitis C virus envelope glycoproteins elicits antibodies that cross-neutralize heterologous virus strains. In: *J Infect Dis*. United States; 2011. pp. 811-813.
- 224. Folgori A, Capone S, Ruggeri L, Meola A, Sporeno E, Ercole BB, *et al.* A T-cell HCV vaccine eliciting effective immunity against heterologous virus challenge in chimpanzees. *Nat Med* 2006,**12**:190-197.
- 225. Barnes E, Folgori A, Capone S, Swadling L, Aston S, Kurioka A, *et al.* Novel adenovirusbased vaccines induce broad and sustained T cell responses to HCV in man. *Sci Transl Med* 2012,**4**:115ra111.
- 226. Drane D, Maraskovsky E, Gibson R, Mitchell S, Barnden M, Moskwa A, *et al.* Priming of CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses using a HCV core ISCOMATRIX vaccine: a phase I study in healthy volunteers. *Hum Vaccin* 2009,**5**:151-157.
- 227. Habersetzer F, Honnet G, Bain C, Maynard-Muet M, Leroy V, Zarski JP, *et al.* A poxvirus vaccine is safe, induces T-cell responses, and decreases viral load in patients with chronic hepatitis C. *Gastroenterology* 2011,**141**:890-899.e891-894.
- 228. H W, E J-K, M W, al e. Significant improvement of complete EVR in HCVac phase II clinical trial when adding TG4040 therapeutic vaccine to PegIFN α 2a and ribavirin. *J Hepatol* 2012,**56**
- 229. Aman W, Mousa S, Shiha G, Mousa SA. Current status and future directions in the management of chronic hepatitis C. *Virol J* 2012,9:57.
- 230. Bacon BR, Gordon SC, Lawitz E, Marcellin P, Vierling JM, Zeuzem S, *et al.* Boceprevir for previously treated chronic HCV genotype 1 infection. *N Engl J Med* 2011,**364**:1207-1217.
- 231. Poordad F, McCone J, Jr., Bacon BR, Bruno S, Manns MP, Sulkowski MS, *et al.* Boceprevir for untreated chronic HCV genotype 1 infection. *N Engl J Med* 2011,**364**:1195-1206.
- 232. Jacobson IM, McHutchison JG, Dusheiko G, Di Bisceglie AM, Reddy KR, Bzowej NH, *et al.* Telaprevir for previously untreated chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *N Engl J Med* 2011,**364**:2405-2416.
- 233. Zeuzem S, Andreone P, Pol S, Lawitz E, Diago M, Roberts S, et al. Telaprevir for retreatment of HCV infection. N Engl J Med 2011,364:2417-2428.
- 234. Gane EJ, Stedman CA, Hyland RH, Ding X, Svarovskaia E, Symonds WT, *et al.* Nucleotide polymerase inhibitor sofosbuvir plus ribavirin for hepatitis C. *N Engl J Med* 2013,**368**:34-44.
- 235. Lawitz E, Mangia A, Wyles D, Rodriguez-Torres M, Hassanein T, Gordon SC, *et al.* Sofosbuvir for previously untreated chronic hepatitis C infection. *N Engl J Med* 2013,**368**:1878-1887.
- 236. Manns M, Marcellin P, Poordad F, de Araujo ES, Buti M, Horsmans Y, *et al.* Simeprevir with pegylated interferon alfa 2a or 2b plus ribavirin in treatment-naive patients with chronic hepatitis C virus genotype 1 infection (QUEST-2): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. *Lancet* 2014,**384**:414-426.
- 237. Jacobson IM, Dore GJ, Foster GR, Fried MW, Radu M, Rafalsky VV, *et al.* Simeprevir with pegylated interferon alfa 2a plus ribavirin in treatment-naive patients with chronic hepatitis C virus genotype 1 infection (QUEST-1): a phase 3, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* 2014,**384**:403-413.
- 238. Jacobson IM, Gordon SC, Kowdley KV, Yoshida EM, Rodriguez-Torres M, Sulkowski MS, *et al.* Sofosbuvir for hepatitis C genotype 2 or 3 in patients without treatment options. *N Engl J Med* 2013,**368**:1867-1877.
- 239. Zeuzem S, Dusheiko G, Salupere R, Mangia A, Flisiak R, Hyland R, *et al.* Sofosbuvir plus Ribavirin for 12 or 24 Weeks for Patients with HCV Genotype 2 or 3: the VALENCE trial. *Hepatology* 2013,**58**:733A-734A.
- 240. Jacobson I, Ghalib R, Rodriguez-Torres M, Younossi Z, Corregidor A, Sulkowski M, *et al.* SVR results of a once-daily regimen of simeprevir (TMC435) plus sofosbuvir (GS-7977) with or without ribavirin in cirrhotic and non-cirrhotic HCV genotype 1 treatment-naive and prior null responder patients: The COSMOS study. *Hepatology* 2013,**58**:1379A-1380A.
- 241. Sulkowski MS, Gardiner DF, Rodriguez-Torres M, Reddy KR, Hassanein T, Jacobson I, *et al.* Daclatasvir plus sofosbuvir for previously treated or untreated chronic HCV infection. *N Engl J Med* 2014,**370**:211-221.
- 242. Kowdley K, Lawitz E, Poordad F, Cohen D, Nelson D, Zeuzem S, *et al.* Phase 2b Trial of Interferon-free Therapy for Hepatitis C Virus Genotype 1. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2014,**370**:222-232.
- 243. Lawitz E, Poordad F, Pang P. Sofosbuvir and ledipasvir fixed-dose combination with and without ribavirin in treatment-naive and previously treated patients with genotype 1 hepatitis C virus infection (LONESTAR): an open-label, randomised, phase 2 trial (vol 383, pg 515, 2014). *Lancet* 2014,**383**:870-870.

- 244. Lawitz E, Gane EJ. Sofosbuvir for previously untreated chronic hepatitis C infection. *N Engl J Med* 2013,**369**:678-679.
- 245. Chayama K, Suzuki Y, Ikeda K, Toyota J, Karino Y, Kawakami Y, *et al.* All-oral Combination of Daclatasvir Plus Asunaprevir in Interferon Ineligible Naive/Intolerant and Nonresponder Japanese Patients Chronically Infected with HCV Genotype 1b: Results from a Phase 3 Trial. *Hepatology* 2013,**58**:313A-313A.
- 246. Jensen D, Asselah, T., Dieterich, D. T., Foster, G., Sulkowski, M., & Zeuzem, S. A pooled analysis of two randomized, doubleblindplacebo-controlled Phase III trials (STARTVerso1&2) offaldaprevir plus pegylated interferon a-2a and ribavirin intreatmentnaive patients with chronic hepatitis C genotype-1infection. *Hepatology* 2013,58 (Suppl.).
- 247. Harrington M. State of the (research) chimp. In: Lab Anim (NY). United States; 2012. pp. 31.
- 248. Hiasa Y, Takahashi H, Shimizu M, Nuriya H, Tsukiyama-Kohara K, Tanaka T, *et al.* Major histocompatibility complex class-I presentation impaired in transgenic mice expressing hepatitis C virus structural proteins during dendritic cell maturation. *J Med Virol* 2004,74:253-261.
- 249. Washburn ML, Bility MT, Zhang L, Kovalev GI, Buntzman A, Frelinger JA, *et al.* A humanized mouse model to study hepatitis C virus infection, immune response, and liver disease. *Gastroenterology* 2011,**140**:1334-1344.
- 250. Xie ZC, Riezu-Boj JI, Lasarte JJ, Guillen J, Su JH, Civeira MP, *et al.* Transmission of hepatitis C virus infection to tree shrews. *Virology* 1998,**244**:513-520.
- 251. Mercer DF, Schiller DE, Elliott JF, Douglas DN, Hao C, Rinfret A, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus replication in mice with chimeric human livers. *Nat Med* 2001,7:927-933.
- 252. Walters KA, Joyce MA, Thompson JC, Smith MW, Yeh MM, Proll S, *et al.* Host-specific response to HCV infection in the chimeric SCID-beige/Alb-uPA mouse model: role of the innate antiviral immune response. *PLoS Pathog* 2006,**2**:e59.
- 253. Kneteman NM, Weiner AJ, O'Connell J, Collett M, Gao T, Aukerman L, *et al.* Anti-HCV therapies in chimeric scid-Alb/uPA mice parallel outcomes in human clinical application. *Hepatology* 2006,**43**:1346-1353.
- 254. Kamiya N, Iwao E, Hiraga N, Tsuge M, Imamura M, Takahashi S, *et al.* Practical evaluation of a mouse with chimeric human liver model for hepatitis C virus infection using an NS3-4A protease inhibitor. *J Gen Virol* 2010,**91**:1668-1677.
- 255. Dorner M, Horwitz JA, Robbins JB, Barry WT, Feng Q, Mu K, *et al.* A genetically humanized mouse model for hepatitis C virus infection. *Nature* 2011,474:208-211.

- 256. Dorner M, Ploss A. Deconstructing hepatitis C virus infection in humanized mice. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 2011,**1245**:59-62.
- 257. Pancholi P, Perkus M, Tricoche N, Liu Q, Prince AM. DNA immunization with hepatitis C virus (HCV) polycistronic genes or immunization by HCV DNA priming-recombinant canarypox virus boosting induces immune responses and protection from recombinant HCV-vaccinia virus infection in HLA-A2.1-transgenic mice. *J Virol* 2003,77:382-390.
- 258. Murata K, Lechmann M, Qiao M, Gunji T, Alter HJ, Liang TJ. Immunization with hepatitis C virus-like particles protects mice from recombinant hepatitis C virus-vaccinia infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2003,100:6753-6758.
- 259. Arribillaga L, de Cerio AL, Sarobe P, Casares N, Gorraiz M, Vales A, *et al.* Vaccination with an adenoviral vector encoding hepatitis C virus (HCV) NS3 protein protects against infection with HCV-recombinant vaccinia virus. *Vaccine* 2002,**21**:202-210.
- 260. Yu H, Huang H, Xiang J, Babiuk LA, van Drunen Littel-van den Hurk S. Dendritic cells pulsed with hepatitis C virus NS3 protein induce immune responses and protection from infection with recombinant vaccinia virus expressing NS3. *J Gen Virol* 2006,**87**:1-10.
- 261. Ouyang EC, Wu CH, Walton C, Promrat K, Wu GY. Transplantation of human hepatocytes into tolerized genetically immunocompetent rats. *World J Gastroenterol* 2001,7:324-330.
- 262. Wu GY, Konishi M, Walton CM, Olive D, Hayashi K, Wu CH. A novel immunocompetent rat model of HCV infection and hepatitis. *Gastroenterology* 2005,**128**:1416-1423.
- 263. Pandey A, Singh N, Vemula SV, Couetil L, Katz JM, Donis R, *et al.* Impact of preexisting adenovirus vector immunity on immunogenicity and protection conferred with an adenovirus-based H5N1 influenza vaccine. *PLoS One* 2012,7:e33428.
- 264. Holst PJ, Orskov C, Thomsen AR, Christensen JP. Quality of the transgene-specific CD8+ T cell response induced by adenoviral vector immunization is critically influenced by virus dose and route of vaccination. *J Immunol* 2010,**184**:4431-4439.

Chapter 2

Recombinant Adenoviral Vector Expressing HCV NS4 Induces Protective Immune Responses: A Dose and Route Conundrum

This chapter has been published: *Shakti Singh et al. 2014. Vaccine 32(23):2712-21. PubMed ID: 24631092.*

2.1 Introduction

Hepatitis C virus (HCV) infects human liver and about 150 million people worldwide are infected chronically [1, 2]. The people who clear HCV infection exhibit strong and multi-specific T cell responses, while those who develop persistent infection lack this immunity [3-6]. Exhaustion of the antigen-reactive T cells and modulation of T cells by various HCV proteins have been suggested to play a major role in T cell failure in chronic HCV [7-11]. Further, due to highly evolving antigenic variability in structural proteins, this virus evades recognition by generated antibodies [12]. Currently available treatment includes a combination of ribavirin and direct acting antiviral drugs [13].

From multiple studies, it is clear that a vaccine that would induce broad, robust and effective T cell and antibody responses would be able to protect against HCV infection [14-16]. The vehicle for the delivery of antigens plays a critical role in the induction of strong cellular, as well as humoral responses. Replication-defective recombinant adenoviral vectors have been shown to generate very strong transgene-specific cellular and humoral immune responses [17-21]. However, there have been inconsistencies in results obtained in various studies, where adenoviral vectors have been found to correlate with seemingly contrasting exhausted and chronically over-activated, or sustained and polyfunctional CD8⁺ T cell responses [22-24].

It is well known that both the quality and quantity of immune responses depend upon antigen doses and routes of immunization [25]. The route of immunization can also influence the trafficking of antigen-specific T cells [26]. Surprisingly, these important aspects of adenoviral vector based immunizations are still not well understood. Intramuscular (i.m.) and intraperitoneal (i.p.) routes are among the most utilized routes of immunization in several mice studies using recombinant adenoviral vectors [27-34]. These strategies become even more important for pathogens whose clearance depends upon the generation of robust immune responses. Previously, pre-existing immunity against adenoviruses has discouraged the use of adenoviral vectors as a tool for antigen delivery in humans [35]. However, it has been shown that the encounter of the adenoviral vector with pre-existing neutralizing antibodies can be circumvented by choosing the right route of immunization [35, 36].

Various vaccine strategies for HCV have focused on generating strong multi-specific cellular immunity against various structural and nonstructural proteins of HCV because they have been correlated with viral clearance [3, 5, 10, 14-17, 37-42]. Meta-analysis of all chimpanzee studies has suggested that antibodies against structural proteins play a significant role in protection from HCV infection [43]. Therefore, the role of antibody responses cannot be ruled out in protection from HCV infection. In this study, we used replication-defective recombinant adenovirus vectors containing HCV non-structural protein 4 (rAd-NS4) to induce immune responses in C57BL/6 mice. We compared the effects of different doses of adenoviral vector $(2 \times 10^5 \text{ PFU to } 2 \times 10^8 \text{ pfu/mouse})$ delivered i.m. or i.p. on the induction and longevity of both humoral and cellular immune responses, and their subsequent role in reduction of viral loads that is dependent on both route and dose of rAd-NS4 influencing the induced immune responses.

2.2 Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Recombinant Adenoviral Vector

HCV (genotype 1a) NS4 (amino acids 1658–1972) gene was cloned into replicationdefective AdenoVator Vector (QBiogeneInc.) as per the standard method provided in the QBiogene AdenoVator manual. Recombinant and control adenoviruses were prepared, propagated, purified and stored as reported by our laboratory [45].

2.2.2 Vaccinia Virus

The Western Reserve (WR) strain of VV containing the HCV NS3-NS4-NS5 gene of the HCV BK strain (genotype 1b) (Vac-HCV) was kindly provided by Dr. A. Prince, U.S.A. The virus was grown and assayed in BHK-cells [46].

2.2.3 Mice Immunizations

Six- to seven-week old inbred female C57BL/6 mice were purchased from Charles River laboratories (Sherbrooke, ON, Canada) and housed in the Health Sciences Lab Animal Facility (HSLAS) at the University of Alberta. Groups of six mice were immunized with varying doses of rAd-NS4 (2×10^5 PFU to 2×10^8 pfu/mouse) by either i.m. or i.p. routes on days 0 and 14. Each group was divided in two subgroups (three mice each). One set of mice was euthanized after 8 days of single immunization and the remaining set was euthanized 8 days after second immunizations. The time points of immunizations were chosen from several pilot experiments performed in the lab. Animal immunization experiments were repeated more than three times. All procedures were approved by the University of Alberta Animal Care and Use Committee in accordance with Canadian Council of Animal Care guidelines.

2.2.4 T Cell Proliferation Assay

Antigen-specific T cell proliferation assays were performed using nylon wool purified splenocytes and inguinal lymph node cells as reported previously by us [45]. Briefly, 4×10^5 T cells and equal number of antigen presenting cells (γ -irradiated splenocytes from un-immunized mice) were added in each well in 3–4 replicates, and stimulated with 1 and 5 µg/ml of recall

recombinant HCV NS4 protein antigen (kindly provided by Chiron Corp.). Plates were incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂, and on the fourth day, 75 μ l culture supernatants were collected from each well and replicates were pooled together and stored at -20°C until used for cytokine analysis. Thymidine labeled with radioactive tritium (Perkin Elmer, Canada) was added to each well. After overnight incubation, cells were transferred on filters using a harvester (Tomtec Inc. Connecticut, USA) and counted in Microbeta β -scintillation counter (Perkin-Elmer Inc., Massachusetts, USA). Average counts per minute (CPM) of replicates with SD were plotted in bar graphs (representative of three individual experiments).

2.2.5 Cytokine ELISA

Culture supernatants from T cell proliferation assay plates were collected and used to quantify cytokine production using mouse cytokine ELISA kits obtained from eBiosciences (eBiosciences Inc. San Diego, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The plates were read and analyzed in a FluoStar ELISA reader (BMG Labtech GmbH, Ortenberg, Germany). Graphs represent averages of duplicate values.

2.2.6 T Cell Phenotype Analyses By Flow Cytometry

Mouse splenocytes were cultured for 4 days in the presence of 1 µg/ml HCV NS4 antigen. After 4 days of culture, cells were collected, counted and stained for CD3, CD4, CD8, Granzyme B (Bio-legend Inc. San Diego, USA), FoxP3, PD1 and CTLA4 markers with fluorophore-labeled antibodies (eBiosciences Inc. San Diego, USA) using previously reported procedures [47]. Stained cells were run in a FACS Canto and analyzed in FACS Diva software (BD Biosciences, CA, USA).

2.2.7 T Cell Killing Assay

Enriched spleen T cells were cultured in the presence of γ -irradiated splenocytes and 1 µg/ml NS4 protein. After 5 days of culture, the effector cells were collected and washed with RPMI media. EL4 target cells (ATCC TIB 39, VA, USA) were incubated overnight with an NS4 peptide pool (20 amino acid long peptides overlapping in five amino acids at 5 µg/ml of each peptide) obtained from Genscript Inc. After incubation, EL4 targets stained with 3 µM/ml CFSE (CFDA) (Life Technologies Corp., NY, USA) and incubated with effector cells (E:T ratios of 50:1, 25:1 or 12.5:1) for 6 h. Next, 20 µl (20,000 beads) of Count Bright Absolute Counting Beads (Invitrogen, Oregon, USA) were added to each tube. Each sample was run for 10,000 events of count beads in a BD FACS Canto and data were analyzed using FlowJo v.7 software (Tree Star Inc., USA). For the calculation of percentage killing, following formula was used: % Killing = [(Average live cells in PBS control – live cells in immunized group) / Average live cells in PBS control] × 100. The killing assay was done in triplicates and the % killing was calculated for individual replicates and data are shown as avg. ± SD.

2.2.8 Antigen-Specific Antibody ELISA

Blood from mice of the same group was pooled and serum was prepared and stored at -20 °C until use. For the detection of IgG, IgG1, IgG2a and IgM antibodies against NS4 or adenoviral vector, 96-well plates were coated with HCV NS4 protein (1 µg/ml in 1X PBS) or Adeno vector infected HEK-293A cell lysate (100 µl/well), and incubated overnight at 4°C. Plates were washed and blocked with 1% BSA followed by addition of diluted pooled serum in duplicate. The plates were incubated for 2 h, washed with 1× PBST, and added with secondary antibody (anti-mouse IgG, IgG1, IgG2a or IgM, AP labeled) (Southern Biotech, Alabama, USA) and color was developed with PNPP substrate. Absorbance was read using a FluoStar ELISA

Reader. The background (OD obtained from the wells coated with uninfected HEK-293 A cell lysate) was subtracted from OD values obtained from experimental wells coated with adeno vector infected HEK-293 A cell lysate.

2.2.9 Neutralizing Antibodies against Recombinant Adenovirus Vectors

Ninety-six well plates were seeded with HEK-293A cells at 1×10^4 cells/well and incubated overnight. Serial 10-fold dilutions of Ad-vector (alone) were prepared and incubated with a 1:100 dilution of serum from various groups of immunized mice for 2 h. The hundred µl of neutralized Ad-vector was added in triplicate to the plates. After 10 days, the cell monolayer was fixed by adding 50 µl of 10% formalin to each well and stained with 0.3% crystal violet solution. Reduction in the end-point titer due to neutralization was determined by observing the cytopathic effects of Ad-vector on monolayers (disruption or removal of monolayer). Lower end-point titer of rAd vector indicates more neutralizing antibodies.

2.2.10 Chimeric Vac-HCV Challenge

Vac-HCV (NS3-NS5) chimeric virus was used to challenge the immunized C57BL/6 mice according to procedure reported previously [46, 47]. Briefly, 8 days after immunization, mice were injected with 1×10^5 pfu of chimeric Vac-HCV i.p. Five days after Vac-HCV challenge, mice were euthanized; ovaries were removed and processed individually to quantify the Vac-HCV virus load. Vac-HCV virus samples were titrated by standard plaque assay onTK-1 cell line (ATCC no. CRL 2396).

2.2.11 Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed by Graphpad Prism software (Graphpad Software Inc., CA, USA). Student's t-test and one-way ANOVA were used to determine the significant difference between two groups and multiple groups, respectively. The p-value less than 0.05 (p < 0.05) was considered to be statistically significant.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Intramuscular immunization with an optimum dose of rAd-NS4 induces high antigen specific T cell proliferation and cytokine responses

Mice were immunized with four different doses of rAd-NS4 (2×10^8 , 2×10^7 , 2×10^6 or 2×10^5 pfu/mouse) either i.m. or i.p. at day 0 and 14. Using both i.p. and i.m. routes of immunizations, the two lower doses of rAd-NS4 (2×10^6 and 2×10^5 pfu/mouse) exhibited low NS4-specific responses (Fig. 2.1). We found that the higher doses of immunizations (i.e., 2×10^7 and 2×10^8 pfu/mouse) via the i.m. route induced higher T cell proliferation in comparison to the i.p. route (Fig. 2.1). Further, after both one (Appendix 1) and two i.m. immunizations, highest antigen dose (2×10^8 pfu/mouse) induced less T cell proliferation; whereas 2×10^7 pfu/mouse induced significantly higher (p < 0.05) T cell proliferation (Fig. 2.1). Therefore, in the next experiments, we compared the effects of only two doses of rAd-NS4 (high 2×10^8 pfu/mouse and low 2×10^7 pfu/mouse) administered through i.m. or i.p. routes. Upon examining the production of various cytokines in culture supernatants, after two immunizations, both the spleen and lymph node T cells produced higher levels of IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-2 and IL-6 when mice were immunized intramuscularly (Fig. 2.2). From splenocytes, the TGF- β levels were higher in high-dose and i.m. route as compared to the i.p. route. In lymph node T cells; TGF-β was higher in the lower dose group given via i.m. route (Fig. 2.2). The TGF- β was detected in antigen un-stimulated groups, but their levels were less than antigen-stimulated groups. These results could be reflective of the

in vivo status of cells independent of *ex vivo* stimulation with antigen. With a lower antigen dose, more IL-10 was detectable in comparison to the higher dose (Fig. 2.2).



*p<0.05

Fig 2.1: T cell proliferation after two immunizations. Antigen-specific T cell proliferation after immunization with various doses $(2 \times 10^5 \text{ to } 2 \times 10^8 \text{ pfu} / \text{mouse})$ of recombinant adenovirus vector (rAd) containing HCV-NS4 antigen, by intramuscular (i.m.) and intraperitoneal (i.p.) routes in C57BL/6 mice. After 8 days of two immunizations, mouse splenocytes and lymph nodes were harvested and T cell proliferation was evaluated in each group of immunized mice by a ³H-thymidine-uptake assay. Data with spleen (I) and draining lymph node (II) T cells are shown. Mean \pm SD of CPM (counts per minutes) from quadruplicate (I) triplicate (II) wells are shown. The data are representative of 3-5 different repeated experiments.



Spleen T Cell Culture Supernatant Lymph Node T Cell Culture Supernatant

Fig 2.2: Cytokine profile of spleen and lymph node T cells after two immunizations. Spleen and draining lymph nodes were collected 8 days after two immunizations with higher (2×10^8) pfu/mouse) or lower (2×10^7 pfu/mouse) doses of rAd-NS4, followed by culturing the T cells with recombinant NS4 antigens and irradiated syngeneic APCs. Culture supernatants were collected at day 4 and examined for IFN- γ (I) TNF- α (II), IL-2 (III), IL-6 (IV), TGF- β (V) and IL-10 (VI). Mean \pm SD of cytokine concentration from triplicate wells / mice group (n = 3) are shown. The data are representative of three different repeated experiments.

2.3.2 Phenotypic characteristics and target killing activity differ in T cells obtained from mice immunized with high vs. low doses ofrAd-NS4 given by intramuscular or intraperitoneal routes

T cells obtained from mice after immunization with low and high doses of rAd-NS4 via i.m. and i.p. routes, were examined for expression of granzyme B, FoxP3, PD-1 and CTLA-4 to determine if effector and /or regulatory T cells are induced, and also if T cells are negatively regulated due to the expression of inhibitory receptors. Low i.m. antigen dose (2×10⁷ pfu/mouse) induced the highest levels of Granzyme B expression in CD8+T cells compared to the higher i.m. antigen dose, or both i.p. doses (**Fig. 2.3, panel I**). Interestingly, the higher i.m. dose generated a higher frequency of CD4+FoxP3+T regulatory cells compared to the lower i.m. dose or to both i.p. doses (**Fig. 2.3, panel II**). Both i.m. and i.p. routes induced similar patterns of PD1-expressing CD4+T cells; the lower dose of antigen induced less PD1-expressing CD4+T cells compared to the higher i.m. dose or the higher in the mice immunized with the higher i.p. dose when compared to either i.m. dose or the lower i.p. dose (**Fig. 2.3, panel IV**).

In accordance with Granzyme B expression, T cells induced by i.m. immunization showed higher percent killing of NS4 peptide loaded EL4 target cells in comparison to i.p. immunization (Fig. 2.4).



Fig 2.3: T cell phenotyping. Spleens were collected 8 days after two immunization with higher $(2 \times 10^8 \text{ pfu/mouse})$ or lower $(2 \times 10^7 \text{ pfu/mouse})$ doses of rAd-NS4 and cultured in the presence of 1 µg/ml NS4 antigen for 5 days, followed by staining for various markers such as Granzyme B (GrB), FoxP3, PD1 and CTLA4. *(I)* Frequency of Granzyme B-expressing CD8⁺ T cells *(II)* FoxP3⁺ CD4⁺ T regulatory (T-regs) cells *(III)* PD1⁺CD4⁺ T cells. *(IV)* CTLA4⁺CD4⁺ T cells. The data are representative of three different repeated experiments.



Fig 2.4: Killing activity of effector T cell. Spleen T cells obtained from i.m. and i.p. immunized mice were cultured *in vitro* for 5 days with recombinant NS4 protein and irradiated syngeneic APCs, followed by a CFSE killing assay using EL4 target cells loaded with an NS4 peptide pool. For the calculation of percentage killing, following formula was used: % *Killing* = [(Average live cells in PBS control – live cells in immunized group)/Average live cells in PBS control] × 100. The killing assay was done in triplicates and the % killing was calculated for individual replicates and data are shown as mean \pm SD. The data are representative of three different repeated experiments.

2.3.3 Induction of antigen-specific humoral immune responses in mice immunized with higher vs. lower doses of rAd-NS4 given by intramuscular or intraperitoneal routes.

After two immunizations, the high dose of rAd-NS4 by both i.m. and i.p. routes induced significantly higher levels of anti-NS4 IgG antibodies IgG antibodies in comparison to the lower immunizing dose (p < 0.05). Low i.m. dose induced slightly higher IgG (p = 0.1252) and significantly higher IgG1 (p = 0.021) responses than did low i.p. dose (Fig. 2.5). We also determined the induction of adeno vector derived antigens-specific IgG antibodies in each route of immunization. The dose of immunization showed an interesting pattern of anti-adeno vector antibodies. After one immunization, low i.m. dose $(2 \times 10^7 \text{ pfu/mouse})$ provided the highest adeno-vector specific IgG responses, whereas after two immunizations, high i.m. dose (2×10⁸ pfu/mouse) provided the highest IgG titers (p < 0.05, in comparison to all other groups) (Fig. 2.6). IgG1 shows a similar pattern with both one and two immunizations. IgG2a was undetectable after single immunization; however it was detectable after two immunizations, but was not significantly different in various immunization groups (p > 0.05). After single immunization, IgM was not significantly different among various groups (p > 0.05). However, after two immunizations, adeno-vector specific IgM was comparable in all rAd-NS4 immunized groups but higher in comparison to PBS control (p < 0.05). We also analyzed neutralizing antibodies against adeno-vector in mice immunized i.m. or i.p with high and low rAd-NS4, where lower viral titers represent the presence of higher levels of neutralizing antibody titers (Fig. 2.7). Interestingly, sera from mice immunized with rAd-NS4 with both high and low doses and by both routes, demonstrated some neutralization of adenovirus compared to the PBS control group (Fig. 2.7). However, we observed the least neutralization by the sera from the mice

immunized with low i.m. dose and the highest levels of neutralizing antibodies by high i.p. dose (p < 0.05).



Fig 2.5: Anti-NS4 antibodies. Recombinant NS4 antigen was used as the coating antigen in an ELISA. Mean of duplicate OD is plotted against serum dilution factor.



Fig 2.6: Adeno-vector specific antibodies. Lysate from adenovirus-infected HEK-293A cells was used as the coating antigen in an ELISA; Mean of duplicate OD is plotted against serum dilution factor.



Fig 2.7: Adenovirus vector neutralizing antibodies. Ad virus stock was pre-incubated with sera from various immunized mice, followed by infecting the HEK-293A cells and examining the viral plaques / cytopathic effects for end-point titer determination (lower end-point titer of Ad-vector indicates more neutralizing antibodies). Mean \pm SD of viral titers from four replicates is shown (*p<0.05). Data are representative of three different repeated experiments.

2.3.4 Intramuscular immunization with rAd-NS4 induces higher long-term cellular and humoral memory responses than intraperitoneal immunization

We examined antigen-specific T cell and antibody responses two months after two i.m. or i.p. immunizations with low doses of rAd-NS4 (2×10^7 pfu/mouse) to determine the longevity of the immune responses induced. The i.m. route of immunization showed higher antigen-specific T cell proliferation in comparison to the i.p. route, however, the target cell killing activity was comparable with T cells obtained from both routes of immunization (**Fig. 2.8 A-B**). Antigenspecific antibodies were also present two months after immunization. Anti-NS4 IgG and IgG1 were higher in mice immunized i.m., whereas IgM levels were higher in mice immunized i.p. (*p* < 0.05) (**Fig. 2.8 C**).

(A). T cell proliferative responses



(B). Antigen-specific EL4 target killing







Fig 2.8. Memory responses two months after two immunizations. (A). T cell proliferative responses. The proliferation assay was done in triplicates and data are shown as mean \pm SD (*p<0.05). (B). Antigen-specific EL4 target killing. The killing assay was done in triplicates and the % killing was calculated for individual replicates, and data are shown as mean \pm SD. (C). NS4 antigen-specific antibody responses. The antibody ELISA was done in duplicates and data are shown as mean \pm SD. The data are representative of three different repeated experiments.



Fig 2.9. Vaccinia-HCV challenge after two immunizations. After two immunizations (Day 0 and 14) with high $(2 \times 10^8 \text{ pfu/mouse})$ or low $(2 \times 10^7 \text{ pfu/mouse})$ antigen doses via i.m. or i.p. route, mice were challenged with $1 \times 10^5 \text{ pfu/mouse}$ i.p. Five days after challenge, mice were euthanized and viral load was determined in the ovaries of individual mouse by plaque assay using TK-1 cell line. Mean \pm SD of viral titers from four replicates is shown (*p<0.05). The data are representative of three different repeated experiments.

2.3.5 Immunization with low intramuscular dose rAd-NS4 provides the maximum reduction in Vac-HCV viral load

We challenged mice with recombinant Vac-HCV 8 days after first and second immunizations to examine prevention of infection or reduction in viral load after immunization with low and high doses of rAd-NS4, via i.p. and i.m. routes. Mice immunized once only failed to control Vac-HCV load in ovaries compared to controls (**Appendix 2**). However, after two immunizations, all of the groups were able to significantly reduce Vac-HCV load compared to PBS group (**Fig. 2.9**). Interestingly, maximum reduction in viral load was observed in mice

immunized i.m. with low antigen dose. Moreover, out of three mice, one mouse successfully cleared the virus. Overall, this group was significantly different than groups with immunization by both i.p. doses and high i.m. dose (p < 0.05) (Fig. 5). Table 1 summarizes various factors that together impact the reduction in viral load and depicts the overall picture of immune status of mice immunized with higher or lower antigen dose administered by i.m. or i.p. routes.

2.4 Discussion

Adaptive immunity against HCV includes humoral (antibodies), and cellular (CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells) responses, and all three components have been shown to be important for viral clearance [3-5, 43]. Therefore, vaccine/immunotherapeutic strategies for HCV should include both types of adaptive immune responses.

Several studies have reported the importance of dose and route for effective immunization by the adeno vector expressing the transgene antigens [25-34]. Both intramuscular and intraperitoneal routes of immunization have been examined using recombinant adenovirus vectors, but not compared directly. In this study, we investigated the induction of humoral as well as cellular responses after immunization with rAd-NS4 by i.m. and i.p. routes and correlated them with reduction of Vac-HCV viral load. The results and various immunization parameters obtained are summarized in Table 1. Our results demonstrated intriguing effects of dose and route of immunizations with replication-defective recombinant adenovirus vector expressing HCV-NS4 antigen. While intramuscular immunization fared better in inducing immune responses and reducing viral load compared to intraperitoneal route, a lower dose of rAd-NS4 vector $(2 \times 10^7 \text{ pfu/mouse})$ provided better immunization.

Initially, we optimized the antigen dose by immunizing the mice with 2×10^5 to 2×10^8 pfu/mouse (at one log differences) given by i.m. or i.p. routes (Fig. 2.1). After two immunizations, the lower i.m. dose $(2 \times 10^7 \text{ pfu/mouse})$ induced higher proliferation in both spleen and inguinal lymph node T cells in comparison to the higher i.m. dose (2×10^8 pfu/mouse) or both i.p. doses (Fig. 2.1). In our experiments, only inguinal lymph nodes were harvested; the results could have been different if Peyer's patch or mesenteric lymph nodes were harvested for i.p. immunized mice. However, since the systemic spleen T cells also provided very low T cell responses after i.p. immunizations, it is possible that 8 days after immunizations, the local lymph nodes cells may have given a response similar to the response seen in spleen cells. With the i.m. route of immunization, various pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IFN- γ , TNF- α , and IL-6, were expressed at higher levels in both the spleen and lymph node T cells (Fig. 2.2). In contrast, IL-10 was produced at comparable levels in both antigen doses via both routes. Higher IL-10 production may be due to an intrinsic property of HCV NS4, as shown in a previous study [48]. Expression of Granzyme B by CD8⁺ T cells is correlated to effector function [49]. Interestingly, Granzyme B expression was the highest in CD8⁺ T cells in mice immunized with low i.m. dose (Fig. 2.3, panel I), which again correlated to peptide-loaded target killing activity (Fig. 2.4) and antigen-specific proliferation (Fig. 2.1).

Various inhibitory markers such as CTLA-4, PD-1 and CD4⁺FoxP3⁺ T regulatory cells have been found to be up-regulated during persistent infection with HCV [7-11]. In our study, we observed that high antigen dose of immunization via i.m. route led to low T cell response; therefore, we examined the expression of these inhibitory /regulatory markers among various antigen doses and routes of immunization. It was interesting to note that numbers of CD4⁺FoxP3⁺ T regulatory cells were higher in i.m. immunized mice, perhaps representing a feedback regulatory mechanism (**Fig. 2.3, panel II**). The expression of negative regulators of T cells, PD-1 and CTLA-4, was higher in the high dose group by both routes and by high i.p dose, respectively. It is possible that due to early timing of examining the inhibitory marker expression, we did not observe a significant difference, and only small differences were observed. In addition, multiple immunizations over a longer time may be necessary to induce stable inhibitory molecule expression on T cells, as is the case in chronic HCV.

High titers of IgG specific to NS4- and adenovirus antigens were obtained after two immunizations with the higher dose of rAd-NS4 by either i.m. or i.p. routes. Interestingly, with lower doses of rAd-NS4, the i.m. route provided significantly higher IgG titers against NS4 and adeno vector derived antigens compared to the i.p. route (Fig. 2.5 & 2.6). These results provided a conundrum as it is generally believed that presence of antibodies against adenoviral vector antigens negatively influences the overall immune responses due to rapid clearance of the vector [35]. We hypothesized that the induction of neutralizing vs. viral protein-specific antibodies may be differentially induced by different routes and doses of rAd-NS4. To test this theory, we also examined neutralizing antibody against adeno vector by using a virus neutralization assay (Fig. 2.7). In this assay, interestingly, the serum from mice immunized with the high i.p. dose of NS4rAd had the highest virus neutralization ability, in contrast to the antibody responses against NS4 or intracellular adenovirus derived antigens (Fig. 2.5 & 2.6). These data suggest that in the case of intraperitoneal immunization, induction of higher levels of neutralizing antibodies negatively influences the induction of cellular immune responses. However, when the adeno vector is administered in the muscle, leading to rapid intramuscular expression of viral proteins and transgene product, neutralizing antibodies are induced at a lower level and the pre-existing antibodies are not able to access the adenovirus particles immediately. The efficient antigen expression by the vector is followed by stimulation of T cell responses. Interestingly, after high dose of immunization by both i.m. and i.p. routes, significantly higher levels of IgG were obtained, compared to low dose immunizations, but T cell responses were reduced. Another curious result was the detection of high levels of IgG1 against NS4 in mice immunized with low i.m. dose of rAd-NS4 (Fig. 2.5). IgG2a levels were relatively very low and comparable in all four groups (Fig. 3A). High IgG1 titers are generally considered indicative of a Th2 type immune response [50]. However, in our experiments, high levels of IFN- γ and TNF- α were obtained from splenocyte cultures of these immunized mice, suggesting a Th1 type cellular immunity. It has been reported previously that in chronic HCV patients, IgG1 antibodies are predominant against all of the structural and non-structural proteins [51]. In addition, in chronic HCV patients treated with IFN-y and ribavirin, HCV-specific IgG1 predominates, irrespective of induction of Th1 cellular responses, suggesting their independence from Th1 and/or Th2 [52]. It has further been suggested that IgG1 production may be IL-2 dependent, and IFN-y or IL-4 independent [53]. Murine IgG1 has been shown to facilitate phagocytosis of IgG1-bound immune complexes into macrophages and dendritic cells through FcRIII [54], which would allow efficient processing and presentation of antigens to T cells.

We also investigated the longevity of the immune responses in mice after two i.m. or i.p. immunizations with low dose of rAd-NS4 and these showed a pattern of T cell and antibody responses similar to those after 8 days of immunization, with i.m. route showing higher overall immune response compared to i.p. (Figs. 2.5 to 2.8).

Two high or low doses of rAd-NS4 administered through i.m. or i.p. route at two weeks interval significantly reduce Vac-HCV load in challenged mice compared to PBS controls. However, low dose given via i.m. route showed significantly higher reduction in viral loads

compared to both high and low doses via i.p. route and high i.m. dose (p < 0.05) (Fig. 2.9). Our results strongly indicated that optimum reduction in the viral load in these mice is associated with strong cellular and humoral immune responses and high levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines induced upon immunization with the low i.m. dose of rAD-NS4 (Table 2.1).

The differences we observed in the induced immune responses by i.m. vs. i.p. routes were significant and have not been reported previously. Upon intramuscular immunization, the transgene is expressed in muscle cells, and start declining after 4 days [21]. There is no clear report on the site of transgene expression upon intraperitoneal immunization with rAd vector. It could be expressed by peritoneal macrophages, followed by processing and presentation of antigens. Alternatively, upon i.p. injection, the adenovirus can gain entry into the blood circulation through mesenteric veins, followed by expression within splenic cells, and /or other distant tissues. However, this may result in a loss of efficiency of antigen expression due to non-replicative nature of the virus vector. It is possible that the efficiency of antigen expression in muscle immediately at the injection site allows for better antigen presentation by APCs and stimulation of T cells.

In our study, immunization with rAd-NS4 is shown to induce strong cellular and humoral immune responses, and pro-inflammatory cytokines, which are critically dictated by both route and dose of immunizations. Although, in our studies, pre-immunization with rAd-NS4 did not completely prevent the infection, it was able to significantly reduce viral load. Therefore, rAd-NS4 can be effective as immune-therapeutic vaccine to reduce viremia and viral load.

Table 2.1: Comparison of various immune parameters in mice immunized with rAd-NS4with different doses and routes of Immunization

Parameters	2X10 ⁸ PFU/Mouse i.m.	2X10 ⁷ PFU/Mouse i.m.	2X10 ⁸ PFU/Mouse i.p.	2X10 ⁷ PFU/Mouse i.p.	PBS
T Cell Proliferation	+++	++++ (p<0.05)	++	+	+
IFN-γ	+++	++++	++	++	-
TNF-α	+++	++++	-	-	-
IL-2	+++	++++	++	+	-
IL-6	+++	++++	+	+	-
IL-10	+++	++++	+++	++++	-
TGF-β	+++	++	-	-	-
CD8+GrB+ Cells	+++	++++	+++	+++	+
CD4+PD1+Cells	+++	++	+++	++	++
CD4+CTLA4+ Cells	++	++	+++	++	++
CD4+FoxP3+ Tregs	+++	++	+	++	++
NS4 specific Antibodies (IgG)	+++	++	++++	+	-
NS4 specific Antibodies (IgG1)	++++	++	-	-	-
NS4 specific Antibodies (IgG2a)	-	-	-	-	-
NS4 specific Antibodies (IgM)	+	+++	+++	+++	-
rAd Vector specific Antibodies (IgG)	++++	+++	++	+	-
rAd Vector specific Antibodies (IgG1)	++++	+++	+	++	-
rAd Vector specific Antibodies (IgG2a)	++	-	+++	-	-
rAd Vector specific Antibodies (IgM)	+++	+++	+++	+++	-
Neutralization of rAd Vector by Serum	++	+ (p<0.05)	++++	+++	-
Vac-HCV Load	+++	+ (p<0.05)	+++	+++	++++

Key: Symbol + denotes; Strong (++++), medium (+++), poor (++) magnitude of the parameter compared to lowest (+) value among the groups; (-) indicated undetectable or absent.

2.5 References

- 1. Wasley A, Alter MJ. Epidemiology of hepatitis C: geographic differences and temporal trends. *Semin Liver Dis* 2000,**20**:1-16.
- 2. Saito I, Miyamura T, Ohbayashi A, Harada H, Katayama T, Kikuchi S, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus infection is associated with the development of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1990,**87**:6547-6549.
- 3. Cooper S, Erickson AL, Adams EJ, Kansopon J, Weiner AJ, Chien DY, *et al.* Analysis of a successful immune response against hepatitis C virus. *Immunity* 1999,**10**:439-449.
- 4. Thimme R, Bukh J, Spangenberg HC, Wieland S, Pemberton J, Steiger C, *et al.* Viral and immunological determinants of hepatitis C virus clearance, persistence, and disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2002,99:15661-15668.
- 5. Rehermann B, Nascimbeni M. Immunology of hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus infection. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2005,**5**:215-229.
- 6. Dustin LB, Rice CM. Flying under the radar: the immunobiology of hepatitis C. *Annu Rev Immunol* 2007,**25**:71-99.
- 7. Large MK, Kittlesen DJ, Hahn YS. Suppression of host immune response by the core protein of hepatitis C virus: possible implications for hepatitis C virus persistence. *J Immunol* 1999,**162**:931-938.
- 8. Sarobe P, Lasarte JJ, Zabaleta A, Arribillaga L, Arina A, Melero I, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus structural proteins impair dendritic cell maturation and inhibit in vivo induction of cellular immune responses. *J Virol* 2003,**77**:10862-10871.
- 9. Pavio N, Lai MM. The hepatitis C virus persistence: how to evade the immune system? *J Biosci* 2003, **28**:287-304.
- 10. Krishnadas DK, Ahn JS, Han J, Kumar R, Agrawal B. Immunomodulation by hepatitis C virus-derived proteins: targeting human dendritic cells by multiple mechanisms. *Int Immunol* 2010,**22**:491-502.
- 11. Bengsch B, Seigel B, Ruhl M, Timm J, Kuntz M, Blum HE, *et al.* Coexpression of PD-1, 2B4, CD160 and KLRG1 on exhausted HCV-specific CD8+ T cells is linked to antigen recognition and T cell differentiation. *PLoS Pathog* 2010,**6**:e1000947.
- 12. Simmonds P. Genetic diversity and evolution of hepatitis C virus--15 years on. *J Gen Virol* 2004,**85**:3173-3188.
- 13. Mukherjee R, Burns A, Rodden D, Chang F, Chaum M, Garcia N, *et al.* Diagnosis and Management of Hepatitis C Virus Infection. *J Lab Autom* 2015.

- 14. Lauer GM, Barnes E, Lucas M, Timm J, Ouchi K, Kim AY, *et al.* High resolution analysis of cellular immune responses in resolved and persistent hepatitis C virus infection. *Gastroenterology* 2004,**127**:924-936.
- 15. Thimme R, Oldach D, Chang KM, Steiger C, Ray SC, Chisari FV. Determinants of viral clearance and persistence during acute hepatitis C virus infection. *J Exp Med* 2001,**194**:1395-1406.
- Neumann-Haefelin C, Timm J, Spangenberg HC, Wischniowski N, Nazarova N, Kersting N, et al. Virological and immunological determinants of intrahepatic virus-specific CD8+ T-cell failure in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *Hepatology* 2008,47:1824-1836.
- 17. Arribillaga L, de Cerio AL, Sarobe P, Casares N, Gorraiz M, Vales A, *et al.* Vaccination with an adenoviral vector encoding hepatitis C virus (HCV) NS3 protein protects against infection with HCV-recombinant vaccinia virus. *Vaccine* 2002,**21**:202-210.
- 18. Bassett JD, Swift SL, Bramson JL. Optimizing vaccine-induced CD8(+) T-cell immunity: focus on recombinant adenovirus vectors. *Expert Rev Vaccines* 2011,**10**:1307-1319.
- 19. Liu MA. Immunologic basis of vaccine vectors. *Immunity* 2010,33:504-515.
- 20. Ulmer JB, Montgomery DL, Donnelly JJ, Liu MA. DNA vaccines. *Methods Mol Med* 1996,4:289-300.
- 21. Tatsis N, Fitzgerald JC, Reyes-Sandoval A, Harris-McCoy KC, Hensley SE, Zhou D, *et al.* Adenoviral vectors persist in vivo and maintain activated CD8+ T cells: implications for their use as vaccines. *Blood* 2007,**110**:1916-1923.
- 22. Thomsen PJHaAR. Harnessing the Potential of Adenovirus Vectored Vaccines. In: *Viral Gene Therapy*. Edited by Xu DK: InTech; 2011.
- 23. Krebs P, Scandella E, Odermatt B, Ludewig B. Rapid functional exhaustion and deletion of CTL following immunization with recombinant adenovirus. *J Immunol* 2005,**174**:4559-4566.
- 24. Yang TC, Millar J, Groves T, Grinshtein N, Parsons R, Takenaka S, *et al.* The CD8(+) T cell population elicited by recombinant adenovirus displays a novel partially exhausted phenotype associated with prolonged antigen presentation that nonetheless provides long-term immunity. *Journal of Immunology* 2006,**176**:200-210.
- 25. Holst PJ, Orskov C, Thomsen AR, Christensen JP. Quality of the transgene-specific CD8+ T cell response induced by adenoviral vector immunization is critically influenced by virus dose and route of vaccination. *J Immunol* 2010,**184**:4431-4439.

- 26. Kaufman DR, Bivas-Benita M, Simmons NL, Miller D, Barouch DH. Route of adenovirusbased HIV-1 vaccine delivery impacts the phenotype and trafficking of vaccine-elicited CD8+ T lymphocytes. *J Virol* 2010,**84**:5986-5996.
- 27. Zhi Y, Gao G. Muscle as a Target for Genetic Vaccine. In: *Muscle Gene Therapy*. Edited by Duan D: Springer New York; 2010. pp. 231-247.
- 28. Lin SW, Cun AS, Harris-McCoy K, Ertl HC. Intramuscular rather than oral administration of replication-defective adenoviral vaccine vector induces specific CD8+ T cell responses in the gut. *Vaccine* 2007, **25**:2187-2193.
- 29. Guan J, Wen B, Deng Y, Zhang K, Chen H, Wu X, *et al.* Effect of route of delivery on heterologous protection against HCV induced by an adenovirus vector carrying HCV structural genes. *Virol J* 2011,**8**:506.
- 30. Ogura T, Mizukami H, Mimuro J, Madoiwa S, Okada T, Matsushita T, *et al.* Utility of intraperitoneal administration as a route of AAV serotype 5 vector-mediated neonatal gene transfer. *J Gene Med* 2006,**8**:990-997.
- 31. Berraondo P, Ochoa L, Crettaz J, Rotellar F, Vales A, Martinez-Anso E, *et al.* IFN-alpha gene therapy for woodchuck hepatitis with adeno-associated virus: differences in duration of gene expression and antiviral activity using intraportal or intramuscular routes. *Mol Ther* 2005,**12**:68-76.
- 32. Estcourt MJ, Létourneau S, McMichael AJ, Hanke T. Vaccine route, dose and type of delivery vector determine patterns of primary CD8+ T cell responses. 2005,- **35**:- 2540.
- 33. Lehner T, Wang Y, Ping L, Bergmeier L, Mitchell E, Cranage M, *et al.* The effect of route of immunization on mucosal immunity and protection. *J Infect Dis* 1999,**179 Suppl 3**:S489-492.
- 34. Valdenegro-Vega VA, Crosbie P, Vincent B, Cain KD, Nowak BF. Effect of immunization route on mucosal and systemic immune response in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). *Vet Immunol Immunopathol* 2013,**151**:113-123.
- 35. Ahi YS, Bangari DS, Mittal SK. Adenoviral vector immunity: its implications and circumvention strategies. *Curr Gene Ther* 2011,**11**:307-320.
- 36. Richardson JS, Pillet S, Bello AJ, Kobinger GP. Airway delivery of an adenovirus-based Ebola virus vaccine bypasses existing immunity to homologous adenovirus in nonhuman primates. *J Virol* 2013,**87**:3668-3677.
- 37. Feinstone SM, Hu DJ, Major ME. Prospects for prophylactic and therapeutic vaccines against hepatitis C virus. *Clin Infect Dis* 2012,**55 Suppl 1**:S25-32.

- 38. Fauvelle C, Lepiller Q, Felmlee DJ, Fofana I, Habersetzer F, Stoll-Keller F, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus vaccines--progress and perspectives. *Microb Pathog* 2013,**58**:66-72.
- 39. Law JL, Chen C, Wong J, Hockman D, Santer DM, Frey SE, *et al.* A hepatitis C virus (HCV) vaccine comprising envelope glycoproteins gpE1/gpE2 derived from a single isolate elicits broad cross-genotype neutralizing antibodies in humans. *PLoS One* 2013,**8**:e59776.
- 40. Bruna-Romero O, Lasarte JJ, Wilkinson G, Grace K, Clarke B, Borras-Cuesta F, *et al.* Induction of cytotoxic T-cell response against hepatitis C virus structural antigens using a defective recombinant adenovirus. *Hepatology* 1997,**25**:470-477.
- 41. Li W, Krishnadas DK, Li J, Tyrrell DL, Agrawal B. Induction of primary human T cell responses against hepatitis C virus-derived antigens NS3 or core by autologous dendritic cells expressing hepatitis C virus antigens: potential for vaccine and immunotherapy. *J Immunol* 2006,**176**:6065-6075.
- 42. Lang Kuhs KA, Toporovski R, Yan J, Ginsberg AA, Shedlock DJ, Weiner DB. Induction of intrahepatic HCV NS4B, NS5A and NS5B-specific cellular immune responses following peripheral immunization. *PLoS One* 2012,7:e52165.
- 43. Dahari H, Feinstone SM, Major ME. Meta-analysis of hepatitis C virus vaccine efficacy in chimpanzees indicates an importance for structural proteins. *Gastroenterology* 2010,**139**:965-974.
- 44. Murata K, Lechmann M, Qiao M, Gunji T, Alter HJ, Liang TJ. Immunization with hepatitis C virus-like particles protects mice from recombinant hepatitis C virus-vaccinia infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2003,**100**:6753-6758.
- 45. Li W, Krishnadas DK, Kumar R, Tyrrell DL, Agrawal B. Priming and stimulation of hepatitis C virus-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells against HCV antigens NS4, NS5a or NS5b from HCV-naive individuals: implications for prophylactic vaccine. *Int Immunol* 2008, **20**:89-104.
- 46. Pancholi P, Perkus M, Tricoche N, Liu Q, Prince AM. DNA immunization with hepatitis C virus (HCV) polycistronic genes or immunization by HCV DNA priming-recombinant canarypox virus boosting induces immune responses and protection from recombinant HCV-vaccinia virus infection in HLA-A2.1-transgenic mice. *J Virol* 2003,77:382-390.
- 47. Krishnadas DK, Li W, Kumar R, Tyrrell DL, Agrawal B. HCV-core and NS3 antigens play disparate role in inducing regulatory or effector T cells in vivo: Implications for viral persistence or clearance. *Vaccine* 2010,**28**:2104-2114.
- 48. Brady MT, MacDonald AJ, Rowan AG, Mills KH. Hepatitis C virus non-structural protein 4 suppresses Th1 responses by stimulating IL-10 production from monocytes. *Eur J Immunol* 2003,**33**:3448-3457.

- 49. Mahajan SD, Aalinkeel R, Schwartz SA, Chawda RP, Nair MP. Effector cell mediated cytotoxicity measured by intracellular Granzyme B release in HIV infected subjects. *Biol Proced Online* 2003,**5**:182-188.
- 50. Mosmann TR, Coffman RL. TH1 and TH2 cells: different patterns of lymphokine secretion lead to different functional properties. *Annu Rev Immunol* 1989,7:145-173.
- 51. Chen M, Sallberg M, Sonnerborg A, Weiland O, Mattsson L, Jin L, *et al.* Limited humoral immunity in hepatitis C virus infection. *Gastroenterology* 1999,**116**:135-143.
- 52. Hempel G, Galle PR, Lohr HF. Quantitative analysis of specific Th1/Th2 helper cell responses and IgG subtype antibodies in interferon-alpha-treated patients with chronic hepatitis C. *J Med Virol* 2001,**64**:340-349.
- 53. Kawano Y, Noma T, Yata J. Regulation of human IgG subclass production by cytokines. IFN-gamma and IL-6 act antagonistically in the induction of human IgG1 but additively in the induction of IgG2. *J Immunol* 1994,**153**:4948-4958.
- 54. Hazenbos WL, Heijnen IA, Meyer D, Hofhuis FM, Renardel de Lavalette CR, Schmidt RE, *et al.* Murine IgG1 complexes trigger immune effector functions predominantly via Fc gamma RIII (CD16). *J Immunol* 1998,**161**:3026-3032.

Chapter 3

Adenoviral Proteins Induce Heterologous Immune Responses against Hepatitis C Virus Antigens in Mice

A version of this chapter has been used in a patent application (*Shakti Singh, et al.2015. US Patent*, Applied) and submitted for publication (*Shakti Singh, et al. 2015*).

3.1 Introduction

Chronic infection with hepatitis C virus (HCV) is a serious global health problem. It affects ~170 million people worldwide and can lead to liver cirrhosis, hepatocellular carcinoma and end-stage liver diseases [1-3]. Current treatment of chronic HCV infection is limited to combination drug therapies, which are highly expensive, have serious side effects and have variable success rates in different viral genotypes and patient populations [4]. Development of vaccines to prevent and/or cure HCV infection is of paramount importance.

Natural protection from infection is often used to model strategies to develop new vaccines. The immune mechanisms and correlate of viral clearance and protection from HCV infection have been studied extensively, but they still remain unclear [5-7]. A number of studies have correlated the natural clearance of HCV infection with the appearance of vigorous and multi-specific CD8⁺ and sustained CD4⁺ T cell responses [8-10]. In contrast, development of chronic infection is correlated with weak or dysfunctional cellular immune responses [7, 10, 11]. A recent meta-analysis of studies published to date with chimpanzee model concluded that humoral immune responses also play a determining role in protection from chronic HCV infection [12-14]. Further, recent studies support a role of antibodies beyond neutralization of viral particles; extending their function to targeting intracellular pathogens [15]. Therefore, it can be envisioned that a successful prophylactic and/or therapeutic vaccine strategy would encompass the generation of both cellular and humoral responses against multiple antigens of HCV.

Cases of chronic HCV infection have been reported where patients spontaneously clear the infection due to re-activation of functional cellular immune responses [16]. However, the exact

mechanism of this spontaneous reversal of cellular immune responses, from exhausted and/or dysfunctional to functional, remains to be elucidated. In several studies, HCV-specific T cells have been expanded from the peripheral blood T-cell populations in individuals previously not infected with HCV [17, 18]. Among the HCV exposed individuals, 20 to 30% clear the virus after acute infection due to induction of strong multi-specific cellular immune responses [10, 19, 20]. However, it is not known if pre-existing heterologous immunity has any role in the HCV clearance after infection. Influenza A virus infection has been shown to induce narrow heterologous cellular immune response against a single epitope from HCV NS3 antigen [18].

Adenoviruses (Ad) are non-enveloped, icosahedral viruses containing a double-stranded DNA genome of ~26-48 Kbp [21]. They belong to a diverse family (>50 serotypes) of DNA viruses called *adenoviridae*, infect ocular, respiratory or gastro-intestinal epithelium in a diverse range of hosts [21] and induce different levels of immunity [22, 23]. They have gained immense recognition as a vaccine antigen delivery vehicle since their initial use in gene therapy [24], and have also proven to be safe and efficient vaccine vectors for eliciting protective immune responses against the transgene antigen in many animal and human clinical studies [25, 26]. A chimpanzee-adenovirus derived vector expressing HCV antigens NS3-NS5, is currently in clinical trials [27].

We have been studying recombinant adenoviruses expressing various individual HCV antigens for their ability to modulate and induce HCV-specific immunity in an *in vitro* human cell culture system and *in vivo* in mice [28-32]. During our studies, we observed that immunization of mice with control, non-recombinant adenovirus vector (Ad vector) not expressing HCV antigens, also induced HCV antigens-specific T cell responses. To address this
puzzling and unexpected observation, we aligned peptide sequences from different HCV proteins with various adenoviral proteins (Ad proteins) to determine the levels of homology between the proteins of the two viruses. Intriguingly, we discovered varying degrees of homologies (25-53%) between multiple HCV peptide sequences from core, F, NS3, NS4 and NS5 proteins and a number of Ad proteins. In this study, we conclusively demonstrate that immunization of mice with Ad vector not expressing exogenous HCV antigen(s), induces robust cross-reactive humoral and cellular immune responses against multiple HCV antigens. Further, reduction in viral titers in mice infected with vaccinia virus expressing recombinant HCV antigens as a surrogate model corroborated the relevance of cross-reactive immune responses to antiviral immunity. Our study is the first to demonstrate protective heterologous immunity induced by Ad vector against HCV. These studies have significant implications in the design of prophylactic and therapeutic vaccines against HCV. In addition, since recombinant adenovirus vectors are at the forefront as candidate vaccines for several different pathogens including HCV, Ebola virus, Plasmodium, mycobacteria, influenza virus, among others, their widespread use as vaccines could significantly impact the prevalence and natural course of HCV infection.

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Adenovirus Vector

Replication-incompetent human adenovirus 5, with no transgene insert, was amplified and titrated in human embryonic cell line 293A (HEK-293A) transformed with adenovirus E1 gene (QBiogene Inc., CA, USA) to provide complementarity for virus production. Recombinant adenoviruses (rAd) expressing HCV antigens core (rAd-core), F (rAd-F), NS3 (rAd-NS3), NS4 (rAd-NS4) or NS5 (rAd-NS5) were prepared and reported earlier by our group [17, 28, 31].

3.2.2 DNA Purification and PCR Amplification

DNA was purified from Ad, rAd-core, rAd-NS3, rAd-NS4, rAd-NS5a, rAd-NS5b vector stocks. Briefly, 1x10⁸ pfu of each vector was taken in individual tubes and DNA was prepared using High-Pure Viral Nucleic Acid Kit^R (Roche Applied Bio). PCR reaction was set up with 10 µl template DNA obtained from the above preparation using 50 µl total reaction volume consisting of 1x PCR buffer, 10 µM dNTP, 25 µM of each primer (forward and reverse, listed in **Table 3.1**) and 1.25 unit of Taq polymerase. PCR tubes containing reaction mixtures were incubated in a thermo-cycler with initial denaturation at 92°C and 40 amplification cycles (92°C: 30 Sec, 50-55°C: 30 Sec, 68°C: 60 Sec). PCR amplification products were run on 1% agarose gel at 80 volts to resolve amplification products along with 1 Kb sized Quick Load DNA Ladder (NEB Biolab, Germany).

Gene	Primer sequence	PCR	
		product size	
		(bp)	
Core	Forward: 5'-CGG GAT CCA TGA GCA CGA ATC CTA AAC C-3'	573	
	Reverse: 5'-CGG GAT CCT AGG CTG AAG CGG GCA CAG-3'		
F	Forward: 5'-GAA GAT CTA TGC CAA ACG TAA CAC CAA CCG TC-3'	486	
	Reverse: 5'-GAA GAT CTC ACG CCG TCT TCC AGA ACC CGG A-3'		
NS3	Forward: 5'-CGG GAT CCA TGG CGC CCA TCA CGG CGT AC-3'	1893	
	Reverse: 5'-CGG GAT CCT ACG TGA CGA CCT CCA GGT C-3'		
NS4	Forward: 5'- GAA GAT CTA TGA GCA CCT GGG TGC TCG TT-3'	943	
	Reverse: 5'- GAA GAT CTC AGC ATG GAG TGG TAC ACT C-3'		
NS5a	Forward: 5'- GAA GAT CTA TGT CCG GTT CCT GGC TAA GG-3'	1343	
	Reverse: 5'- GAA GAT CTC AGC AGC ACA CGA CAT CTT C-3'		
NS5b	Forward: 5'- CGG GAT CCA TGT CAA TGT CTT ATT CCT GG-3'	1776	
	Reverse: 5'- CGG GAT CCT CAT CGG TTG GGG AGG AGG TA-3'		

Table 3.1. PCR primers used to detect presence of HCV genes in adenoviral vector stock

No	Human Ad5 protein name	Short name	GI number	Accession no.	Trans- cription unit
1	E2A, DNA Binding Protein	DBP	58177697	AAW65516	E2
2	E2B, DNA Polymerase	Pol	58177697	AP_000202	E2
3	E2B, Terminal Protein Precursor	рТР	209846	AAW65504	E2
4	34k, Control Protein	34K	58177724	AAW65531.1	E4
5	ORF1, Control Protein	ORF1	56160565	AP_000232.1	E4
6	ORF2, Control protein	ORF2	56160564	AP_000231.1	E4
7	ORF3, Control protein	ORF3	56160563	AP_000230.1	E4
8	ORF4, Control protein	ORF4	56160562	AP_000229.1	E4
9	ORF6/7, Control Protein	ORF6/7	56160560	AP_000227.1	E4
10	13.6k protein	13.6K	58177696	AAW65503.1	L1
11	52k, Encapsidation Protein	52K	58177700	AAW65507.1	L1
12	pIIIa, Capsid Protein precursor	pIIIa	58177701	AAW65508.1	L1
13	III, Penton Base	Penton	5817770	AAW65509	L2
14	pVII, Core Protein Precursor	pVII	209845	AAA96408.1	L2
15	V, Core Protein	V	209846	AP_000208	L2
16	pX, Core Protein Precursor	рХ	58177705	AP_000209	L2
17	pVI, Core Protein Precursor	pVI	209848	AP_000210	L3
18	II, Hexon (Capsid)	Hexon	157879600	1P30_A	L3
19	Protease	Protease	58177708	AP_000212	L3
20	100k, Hexon Assembly Protein	100k	58177710	AAW65517.1	L4
21	22k Protein	22k	58177711	AAW65518.1	L4
22	33k protein	33K	58177712	AAW65519.1	L4
23	pVIII, Capsid Protein precursor	pVIII	454806	AP_000217	L4
24	IV, Fiber (Capsid) Protein	Fiber	209931	AP_000226	L5
25	Encapsidation Protein IVa2	IVa2	56160534	AP_000201.1	IVa2
26	Capsid Protein IX	IX	56160533	AP_000200.1	IX
27	Protein U	U	158536737	ABW72885.1	U

Table 3.2. Description of adenoviral (Ad) proteins, which were compared to determine homologies with HCV proteins' derived peptide epitopes

3.2.3 Sequence Alignment

Fifteen to twenty amino acid long sequences from various HCV antigens of genotype 1a (core, F, NS3, NS4 and NS5) were compared with human adenovirus 5 protein sequences (**Table 3.2**) by sequence alignment using ClustalW software (Online version). Sequence homology was documented as pairwise similarity or homology score, and a heat map was prepared by Microsoft Excel to present the distribution of each HCV antigen peptide homology across the different adenovirus proteins. Pairwise scores in the aligned region are the number of identities between the two sequences, divided by the length of the alignment, and calculated as a percentage, so a score of 25 means 25% homology, 30 means 30% homology between aligned sequences and so on. The number of adenovirus proteins showing various levels of homology (25.00 to 30.00, 30.11-35.00, 35.11-40.00, 40.11-45.00, 45.11-50.00 & >50) was calculated from the heat map of scores, and summarized in **Table 3.3** and **Appendix 3-8**.

3.2.4 Mice Immunizations

Six to seven week-old female C57BL/6 mice were purchased from Charles River Laboratory (Charles River, Canada) and immunized twice intramuscularly (at 14-day intervals) using an optimized dose ($2x10^7$ PFU/mouse) of Ad, in presence or absence of poly I:C adjuvant (20 µg/mouse; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA). Mice were euthanized 8 days after the second immunization and various tissue samples (e.g. spleens, inguinal lymph nodes, ovaries, serum etc.) were collected.

All animal experiments were approved by the University of Alberta Animal Care and Use Committee in accordance with the Canadian Council of Animal Care guidelines.

3.2.5 T cell Proliferation Assay

Eight days after the second immunization, mice were euthanized, and spleens and/or inguinal lymph nodes were collected. The spleens were pooled from replicates and ground to single cell suspensions and filtered through a Falcon 100 µm nylon cell strainer. The cells were resuspended in 2 ml of media and passed through an equilibrated nylon wool column. The column was washed after 45 min of incubation at 37°C and the flow through contained all the splenic T cells. These T cells were used in the experiments (~90% CD3⁺ T cells). Lymph nodes were also ground into single cell suspensions and used in the assays. Proliferative responses were measured in triplicate cultures in 96-well flat-bottomed microtiter plates. A total of 4×10^5 T cells from immunized mice and 4×10^5 APCs (spleen cells from unimmunized mice irradiated with 3000 rads) were mixed with different HCV-derived proteins (core = c22-3, NS3 = c33c; NS4 = c100-3; NS5 = NS5 SOD, polyprotein c25 = core+NS3+NS4; polyprotein c200 =NS3+NS4 or control protein = rhSOD, kindly provided by Chiron) or synthetic HCV-derived peptides (Appendix 3-8) at different concentrations as described in the figure legends. T cell proliferation was assessed by a radioactive ³H-thymidine incorporation assay. Detailed methodologies for T cell proliferation assays have been reported previously by our group [32].

3.2.6 Cytokine ELISA

Cytokines were assessed in culture supernatants collected from T cell proliferation assays using mouse cytokine ELISA kits supplied by eBiosciences (eBiosciences Inc. San Diego, USA). ELISA was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. Plates were read and data were analyzed in FluoStar ELISA reader (BMG Labtech GmbH, Ortenberg, Germany). Cytokine concentration per ml of culture supernatant was determined by multiplying the calculated concentration with the dilution factor. The means of these concentrations (pg/ml) from duplicate wells were plotted in the graphs.

3.2.7 Antibody ELISA

Serum was prepared from the blood of immunized mice (pooled, n = 3 to 5) and stored at -20°C until required. HCV antigen-specific cross-reactive IgG antibodies in Ad vector immunized mice, were measured in 96-well plates coated overnight at 4°C with HCV antigens (core, NS3, NS4 or NS5) at 1 µg/ml in 1x PBS. The next day, after blocking with 1% BSA at room temperature for 1 hour, serial dilutions of serum samples were added to the 96-well plate in 2-3 replicates and incubated again at room temperature for 2 hours. After application of serum, antimouse IgG labeled with alkaline phosphatase (AP) (Southern Biotech, Alabama, USA) was added and plates were incubated for 1 hour. Color was developed by adding PNPP substrate (Southern Biotech, Alabama, USA). Plates were washed with 1xPBST (1xPBS with 0.1% Tween-20) after each incubation step. Absorbance was read using FluoStar Optima ELISA Reader (BMG Labtech GmbH, Ortenberg, Germany), and OD values from HCV antigen-coated plates, corrected for background from OD values in SOD-coated plates, were plotted in the graphs.

3.2.8 Flow Cytometry

Mouse splenocytes were cultured with 5 μ g/ml of HCV protein antigens or peptides for 5 days in RPMI-1640 media supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum. On the fifth day, cells were harvested and counted, and 1x10⁶ cells per group were stained for T cell markers. To perform intracellular cytokine staining, splenocytes cultured for 5 days with HCV antigens were treated with ionomycin (1 μ g/ml), phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate or PMA (50 ng/ml) and

brefeldin A (1.5 µg/ml) for 5 hours and subsequently stained for extracellular lineage markers: CD3 (PE Cy7), CD4 [33] and CD8 (APC efluor 780); and intracellular cytokines: IFN- γ (PE) and IL-10 [34]. For T cell proliferation using the CFSE dilution assay, splenocytes were enriched for T cells using nylon wool column and stained with 1 µM CFSE in 1 ml of cell suspension for 7-10 minutes at room temperature. These CFSE stained cells were washed in 1x PBS containing 10 % fetal bovine serum, counted and plated in 24-well plate (2 million / 200 µl volume) with 5 µg/ml of HCV core, NS3, NS4 or NS5 antigen or their representative peptides; and equal number of γ -irradiated syngeneic splenocytes as APCs in a total 500 µl RPMI medium. These cells were cultured for four days and stained for CD3+, CD4+ and CD8+ T cell markers. All stained cells were run in BD FACS Canto, and data were analyzed using FCS Express 4.0 software. Fluorescent-labeled antibodies against various cell markers were purchased from eBiosciences.

3.2.9 T cell Cytotoxicity Assay

Spleen T cells harvested from Ad vector immunized mice were stimulated *in vitro* with the HCV protein antigens core, NS3, NS4, NS5 or polyprotein at 5 μ g/ml for 4 days. The target EL4 cells were incubated with corresponding HCV peptides (core peptides #: 2, 14, 17, 25, 27, 28, 32; NS3 peptides #: 8, 10; NS4 peptides #: 3, 4, 8; NS5a peptides #: 1, 2, 16, 20, and NS5b peptides #: 5, 19, 23, 39; or All: a mixture of the above peptides from core, NS3, NS4 and NS5) overnight at 37°C. Next day, peptides loaded EL4 cells were cultured with effectors at 10:1 (effectors: target) ratio for 4-5 hours. CFSE-labeled live targets were quantified by flow cytometry and subtracted from background CFSE-labeled targets to get the numbers of killed targets. Empty (no peptide loaded) EL4 targets were used as a negative control.

3.2.10 Chimeric Vac-HCV Challenge

Eight days after the second immunization with Ad vector, Ad vector + poly I:C or PBS, mice were challenged with 1×10^7 PFU of Vac-HCV chimeric virus (Vac-C/NS2/NS3 including core, NS2 and NS3 antigens of HCV or Vac-NS3/NS4/NS5 including NS3, NS4 and NS5 antigens of HCV, kindly provided by Dr. Alfred Prince, NY, USA), or wild-type vaccinia (WT-Vac, not containing HCV antigens) virus intraperitoneally. Five days after virus challenge, mice were euthanized and ovaries were removed, homogenized and freeze-thawed three times in 1x PBS. Homogenized samples were stored at -80° C until used for viral titer.

3.2.11 Vac-HCV Titration by Plaque Assay

Serially diluted samples of ovary homogenates were added in duplicate wells in 6-well plates containing 80% confluent monolayers of TK-1 cells (ATCC # CRL 2396) and incubated for 90 minutes. Subsequently, unbound virus was removed and fresh 1x DMEM medium (Gibco by Invitrogen, NY, USA) supplemented with 3% FBS, was added, and plates were incubated for 48 hours. At this time, the medium was removed, and plaques were fixed using 10% formaldehyde (Fisher Scientific, NJ, USA) at room temperature for 30 minutes. Plates were washed with PBS and the monolayers were stained for 30 minutes with 0.5% crystal violet (Sigma-Aldrich Company, MO, USA), followed by further washing. Plaques were counted, averaged and multiplied with the dilution factor to determine the viral load/mouse.

3.2.12 Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed by Graph-pad Prism software (Graph-pad Software Inc., CA, USA). Two-tailed Student's *t*-test was used to determine the significant difference between two groups, and *P*-values less than 0.05 (<0.05) were considered to be statistically significant.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 DNA isolated from Ad vector does not contain HCV genes

To exclude the possibility of contamination of the non-recombinant Ad vector stock with HCV transgene, we set up PCR with purified Ad DNA using HCV-specific primers (listed in **Table 3.1**). None of the primer sets specific for core, F, NS3, NS4, NS5a or NS5b genes of HCV were able to amplify HCV gene products from non-recombinant Ad vector DNA template (**Fig 3.1**). Uninfected HEK cell lysate and recombinant adenoviral (rAd) vectors containing individual HCV genes were used as negative and positive controls, respectively.

3.3.2 Peptide sequences derived from HCV antigens exhibit varying degrees of homology with different adenoviral (Ad) vector proteins

We aligned the amino acid (aa) sequences of peptides (15-20 aa long with 5 aa overlaps) derived from various HCV antigens (core, F, E1, E2, P7, NS2, NS3, NS4a, NS4b, NS5a and NS5b) of genotype 1a with different Ad proteins using the bioinformatics software ClustalW to determine homology scores. Table 3.3 summarizes the range of homologies between HCV-derived peptides and Ad proteins, and the number of HCV peptides and Ad proteins that show these homologies. Intriguingly, almost all of the compared Ad proteins (27, **Table 3.2**) showed homology (scores ranging between 25-40) with several peptides from HCV antigens core, F, NS3, NS4, NS5a and NS5b. The maximum homology scores shown by HCV peptides was core (45-50), F (45-50), NS3 (45-50), NS4 (35-40), NS5a (40-45) and NS5b (40-45) (**Table 3.3**, **Appendix 3-8**). HCV antigens E1, E2, P7 and NS2 showed low homology (25-40, except p7) with the lowest number of Ad proteins (**Appendix 9-12**), therefore these were not tested for cross-reactive immune responses induced by Ad vector.

HCV proteins	No. of HCV peptides tested	No. of Ad proteins tested	Number of peptides showing homology (% Homology between HCV peptide and Ad protein sequences)					
			25.00 - 30.00	30.11 - 35.00	35.11 - 40.00	40.11 - 45.00	45.11 - 50.00	>50.00
Core	45	27	45	43	27	0	7	1
F	16	27	16	15	4	0	3	1
NS3	11	27	10	8	8	1	1	0
NS4	20	27	15	7	2	0	0	0
NS5a	29	27	29	10	7	2	0	0
NS5b	39	27	39	7	4	1	0	0

Table 3.3. Summary of HCV peptides showing homology to adenovirus (Ad) proteins



Fig 3.1. HCV genes Core, F, NS3, NS4, NS5a or NS5b are not amplified in Ad vector stock by PCR. First panel shows the DNA ladder, followed by agarose gel electrophoresis of PCR products obtained with HCV Core, F, NS3, NS4, NS5a and NS5b specific primers. HEK lysate supernatant and rAd-HCV vectors were used as negative and positive controls. Data are representative of 2-3 repeated experiments.

3.3.3 Immunization of mice with Ad vector induces cross-reactive cellular and humoral immune responses against multiple HCV antigens

The significant homologies of HCV derived peptides with Ad proteins sequences indicated that adenoviruses might induce cross-reactive immunity against HCV antigens. To test this, female C57bl/6 mice (n = 5/group) were immunized intramuscularly two times (at 14 days interval) with $2x10^7$ PFU/mouse Ad vector, Ad vector + poly I:C or PBS. The proliferation and IFN- γ production from spleen and lymph node T cells were determined in response to HCV core, NS3 and NS5 protein antigens and pools of their selected peptides (**Appendix 3-8**) (core peptides #: 5, 14, 16, 17 & 27; NS3 peptides #: 2, 5, 6, 8 &10; NS5a peptides #: 6, 24; NS5b peptides #: 5, 19, 27) (**Fig 3.2**). Both spleen and inguinal lymph node T cells from Ad vector immunized mice demonstrated high HCV antigens (core, NS3 and NS5)-dependent proliferation and IFN- γ production, which was further increased by co-immunization of Ad vector with poly I:C adjuvant.

Cross-reactive immune responses against core, F, NS3, NS4, NS5a and NS5b derived synthetic peptides in Ad vector immunized mice were evaluated, to characterize and identify the domains of cross-reactivity in various HCV antigens with respect to amino acid sequences. Many of the HCV core, F, NS3, NS5a and NS5b peptides were able to induce T cell proliferation *ex vivo*, which also translated into production of IFN- γ . These peptides had high amino acid sequence homology and multiple high scoring regions with the different Ad proteins. However, some peptides, which showed high homology with respect to high score (>35) and number of homologous regions in Ad proteins, did not show cross-reactive responses in mice immunized with Ad vector (**Fig 3.3** and **Appendix 3-8**).



Fig 3.2. Cross-reactive cellular immune responses against HCV antigens in mice immunized with Ad vector (with or without poly I:C adjuvant). Proliferation and IFN- γ production in spleen and lymph node T cells upon *ex vivo* stimulation with HCV antigens, or a pool of 5 peptides showing high homology with Ad proteins (see text for details). Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation of 3-4 replicates, and represent 3-4 independent experiments.



Fig 3.3. Proliferation and IFN- γ production upon stimulation with individual synthetic peptides derived from HCV antigens (Core, NS3, NS4 and NS5) in Ad vector immunized mice. Data are presented as mean + standard deviation of triplicate (counts per minutes, CPM) or duplicate wells (cytokine concentration), and are representative of two independent experiments.

To confirm that the high proliferation responses observed in the ³H-thymidine uptake assay are due to actual proliferation of cross-reactive HCV-specific CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, we performed a CFSE dilution assay along with staining for CD3, CD4 and CD8 markers. Splenocytes obtained from Ad vector immunized mice were stimulated *ex vivo* with HCV protein antigens (core, NS3, NS4 and NS5), or selected representative peptides from these proteins (**Fig 3.4**). Intriguingly, the stimulated splenocytes exhibited remarkable antigendependent proliferation of cross-reactive CD3⁺CD4⁺ and CD3⁺CD8⁺ T cells.

To demonstrate that the cytokines produced in culture supernatants are from CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, we performed intracellular cytokine expression analyses of splenocytes obtained from Ad vector immunized mice and stimulated ex vivo with HCV core, NS3, NS4 and NS5 protein antigens (Fig 3.5) and their selected peptides (Fig 3.6). Both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells showed increased expression of IFN- γ and IL-10 simultaneously upon stimulation with HCV proteins when compared to PBS immunized mice (Fig 3.5). We noted that HCV core-stimulated CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells showed a high frequency of IL-10 expressing cells compared to other HCV antigens. However, IFN-y producing CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells were high against all HCV antigens except HCV NS5 where only IFN- γ producing CD8⁺ T cells were increased (Fig 3.5). Upon stimulation with HCV core, NS3, NS4 and NS5 peptides, cross-reactive CD4⁺ T cells showed enhanced IFN- γ and IL-10 expression in comparison to the PBS group (Fig 3.6). Further, IFN- γ -producing CD8⁺ T cells were notably high with all the peptides used for *in vitro* stimulation (Fig 3.6). However, the frequency of CD8⁺ T cells, which express IL-10 or both IFN- γ and IL-10, were not increased with any of the selected peptides except HCV core peptide #17, which also showed increased frequency of double positive (both IFN- γ and IL-10) CD4⁺ T cells (Fig 3.6).



Fig 3.4. Cross-reactive CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells obtained from Ad vector immunized mice proliferate in HCV antigens-dependent manner. Splenocytes obtained from Ad vector immunized mice were stimulated *ex vivo* with: (A) various recombinant HCV proteins: Core, NS3, NS4 and NS5; or (B) their selected respective peptides (at 5 μ g/ml each), and analyzed in CFSE-based assay (loss of CFSE due to cell division represented by shift of peak of CFSE⁺ T cells towards left) by flow cytometry. Data are obtained from a pool (n=5) of spleen cells and are representative of two independent experiments.



Fig 3.5. Cross-reactive CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells obtained from Ad vector immunized mice produce cytokines upon *ex vivo* stimulation with various HCV proteins. Splenocytes obtained from Ad vector immunized mice were cultured with HCV Core, NS3, NS4 or NS5 antigens at 5 μ g/ml, and analyzed after 5 days for intracellular IFN- γ and IL-10 expression profile of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells by flow cytometry. Data are obtained from a pool (n=5) of spleen cells and are representative of two independent experiments.



Fig 3.6. Cross-reactive CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells obtained from Ad vector immunized mice produce cytokines upon *ex vivo* stimulation with HCV peptides. Splenocytes obtained from Ad vector immunized mice were cultured with representative peptides derived from HCV Core, NS3, NS4 or NS5 at 5 μ g/ml each, and analyzed after 5 days for intracellular IFN- γ and IL-10 expression profile of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells by flow cytometry. Data are obtained from a pool (n=5) of spleen cells and are representative of two independent experiments.

We also examined the induction of cross-reactive IgG antibodies against HCV protein antigens (core, NS3, NS4 and NS5) in the serum samples obtained from immunized mice. The Ad vector induces significant amounts of cross-reactive IgG against all of the HCV antigens. Coadministration of TLR agonist poly I:C further enhanced the levels of cross-reactive antibodies. PBS-immunized mice did not show IgG binding to any of the HCV antigens (**Fig 3.7**).



Fig 3.7. Cross-reactive antibody response against HCV core, NS3, NS4 and NS5 antigens in mice immunized with Ad vector (with or without poly I:C adjuvant). Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation of 3-4 replicates, and represent 3- 4 independent experiments.

3.3.4 Cross-reactive effector T cells induced upon immunization with Ad vector exert cytotoxicity to target cells loaded with HCV-derived peptides

The cytotoxic activity of the cross-reactive effector T cells obtained from the spleens of Ad vector immunized mice and stimulated *in vitro* with HCV protein antigens (core, NS3, NS4, NS5 or polyprotein) was examined against EL4 target cells loaded with pools of respective HCV antigen peptides. Different sets of CFSE-stained EL4 targets were prepared by loading them with pools of HCV antigen peptides: core (peptides # 2, 14, 17, 25, 27, 28, 32), NS3 (peptides # 8, 10), NS4 (peptides # 3, 4, 8), NS5 (peptides # NS5a: 1, 2, 16, 20 and NS5b: 5, 19, 23, 39) (listed in **Appendix 3-8**), all of the above peptides (ALL) or no peptide loaded (No). These different EL4 targets were cultured with corresponding effector T cells stimulated with HCV protein antigens. The results showed that T cells induced after Ad vector immunization had potent cytotoxic effector T cell function, in an antigen-specific manner (**Fig 3.8**). Interestingly, *ex vivo* stimulation of cross-reactive effectors with core antigen showed the least antigen-specific cytotoxic activity compared to other HCV antigens.

3.3.5 Role of the HCV-specific cross-reactive immune responses induced by Ad vector in reducing viral loads in Vaccinia-HCV challenged mice

To demonstrate the antiviral potential of Ad vector induced cross-reactive immune responses against HCV, a surrogate Vac-HCV infection model [32] was used. Although this is not a direct model of HCV infection, it is a valuable model to assess the ability of the induced immunity to kill host targets expressing HCV antigens. Reduction in Vac-HCV viral titers in this model is a critical parameter for the antiviral response against HCV. After two immunizations with Ad vector with or without poly I:C as adjuvant, the C57BL/6 mice were challenged with wild-type vaccinia (WT-Vac), or Vaccinia-HCV chimeric viruses (Vac-HCV core-NS3 or Vac-HCV NS3-NS4-NS5).



Fig 3.8. Cytotoxic killing of target cells loaded with HCV antigens-derived peptides, by cross-reactive effector T cells obtained from Ad vector immunized mice. Splenocytes harvested from Ad vector immunized mice, were stimulated *in vitro* with the HCV protein antigens Core, NS3, NS4 and NS5 at 5 µg/ml concentration for 4 days. The target EL4 cells were incubated with corresponding HCV peptides each at 1 µg/ml concentration (Core peptides: 2, 14, 17, 25, 27, 28, 32; NS3 peptides: 8, 10; NS4 peptides: 3, 4, 8; NS5a peptides: 1, 2, 16, 20 and NS5b peptides: 5, 19, 23, 39; or All: a mixture of the above peptides from Core, NS3, NS4 and NS5) and peptide-loaded EL4 cells were cultured with effectors at 10:1 (effectors: target) ratio for 4-5 hours. Empty (no peptide loaded) EL4 targets were used as a negative control. CFSE-labeled live targets were quantified by flow cytometry, and % killed targets were calculated using the formula: % *Killing* = [(Average live cells in PBS control – live cells in immunized group) /Average live cells in PBS control] × 100). Data are representative of three independent experiments.

Five days after challenge, viral loads were determined in ovaries in individual mice (**Fig 3.9**). The mice immunized with Ad vector in the presence or absence of poly I:C and challenged with vaccinia chimeric viruses, had significantly (p < 0.05) reduced Vac-HCV (core-NS3 or NS3-NS4-NS5) viral loads in comparison to PBS or HEK cell lysate-immunized mice. In contrast, viral titers in WT-Vaccinia challenged mice were not significantly different in HEK lysate or Ad vector immunized mice (p = 0.8472). These results provide strong evidence that the Ad vector induced cross-reactive immunity against specific HCV antigens and not the vaccinia antigens.



Fig 3.9. Immunization of mice with Ad vector leads to reduced titer of Vaccinia-HCV chimeric virus. Mice immunized twice intramuscularly with Ad vector (with or without poly I:C), PBS, or HEK cell lysate, were challenged 8 days after the second immunization with wild-type Vaccinia (WT-Vac) or chimeric Vaccinia-HCV. Ovaries were harvested 5 days after challenge and viral loads in each mouse were determined by plaque-forming assay using TK-1 cells. (A) Challenge with HCV Core-NS2-NS3 (Vac-C/NS2/NS3). (B) Challenge with Vaccinia-HCV NS3-NS4-NS5 (Vac-NS3/4/5). The x-axis legends represent various immunization groups (Ad, HEK or PBS) followed by type of vaccinia virus used for challenge (WT or Vaccinia expressing HCV core/NS2/NS3 or NS3/4/5 proteins). Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation of % reduction in viral titer compared to corresponding unimmunized control group, and statistical comparison was done by two-tailed *t*-test (p<0.05 was considered significant).

3.4 Discussion

In the present study, we demonstrate for the first time that Ad vector has the intrinsic ability to induce broad and robust cellular and humoral immune responses against a number of HCV structural and non-structural antigens. The *in silico* sequence alignment studies (**Table 3.3**, **Appendix 3-8**) exhibited an interesting and unexpected pattern of homologies in the amino acid sequences between HCV and Ad protein sequences. Homology ranged from 25-53% (homologies below 25% are not reported here), with HCV core peptide epitopes showing the greatest amino acid homology to the largest number of Ad proteins. Further, HCV frame-shift protein (F), NS3, NS4, and NS5 also showed significant levels of homology with Ad proteins.

Our results, presented in Figures 3.2 to 3.7, provide conclusive evidence that Ad vector induced significant levels of cross-reactive immune responses against HCV antigens. These immune responses are mediated by both $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cells, and cover a broad range of HCV protein epitopes. We also showed that heterologous effector T cells, induced by Ad vector immunization, possess strong cytotoxic effector function (**Fig 3.8**).

Heterologous immunity is the term used when immune responses induced by one virus confer immunity to another unrelated virus and/or its antigens. Indeed, there have been reports showing induction of cross-reactive T cell responses among unrelated viruses [18, 35-37]. Adenovirus and hepatitis C virus are evolutionarily unrelated. They differ in host cell specificity and contain genomes of dsDNA and RNA, respectively. However, the induction of heterologous immunity does not require the entire T cell epitope to be homologous [38]. This immunity can result from similarities in amino acid sequences in small stretches of peptides and/or promiscuity of T cell receptors (TCR) [38-41]. It has been shown that only 2-4 amino acids in the T cell

epitopes actively participate in interaction with the TCR, and stronger associations in peptide-MHC and TCR is provided by co-stimulatory molecules and MHC molecules [41, 42]. Therefore, it is quite possible that a TCR will still recognize a peptide if its non-contact amino acid(s) are replaced with biochemically similar or even different amino acid(s) [38, 41, 42]. Further, MHC class I or II molecules can bind to and present a variety of peptides which differ in amino acid composition [38, 43, 44]. These properties of both MHC molecules and TCR are necessary to process and respond to a vast pool of epitopes originating from a huge number of pathogens and/or antigens [38, 41, 43, 45]. Various studies show that CD4⁺ T cells are more promiscuous than CD8⁺ T cells in peptide epitope recognition [42, 44, 46, 47]. Also the MHC class II peptide binding pocket is more flexible than the MHC class I peptide-binding pocket [44, 47]. A higher level of promiscuity occurs at the CD4⁺ T cell level and flexibility within peptide-MHC II binding allows for greater and less-restrictive CD4⁺ T cell responses. This property is physiologically relevant as CD4⁺ T cell help is required to generate both humoral and effector T cell responses [39, 48]. Studies have also shown that if amino acids on a peptide epitope can be substituted by amino acids with similar biochemical property, it will be still recognized by the same T cell clone [44]. Additionally, some T cell clones could be intrinsically more crossreactive than others. In outbred human population, the repertoire of peptide presentation and T cell recognition becomes even broader due to co-dominant expression of MHC molecules. Therefore, some individuals may show higher heterologous immunity against certain antigens than other individuals [49, 50].

An interesting aspect of Ad vector induced heterologous immunity emerged in responses to core antigen of HCV. We have previously reported that mice immunized with a recombinant Ad vector expressing whole HCV core protein do not generate core-specific T cell responses due to

immunosuppressive effects [29, 30]. In contrast, in the current study we unexpectedly found that an Ad vector without a transgene is able to induce robust core antigen specific humoral and cellular immune responses, due to a high degree of homology between multiple core-derived peptide sequences and various adenovirus proteins. This could be because adenovirus does not encode for a complete sequence of HCV-core but rather exhibits homologies in short peptide sequences, and therefore core-induced immune suppression is not apparent. Interestingly, however, core-stimulated effector T cells showed significantly less killing activity than other effectors (**Fig 3.8**). This might be due to core induced inhibition of granzyme B mediated killing activity of effector T cell upon *ex vivo* stimulation with the core antigen similarly as reported previously [51].

TLR agonists such as poly I:C engage their receptor and trigger innate immune signaling that results in the up-regulation of several co-stimulatory molecules and cytokines by antigen presenting cells and also T cells, enhancing antigen-specific responses. In our studies, co-administration of poly I:C along with Ad vector boosted the intrinsic heterologous immunity of Ad vector against multiple HCV antigens, further endorsing the Ad vector mediated induction of heterologous immunity against HCV (**Fig 3.2, 3.7** and **3.9**).

Humoral immune response is mediated by B cells, which produce antibodies against the pathogen-derived antigens. Antibodies can recognize a linear peptide epitope or a conformational epitope [52, 53]. The cross-reactive antibody response is expected to be contributed by the linear peptide epitopes, which contain identical or biochemically similar amino acids at the Fab' binding site(s) [53]. Therefore, as HCV and Ad vector proteins show a high level of homology at different sites in their proteins, the probability of cross-reactive Ab-binding epitopes is high

and our data suggest that antibodies produced in response to Ad vector immunization also show cross-reactivity with HCV antigens. This was further enhanced upon co-immunization with poly I:C (**Fig 3.7**). These results provide an impetus to modify the diagnosis of HCV infection entirely from serology to PCR based methodologies.

In addition to inducing CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell and antibody responses, our data clearly demonstrate the antiviral potential of heterologous immunity induced by Ad antigens. It can significantly reduce the viral load in Vac-HCV challenged mice, but not in wild-type vaccinia challenged mice (**Fig 3.9 A**), and the use of an adjuvant with Ad vector further enhances the cross-reactive antiviral immunity (**Fig 3.9 B**). Whether cellular and/or humoral arms of cross-reactive immunity confer viral reduction in an advanced model of HCV; remains to be determined.

3.5 References

- 1. Alter MJ. Epidemiology of hepatitis C virus infection. *World J Gastroenterol* 2007,13:2436-2441.
- 2. McHutchison JG, Bacon BR. Chronic hepatitis C: an age wave of disease burden. *Am J Manag Care* 2005,**11**:S286-295; quiz S307-211.
- 3. Seeff LB. Natural history of chronic hepatitis C. *Hepatology* 2002,**36**:S35-46.
- 4. Heim MH. 25 years of interferon-based treatment of chronic hepatitis C: an epoch coming to an end. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2013,**13**:535-542.
- 5. Heim MH, Thimme R. Innate and adaptive immune responses in HCV infections. *J Hepatol* 2014,**61**:S14-25.
- 6. Holz L, Rehermann B. T cell responses in hepatitis C virus infection: Historical overview and goals for future research. *Antiviral Res* 2015,**114c**:96-105.
- 7. Park SH, Rehermann B. Immune responses to HCV and other hepatitis viruses. *Immunity* 2014,40:13-24.
- 8. Cooper S, Erickson AL, Adams EJ, Kansopon J, Weiner AJ, Chien DY, *et al.* Analysis of a successful immune response against hepatitis C virus. *Immunity* 1999,**10**:439-449.
- 9. Lechner F, Wong DK, Dunbar PR, Chapman R, Chung RT, Dohrenwend P, *et al.* Analysis of successful immune responses in persons infected with hepatitis C virus. *J Exp Med* 2000,**191**:1499-1512.
- 10. Thimme R, Bukh J, Spangenberg HC, Wieland S, Pemberton J, Steiger C, *et al.* Viral and immunological determinants of hepatitis C virus clearance, persistence, and disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A* 2002,99:15661-15668.
- 11. Neumann-Haefelin C, Timm J, Spangenberg HC, Wischniowski N, Nazarova N, Kersting N, *et al.* Virological and immunological determinants of intrahepatic virus-specific CD8+ T-cell failure in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *Hepatology* 2008,**47**:1824-1836.
- 12. Cashman SB, Marsden BD, Dustin LB. The Humoral Immune Response to HCV: Understanding is Key to Vaccine Development. *Front Immunol* 2014,**5**:550.
- 13. Osburn WO, Snider AE, Wells BL, Latanich R, Bailey JR, Thomas DL, *et al.* Clearance of hepatitis C infection is associated with the early appearance of broad neutralizing antibody responses. *Hepatology* 2014,**59**:2140-2151.
- 14. Wahid A, Dubuisson J. Virus-neutralizing antibodies to hepatitis C virus. *J Viral Hepat* 2013,**20**:369-376.
- 15. Casadevall A, Pirofski LA. A new synthesis for antibody-mediated immunity. *Nat Immunol* 2012,**13**:21-28.

- 16. Raghuraman S, Park H, Osburn WO, Winkelstein E, Edlin BR, Rehermann B. Spontaneous clearance of chronic hepatitis C virus infection is associated with appearance of neutralizing antibodies and reversal of T-cell exhaustion. *J Infect Dis* 2012,**205**:763-771.
- 17. Li W, Krishnadas DK, Kumar R, Tyrrell DL, Agrawal B. Priming and stimulation of hepatitis C virus-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells against HCV antigens NS4, NS5a or NS5b from HCV-naive individuals: implications for prophylactic vaccine. *Int Immunol* 2008,**20**:89-104.
- 18. Wedemeyer H, Mizukoshi E, Davis AR, Bennink JR, Rehermann B. Cross-reactivity between hepatitis C virus and Influenza A virus determinant-specific cytotoxic T cells. *J Virol* 2001,**75**:11392-11400.
- 19. Schulze Zur Wiesch J, Ciuffreda D, Lewis-Ximenez L, Kasprowicz V, Nolan BE, Streeck H, *et al.* Broadly directed virus-specific CD4+ T cell responses are primed during acute hepatitis C infection, but rapidly disappear from human blood with viral persistence. *J Exp Med* 2012,**209**:61-75.
- 20. Gruner NH, Gerlach TJ, Jung MC, Diepolder HM, Schirren CA, Schraut WW, *et al.* Association of hepatitis C virus-specific CD8+ T cells with viral clearance in acute hepatitis C. *J Infect Dis* 2000,**181**:1528-1536.
- 21. Russell WC. Adenoviruses: update on structure and function. J Gen Virol 2009,90:1-20.
- 22. Hendrickx R, Stichling N, Koelen J, Kuryk L, Lipiec A, Greber UF. Innate immunity to adenovirus. *Hum Gene Ther* 2014,**25**:265-284.
- 23. Jooss K, Chirmule N. Immunity to adenovirus and adeno-associated viral vectors: implications for gene therapy. *Gene Ther* 2003,10:955-963.
- 24. Kay MA, Glorioso JC, Naldini L. Viral vectors for gene therapy: the art of turning infectious agents into vehicles of therapeutics. *Nature Medicine* 2001,7:33-40.
- 25. Asefa B, Korokhov N, Lemiale F. Heterologous HIV-based lentiviral/adenoviral vectors immunizations result in enhanced HIV-specific immunity. *Vaccine* 2010, **28**:3617-3624.
- 26. Majhen D, Calderon H, Chandra N, Fajardo CA, Rajan A, Alemany R, *et al.* Adenovirus-based vaccines for fighting infectious diseases and cancer: progress in the field. *Hum Gene Ther* 2014,**25**:301-317.
- 27. (NIAID) NIoAaID. A Staged Phase I/II Study, to Assess Safety, Efficacy and Immunogenicity of a New Hepatitis C Prophylactic Vaccine Based on Sequential Use of AdCh3NSmut1 and MVA-NSmut *In: ClinicalTrials.gov, Bethesda (MD): National Library of Medicine (US).*
- 28. Li W, Krishnadas DK, Li J, Tyrrell DL, Agrawal B. Induction of primary human T cell responses against hepatitis C virus-derived antigens NS3 or core by autologous dendritic cells expressing hepatitis C virus antigens: potential for vaccine and immunotherapy. *J Immunol* 2006,**176**:6065-6075.

- 29. Krishnadas DK, Ahn JS, Han J, Kumar R, Agrawal B. Immunomodulation by hepatitis C virusderived proteins: targeting human dendritic cells by multiple mechanisms. *Int Immunol* 2010,**22**:491-502.
- 30. Krishnadas DK, Li W, Kumar R, Tyrrell DL, Agrawal B. HCV-core and NS3 antigens play disparate role in inducing regulatory or effector T cells in vivo: Implications for viral persistence or clearance. *Vaccine* 2010, **28**:2104-2114.
- 31. Samrat SK, Li W, Singh S, Kumar R, Agrawal B. Alternate reading frame protein (F protein) of hepatitis C virus: paradoxical effects of activation and apoptosis on human dendritic cells lead to stimulation of T cells. *PLoS One* 2014,**9**:e86567.
- 32. Singh S, Vedi S, Li W, Samrat SK, Kumar R, Agrawal B. Recombinant adenoviral vector expressing HCV NS4 induces protective immune responses in a mouse model of Vaccinia-HCV virus infection: a dose and route conundrum. *Vaccine* 2014,**32**:2712-2721.
- 33. Swayne DE, Kapczynski D. Strategies and challenges for eliciting immunity against avian influenza virus in birds. *Immunol Rev* 2008, **225**:314-331.
- 34. Biesecker JL, Fitch FW, Rowley DA, Stuart FP. Cellular and humoral immunity after allogeneic transplantation in the rat. IV. The effect of heterologous antilymphocyte serum on cellular and humoral immunity after allogeneic renal transplantation. *Transplantation* 1973,**16**:441-450.
- 35. Welsh RM, Che JW, Brehm MA, Selin LK. Heterologous immunity between viruses. *Immunol Rev* 2010,**235**:244-266.
- 36. Selin LK, Nahill SR, Welsh RM. Cross-reactivities in memory cytotoxic T lymphocyte recognition of heterologous viruses. *J Exp Med* 1994,**179**:1933-1943.
- 37. Nilges K, Hohn H, Pilch H, Neukirch C, Freitag K, Talbot PJ, *et al.* Human papillomavirus type 16 E7 peptide-directed CD8+ T cells from patients with cervical cancer are cross-reactive with the coronavirus NS2 protein. *J Virol* 2003,**77**:5464-5474.
- 38. Shen ZT, Nguyen TT, Daniels KA, Welsh RM, Stern LJ. Disparate epitopes mediating protective heterologous immunity to unrelated viruses share peptide-MHC structural features recognized by cross-reactive T cells. *J Immunol* 2013,**191**:5139-5152.
- 39. Hao Y, Legrand N, Freitas AA. The clone size of peripheral CD8 T cells is regulated by TCR promiscuity. *J Exp Med* 2006,**203**:1643-1649.
- 40. Amrani A, Serra P, Yamanouchi J, Trudeau JD, Tan R, Elliott JF, *et al.* Expansion of the antigenic repertoire of a single T cell receptor upon T cell activation. *J Immunol* 2001,**167**:655-666.
- 41. Daniels KA, Hatfield SD, Welsh RM, Brehm MA. MHC basis of T cell-dependent heterologous immunity to arenaviruses. *Virology* 2014,**464-465**:213-217.
- 42. Venturi V, Rudd BD, Davenport MP. Specificity, promiscuity, and precursor frequency in immunoreceptors. *Curr Opin Immunol* 2013,**25**:639-645.

- 43. Hemmer B, Pinilla C, Gran B, Vergelli M, Ling N, Conlon P, *et al.* Contribution of individual amino acids within MHC molecule or antigenic peptide to TCR ligand potency. *J Immunol* 2000,**164**:861-871.
- 44. Nakagawa Y, Kikuchi H, Takahashi H. Molecular analysis of TCR and peptide/MHC interaction using P18-I10-derived peptides with a single D-amino acid substitution. *Biophys J* 2007,**92**:2570-2582.
- 45. Armstrong KM, Insaidoo FK, Baker BM. Thermodynamics of T cell receptor peptide/MHC interactions: progress and opportunities. *Journal of molecular recognition : JMR* 2008,**21**:275-287.
- 46. Greenbaum J, Sidney J, Chung J, Brander C, Peters B, Sette A. Functional classification of class II human leukocyte antigen (HLA) molecules reveals seven different supertypes and a surprising degree of repertoire sharing across supertypes. *Immunogenetics* 2011,**63**:325-335.
- 47. Roomp K, Domingues FS. Predicting interactions between T cell receptors and MHC-peptide complexes. *Mol Immunol* 2011,**48**:553-562.
- 48. Cuendet MA, Zoete V, Michielin O. How T cell receptors interact with peptide-MHCs: a multiple steered molecular dynamics study. *Proteins* 2011,**79**:3007-3024.
- 49. Nie S, Lin SJ, Kim SK, Welsh RM, Selin LK. Pathological features of heterologous immunity are regulated by the private specificities of the immune repertoire. *Am J Pathol* 2010,**176**:2107-2112.
- 50. Rehermann B, Shin EC. Private aspects of heterologous immunity. J Exp Med 2005,201:667-670.
- Immunization with Recombinant Adenoviral Vectors Expressing HCV Core or F Proteins Leads to T Cells with Reduced Effector Molecules Granzyme B and IFN-γ: A Potential New Strategy for Immune Evasion in HCV Infection. *Viral Immunology* 2015.
- 52. Marchalonis JJ, Adelman MK, Robey IF, Schluter SF, Edmundson AB. Exquisite specificity and peptide epitope recognition promiscuity, properties shared by antibodies from sharks to humans. *J Mol Recognit* 2001,**14**:110-121.
- 53. Sela-Culang I, Kunik V, Ofran Y. The structural basis of antibody-antigen recognition. *Front Immunol* 2013,4:302.

Chapter 4

Humans with Pre-Existing Adenoviral Immunity Show HCV-Specific Cross-reactive Immunity

A version of this chapter has been submitted for publication (Shakti Singh, et al. 2015).

4.1 Introduction

Self-resolving cases of HCV infection are generally associated with the early appearance of broadly neutralizing antibodies and broadly targeting sustained T cell immune responses [1-4]. However, in majority of cases, both humoral and cellular immune responses are weak and dysfunctional; and results in lifelong persistent chronic infections [5, 6]. Many cases of chronic HCV infection have been reported where patients cleared the virus infection due to spontaneous reversal of exhausted and/or dysfunctional T cell immune responses to functional T cell responses [4, 7]. In several studies, HCV-specific T cells have been expanded from the peripheral blood T-cell populations in individuals previously not infected with HCV [8, 9]. Several mechanisms behind the expansion of HCV specific CD8⁺ T cells from HCV naïve individuals and the reversal of immune responses in cases of chronic HCV infection have been postulated [10, 11]. One possible mechanism could be the presence pre-existing memory B and T cells or generation thereof by natural infection with some other un-related pathogen(s) [12, 13]. Influenza A virus infection has been shown to induce narrow cross-reactive or heterologous CD8⁺ T cells against NS3 antigen of HCV [9]. We also discovered that adenoviral proteins show extensive amino acid sequence homologies (25-53%) with multiple peptides derived from HCV proteins, and empty Ad vector (with no HCV antigens) can induce robust HCV cross-reactive antibody and T cell immune responses (Chapter 3). In outbred human population, the repertoire of peptide presentation and T cell recognition becomes even broader due to co-dominant expression of MHC molecules. Therefore, some individuals may show higher heterologous immunity against certain antigens than other individuals [14, 15]. This explanation may be further supported by the fact that such HCV-specific T cell responses were eliminated when

memory T cells were depleted from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) of HCV naïve subjects [16].

Our study further establishes the presence of HCV antigen specific cross-reactive immunity in individuals who never experienced HCV infection, and also corroborates our previous findings in mice (Chapter 3). In this study, we show that normal healthy humans with no known history of HCV infection but seropositive for Ad-specific IgG, demonstrates the presence of cross-reactive antibodies and T cell responses against multiple HCV antigens. The cross-reactive immune responses play dual role at the time of infection. They can influence the dominance of certain T cell repertoire and subsequently affect the breadth of T cell specificities and outcome of the HCV infection either positively or negatively [17].

4.2 Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Human Blood Donors, Plasma and PBMCs

Peripheral blood samples were collected from healthy human donors (aged 23 to 55) of both sexes with no known history of HCV infection. Collected blood was processed immediately for PBMCs isolation using Ficoll gradient separation. The upper plasma layer was frozen in aliquots for IgG ELISA, and the middle PBMCs layer was collected, washed and frozen until use (**Fig 4.1**). All procedures were approved and were in accordance to the University of Alberta Human Research Ethics Board (HREB).

4.2.2 Human IgG Antibody ELISA

Anti-Ad IgG (hexon-specific) antibodies were determined in the plasma of each donor using IBL Adenovirus IgG ELISA Kit (Cat# IB79202, IBL-America Inc. Minneapolis, MN, USA). Plasma samples were assayed at 1:100 dilutions in duplicates according to the manufacturer's

procedure. HCV antigens-specific cross-reactive IgGs were determined by ELISA. Briefly, ELISA plates were coated with recombinant HCV antigens: Core NS3, NS4, NS5 or control protein SOD (superoxide dismutase) at 1 µg/ml overnight at 4°C followed by blocking with 1% BSA (bovine serum albumin) for 1 hour. Plasma samples (1:100 to 1:400) were added in triplicate and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature. Binding of antigen-specific Human IgG was detected by adding anti-human IgG labeled with alkaline phosphatase (AP) (Cat# 2040-04, Southern Biotech, Alabama, USA) for 1 hour, followed by addition of PNPP substrate (Cat#0201-01, Southern Biotech, Alabama, USA) for 30 minutes. Plates were washed with 1x PBST (1x PBS with 0.1% Tween-20) after each incubation step. Absorbance (OD) was measured at 405 nm, and corrected for background by subtracting the OD values obtained in control SOD-coated plates. Absorbance was measured using a FluoStar Optima ELISA Reader (BMG Labtech GmbH, Ortenberg, Germany).

4.2.3 Ex Vivo Stimulation of Human PBMCs and Intracellular Cytokine Staining

Frozen PBMCs were thawed and washed with warm PBS twice, counted and cultured in AIM-V serum free medium (Cat# 12055-083, Gibco by Life Technologies, NY, USA) in 96-well plate at 0.5×10^6 cells/100 µl/well for 2 hours. HCV pooled synthetic peptides (Core peptides # 5, 14, 16, 17 & 27; NS3 peptides # 2, 5, 6, 8 &10; NS4 peptides# 4, 8, 9, 13, 16 or NS5 peptides# NS5a: 6, 24 + NS5b: 5, 19, 27) or individual proteins (Core, NS3, NS4 or NS5) were added to the plates at 5 µg/ml concentration (**Appendix 3-8**). The peptides were selected on the basis of their high sequence homologies with Ad proteins, and detection of cross-reactive responses in mouse experiments. Phyto-hemagglutinin (PHA, 1 µg/ml) and media-treated cells were considered as positive and negative controls, respectively. After three days of incubation, cells were treated with 1.5 µg/ml brefeldin A (Cat. # 00-4506, eBiosciences Inc., San Diego, CA,

USA) for 5 hours, and stained for extracellular lineage markers using fluorochrome-labeled antibodies (purchased from eBiosciences Inc. San Diego, USA): CD3 (eFluor 450, Cat. # 48-0036), CD4 (FITC, Cat.# 11-0049) and CD8a (PE, Cat.# 12-0089); and for intracellular cytokines: IFN- γ (APC, Cat.# 17-7319) and IL-10 (PE-Cyanine 7, Cat.# 25-7108). Stained cells were examined in a BD FACS Canto, and data were analyzed using FACS Diva software. The CD3⁺ T cell population was gated for CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ subsets and evaluated separately for IFN- γ and IL-10 expression. PBMCs stained with isotype antibodies with corresponding flurochromes (Cat. # 48-4714, 11-4714, 12-4714, 17-4714 and 25-4301; purchased from eBiosciences, Inc. San Diego, USA) were used to exclude non-specific binding. Percent increase in cytokine expression was calculated by the formula: [(Antigen treated cells- media control)/ media control] x 100. The percentage of cells positive for IFN- γ , IL-10 and IFN- γ /IL-10 in the media groups ranged from 0.2-10% in different donors.



Fig 4.1. Experimental outline of the study of HCV specific heterologous immunity in healthy humans

4.2.4 Statistical Analysis

Correlation coefficients were calculated by Spearman's rank correlation for non-normally distributed data points. Data were analyzed by Graph-pad Prism software (Graph-pad Software Inc., CA, USA). Correlation coefficients, $r \le 0.35$ were considered to represent weak correlations, 0.36 to 0.67 moderate correlations, and 0.68 to 1.0 strong correlations [18]. *P*-values less than 0.05 (<0.05) were considered to be statistically significant.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Human healthy donors enrolled in the study were seropositive for Adenovirus

Healthy humans were screened for pre-existing Ad immunity using Ad hexon antigen based IgG ELISA system. Plasma samples collected from the blood of healthy donors were evaluated for Ad specific IgG antibodies, and the mean OD values obtained in Ad IgG ELISA were arranged in their ascending order and plotted in graph. Data show that all of the blood donors were seropositive for Ad virus and had significant levels of Ad specific IgG antibodies (**Fig 4.2**).



Fig 4.2. Human healthy donors enrolled in the study were seropositive for Adenovirus. Ad - specific IgG antibodies were evaluated by ELISA. Donors are arranged in increasing order of mean OD values. Data are presented as mean ± standard deviation of 2 replicates.

4.3.2 Ad-seropositive human donors have cross-reactive humoral immune responses against HCV antigens which correlate with Ad specific immunity

HCV-antigen specific cross-reactive IgGs were detected and evaluated by ELISA in healthy human blood donors (n=19). The results show that cross-reactive IgG antibodies against HCV antigen core, NS3, NS4 and NS5 were present in majority of HCV-naïve donors at varying levels (Fig 4.3). Further, to understand the induction of cross-reactive immunity in HCV-naïve humans, we arranged Ad IgG ODs with matched ODs from corresponding HCV (core, NS3, NS4 or NS5) IgG in ascending order and plotted in scatter graphs. Further, we calculated the correlation coefficients between Ad IgGs and cross-reactive HCV core, NS3, NS4 or NS5 IgGs. There was a significant direct correlation between the presence of Ad-specific IgG with HCV NS3 (Spearman r = 0.500, p value = 0.029) and NS4 (Spearman r=0.486, p value = 0.035) (Fig 4.4, II and III). We also detected cross-reactive IgG against HCV core and NS5 antigens; however the correlations between these antibodies with the Ad hexon-specific IgG (Fig 4.4, I and IV) were not statistically significant. A very high percentage of false HCV antibody positive cases have been reported in several studies, where the donors were negative for HCV RNA in their blood and also did not have any known history of HCV infection [19-21]. The presence of anti-HCV antibody without viremia was shown in 72.7% of asymptomatic subjects [22]. Interestingly, Influenza vaccine also has been reported to induce false-positive ELISA for HCV in a number of cases [23]. The induction of HCV antigen specific cross-reactive antibodies upon Ad vector immunization (Chapter 3) and detection of HCV specific antibodies correlating with the pre-existing Ad specific immunity in healthy HCV naïve individuals, together can explain the cases of high number of false positive results in HCV antibody based diagnostic assays.


Fig 4.3. Ad-seropositive human donors demonstrate cross-reactive humoral immune responses against HCV antigens. HCV Core (A), NS3 (B), NS4 (C) or NS5 (D) antigen specific IgG antibodies were evaluated in plasma samples prepared from the Ad seropositive healthy blood donors (n=19) by ELISA. Data are plotted as mean \pm standard deviation of 3 replicates after SOD antigen OD values subtraction.



Fig 4.4. Cross-reactive humoral immune responses against HCV antigens correlate with Ad specific immunity in HCV naïve healthy donors. OD values for Ad-specific IgG (open circles) from 19 healthy donors were arranged in ascending order and matched with corresponding OD values for IgG against HCV core, NS3, NS4 or NS5 antigens (solid triangles). The Spearman coefficients for correlation were calculated for the non-normally distributed population.

4.3.3 Humans with pre-existing Ad immunity express IFN-γ and IL-10 in CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in HCV antigen(s) dependent manner

We also determined the intracellular expression of IFN- γ and IL-10 in CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell subsets upon *ex vivo* stimulation of PBMCs with HCV peptide pool or protein antigens for 4 days. Interestingly, both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells from these healthy donors (n=17, two donors did not provide enough blood samples to isolate PBMCs) demonstrated induction of HCV antigens-specific IFN- γ and/or IL-10 (**Fig 4.5**). Overall, there was a propensity of IL-10

induction by CD4⁺ T cells upon stimulation with peptide pools from all four HCV antigens and NS3 and NS4 protein antigens. However, a number of donors showed increased IFN- γ and IFN- γ /IL-10 expression in both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells upon stimulation with HCV antigens (**Fig 4.5**).



Fig 4.5. Humans with pre-existing Ad immunity express IFN- γ and IL-10 in CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in HCV antigen(s) dependent manner. Expression of IFN- γ and IL-10 in CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells upon *ex vivo* stimulation with HCV peptide pools or protein antigens. Data are shown as the percent increase in expression of IFN- γ , IL-10 and IFN- γ /IL-10 in an HCV antigens-dependent manner compared to controls (media). Data for each donor and data points from all donors (n=17, two donors in the cohort did not provide enough blood samples to do cellular assays) are plotted in stacked dot plots as mean ± SD.

4.4 Discussion

Adenoviruses commonly infect humans, and also have been shown to exist persistently as normal gut flora [24]. However, these humans demonstrate high level of immunity against a number of adenoviral proteins in general population. We observed that all of the healthy HCV-naive human donors (n=19) enrolled in this study, were seropositive for anti-Ad IgGs. Further, we sought to investigate HCV-specific cross-reactive immune responses in these human blood donors. We detected varying levels of HCV core, NS3, NS4 and NS5 cross-reactive IgG antibodies (n = 19) in these individuals. Further, we could see moderate but significant direct correlations between Ad specific IgG and HCV antigen specific cross-reactive IgG antibodies, against HCV NS3 and NS4 antigens.

We hypothesized that if cross-reactive CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells are present in the PBMCs of these healthy HCV-naïve individuals, they should secrete IFN- γ and/ or IL-10 upon culture with HCV peptide pools or complete protein antigens. Interestingly, in the majority of donors, CD4⁺ T cells showed higher induction of IL-10 compared to IFN- γ upon stimulation with different HCV antigens, and only a minority of donors (~17 % or 3 out of 17) showed higher levels of IFN- γ expression compared to IL-10 in both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. These results represent the existence of two discrete courses of natural cross-reactive cellular immune responses against HCV antigens in humans with pre-existing Ad-specific immunity. The reasons for these two courses are not clear and could be dependent upon HLA type, T cell repertoire and/or environmental factors. However, it can be speculated that exposure of such individuals to HCV may also lead to distinct patterns of immune responses culminating in either acute/self-clearing or chronic infections, with a predisposition towards the development of chronic HCV infection in the majority of cases. These results are intriguing and suggest the potential impact of Ad immunity on the natural course of chronic vs. acute/clearing HCV infection, albeit with a small number of individuals. Prospective immunological studies in a large cohort of individuals will be required to fully predict and correlate Ad immunity to viral clearance vs. persistence upon exposure to HCV.

The heterologous immunity can modulate the breadth of the T cell repertoire and/or the immune-dominance of a specific epitope, which results in increased or decreased immunity to the infecting pathogen [17, 25, 26]. Further, due to high prevalence of adenoviruses, general population may have heterologous immunity to HCV antigens, and that can explain the cases of HCV-specific memory T cells and high prevalence of HCV antibodies in humans with no evidence of HCV infection. We speculate that HCV cross-reactive T cells also play a role in those individuals who fail to induce effective cellular immune responses against HCV infection and develop chronic infections. Recombinant adenovirus vectors are at the forefront as candidate vaccines for several different pathogens including HCV, Ebola virus, Plasmodium, mycobacteria, influenza virus, among others. Rare human and non-human adenoviruses are being developed for Ad vector-based vaccines, to avoid the issues of pre-existing immunity. In fact, these strains of adenoviruses showed a significant level of sero-prevalence in human population [27]. Further, adenovirus-specific T cell immunity against conserved epitopes has been shown across various human serotypes and also across species [27]. Further, this strategy will not completely rule out any pre-existing inter- and intra-species cross-reactive antiadenoviral immunity. We observed that the homology between HCV epitopes and different adenoviruses (such as chimpanzee Ad) spans across a number of adenoviral proteins (Chapter 3), and thus it can possibly be extended to a number of uncommon human and non-human adenoviruses.

4.5 References

- 1. Lechner F, Gruener NH, Urbani S, Uggeri J, Santantonio T, Kammer AR, *et al.* CD8+ T lymphocyte responses are induced during acute hepatitis C virus infection but are not sustained. *Eur J Immunol* 2000,**30**:2479-2487.
- 2. Lechner F, Wong DK, Dunbar PR, Chapman R, Chung RT, Dohrenwend P, *et al.* Analysis of successful immune responses in persons infected with hepatitis C virus. *J Exp Med* 2000,**191**:1499-1512.
- 3. Osburn WO, Snider AE, Wells BL, Latanich R, Bailey JR, Thomas DL, *et al.* Clearance of hepatitis C infection is associated with the early appearance of broad neutralizing antibody responses. *Hepatology* 2014,**59**:2140-2151.
- 4. Fierro NA, Gonzalez-Aldaco K, Torres-Valadez R, Trujillo-Trujillo ME, Roman S, Trujillo-Ochoa JL, *et al.* Spontaneous hepatitis C viral clearance and hepatitis C chronic infection are associated with distinct cytokine profiles in Mexican patients. *Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz* 2015,**110**:267-271.
- 5. Park SH, Rehermann B. Immune responses to HCV and other hepatitis viruses. *Immunity* 2014,40:13-24.
- 6. Heim MH, Thimme R. Innate and adaptive immune responses in HCV infections. *J Hepatol* 2014,**61**:S14-25.
- 7. Raghuraman S, Park H, Osburn WO, Winkelstein E, Edlin BR, Rehermann B. Spontaneous clearance of chronic hepatitis C virus infection is associated with appearance of neutralizing antibodies and reversal of T-cell exhaustion. *J Infect Dis* 2012,**205**:763-771.
- 8. Li W, Krishnadas DK, Kumar R, Tyrrell DL, Agrawal B. Priming and stimulation of hepatitis C virus-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells against HCV antigens NS4, NS5a or NS5b from HCV-naive individuals: implications for prophylactic vaccine. *Int Immunol* 2008,**20**:89-104.
- 9. Wedemeyer H, Mizukoshi E, Davis AR, Bennink JR, Rehermann B. Cross-reactivity between hepatitis C virus and Influenza A virus determinant-specific cytotoxic T cells. *J Virol* 2001,**75**:11392-11400.
- 10. Cho YK, Kim YN, Song BC. Predictors of spontaneous viral clearance and outcomes of acute hepatitis C infection. *Clin Mol Hepatol* 2014,**20**:368-375.
- 11. Kong F, Pan Y, Chi X, Wang X, Chen L, Lv J, *et al.* Factors associated with spontaneous clearance of hepatitis C virus in Chinese population. *Biomed Res Int* 2014,**2014**:527030.
- 12. Shen ZT, Nguyen TT, Daniels KA, Welsh RM, Stern LJ. Disparate epitopes mediating protective heterologous immunity to unrelated viruses share peptide-MHC structural features recognized by cross-reactive T cells. *J Immunol* 2013,**191**:5139-5152.

- 13. Welsh RM, Che JW, Brehm MA, Selin LK. Heterologous immunity between viruses. *Immunol Rev* 2010,235:244-266.
- 14. Nie S, Lin SJ, Kim SK, Welsh RM, Selin LK. Pathological features of heterologous immunity are regulated by the private specificities of the immune repertoire. *Am J Pathol* 2010,**176**:2107-2112.
- 15. Rehermann B, Shin EC. Private aspects of heterologous immunity. *J Exp Med* 2005, **201**:667-670.
- 16. Scognamiglio P, Accapezzato D, Casciaro MA, Cacciani A, Artini M, Bruno G, *et al.* Presence of effector CD8+ T cells in hepatitis C virus-exposed healthy seronegative donors. *J Immunol* 1999,**162**:6681-6689.
- 17. Urbani S, Amadei B, Fisicaro P, Pilli M, Missale G, Bertoletti A, *et al.* Heterologous T cell immunity in severe hepatitis C virus infection. *J Exp Med* 2005, **201**:675-680.
- 18. Taylor R. Interpretation of the Correlation Coefficient: A Basic Review Journal of Diagnostic Medical Sonography 1990,1:34-39.
- 19. Schroter M, Feucht HH, Schafer P, Zollner B, Polywka S, Laufs R. Definition of false-positive reactions in screening for hepatitis C virus antibodies. *J Clin Microbiol* 1999,**37**:233-234.
- 20. Mullis CE, Laeyendecker O, Reynolds SJ, Ocama P, Quinn J, Boaz I, *et al.* High frequency of false-positive hepatitis C virus enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay in Rakai, Uganda. *Clin Infect Dis* 2013,**57**:1747-1750.
- 21. Kim YS, Lee HS, Ahn YO. Factors associated with positive predictability of the anti-HCV ELISA method with confirmatory RT-PCR. *J Korean Med Sci* 1999,**14**:629-634.
- 22. Caudai C, Padula MG, Bastianoni I, Valensin PE, Shyamala V, Han J, *et al.* Antibody testing and RT-PCR results in hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection: HCV-RNA detection in PBMC of plasma viremia-negative HCV-seropositive persons. *Infection* 1998, **26**:151-154.
- 23. Ionita E, Lupulescu E, Alexandrescu V, Chirita C, Balteanu M, Negut AE. [False-positive ELISA reactions for the hepatitis C virus and the human immunodeficiency virus after anti-influenzal vaccination]. *Bacteriol Virusol Parazitol Epidemiol* 1995,**40**:249-252.
- 24. Roy S, Calcedo R, Medina-Jaszek A, Keough M, Peng H, Wilson JM. Adenoviruses in lymphocytes of the human gastro-intestinal tract. *PLoS One* 2011,6:e24859.
- 25. Sharma S, Thomas PG. The two faces of heterologous immunity: protection or immunopathology. *J Leukoc Biol* 2014,**95**:405-416.
- 26. Welsh RM, Selin LK. No one is naive: the significance of heterologous T-cell immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2002,**2**:417-426.
- 27. Colloca S, Barnes E, Folgori A, Ammendola V, Capone S, Cirillo A, *et al.* Vaccine vectors derived from a large collection of simian adenoviruses induce potent cellular immunity across multiple species. *Sci Transl Med* 2012,**4**:115ra112.

Chapter 5

General Discussion

In this thesis, I have characterized adaptive HCV-NS4 antigen specific immune responses after immunization with non-replicative recombinant Ad vector expressing HCV NS4 protein. I also examined the effect of route and dose of Ad vector immunization on induction of transgene (HCV NS4) specific immune responses and their subsequent role in viral antigen clearance using a surrogate chimeric vaccinia-HCV (Vac-HCV) mouse infection model. Further, we discovered an unusual and interesting behavior of empty Ad vector, which induced HCV cross-reactive immune responses in mice. Upon further investigation, I found that Ad proteins contain extensive homologies with various HCV protein derived peptide epitopes. These observations led us to investigate the Ad vector induced HCV cross-reactive immune responses in detail in both mice and humans. In mice, we demonstrated that Ad vector alone can induce potent, broad anti-HCV cross-reactive immunity that can significantly reduce viral load upon challenge with infectious Vac-HCV. Further, we also detected HCV cross-reactive antibodies and HCV antigen dependent expression of cytokines (IFN-y and IL-10) in T cells of a cohort (n=17) of HCV naïve but Ad-immune human individuals. Previous studies also have reported that one pathogen can induce cross-reactive immunity against an unrelated pathogen. This kind of immunity is known as heterologous immunity.

Heterologous immunity is a double-edged sword, which can modulate the breadth of the T cell repertoire, influencing the memory T cell pool and/or the immune-dominance of a specific epitope, leading to enhanced or diminished immune responses against a pathogen. These observations can help in the understanding of immunopathogenesis and disease outcome of HCV infection and also in designing better HCV vaccine.

5.1 Recombinant Ad vector expressing HCV NS4 protein induces protective immunity which critically depends upon dose and route of immunization

Studies have shown that strong multi-specific cellular immune responses against various non-structural proteins of HCV play a critical role in the protection against HCV infection [1-4]. Rapid induction of virus neutralizing antibodies also has been correlated with the resolution of virus infection [5-8]. Moreover, protective and neutralizing potentials of these HCV specific antibodies have been proven in several studies *in vitro* and in chimpanzees [2, 9-12]. Apart from virus neutralization, antibodies also have several effector functions that help in clearing a pathogen from host [13]. Antibodies also have been detected against several nonstructural antigens of HCV antigens [14], which may play an important but yet undetermined role in immune responses against HCV. Therefore, various vaccine development strategies are focused on induction of both humoral and cellular immune responses against multiple (structural and non-structural) proteins of HCV [15, 16].

In this study, we examined the immune responses against HCV NS4 antigen, and their role in the clearance of Vac-HCV infection in C57BL/6 mice. We used human adenovirus 5 derived vector expressing HCV NS4 protein (Ad-NS4) to immunize the mice. Adenoviral vectors can efficiently deliver the vaccine antigens, and also induce robust transgene specific immune responses due to their intrinsic immuno-modulatory properties [17, 18]. In humans, pre-existing immunity against adenoviruses negatively impact the immune responses against transgene antigens delivered by these vectors. Moreover, dose and route of immunization with Ad-vector also influence the quality and quantity of transgene antigen specific immune responses. Several strategies have been explored to overcome these problems. In one such strategy, rare human and non-human adenoviruses have been developed as vectors, which have less pre-existing immunity in human population. However, a recent study have found significant sero-prevalence rate of these adenoviruses, showing 12% of human subjects seropositive for chimpanzee Ad virus 3, 22% seropositive for rare human Ad virus 6 and 38% seropositive for human Ad virus 5 [19]. Moreover, use of rare adenoviruses as vaccine vectors may not completely rule out any preexisting inter- and intra-species Ad-specific cross-reactive immunity. In our study, both route and dose of Ad-NS4 immunization showed a significant influence on the induction of HCV NS4 specific protective immunity. We found that an optimum dose of Ad-NS4 administered twice through intramuscular route induces very strong cellular and humoral immune responses which are able to significantly reduce the viral load in Vac-HCV challenged mice. In contrast, high dose intra-peritoneal immunization with Ad-NS4 induced high vector-neutralizing antibodies, which dampened the NS4 antigen specific immune responses and resulted in reduced viral clearance. In conclusion, we demonstrated that Ad-NS4 can induce protective immune responses, which is critically affected by the route and dose of immunization. Inclusion of other HCV antigens in the Ad vector can further broaden these protective immune responses, and can be used as a candidate vaccine against HCV. The effective dose and route of administration of such vaccines should be determined carefully.

5.2 Ad vector derived proteins have extensive amino acid homology with peptide epitopes derived from multiple HCV proteins and induce strong HCV specific heterologous immunity

We all are exposed to vast number of pathogens, and have varying levels of memory B and T cells against them. However, our immune system is equipped with limited antigen epitope recognizing receptors, and cannot have separate B or T cell receptors for each epitope. Therefore, these receptors show some level of flexibility and degeneracy in binding with their antigen epitope. Studies have shown that a single T-cell receptor can recognize quite disparate peptides [20, 21]. Due to these phenomena, one virus can induce cross-reactive immune responses against other evolutionarily distant virus. The propensity of such immune cross-reactivity among viruses can be further enhanced by the presence of conserved amino acid sequences, which frequently interact with the nucleic acid and various host factors required for establishment of successful infection and replication [22-25]. Several studies have shown induction of cross-reactive immune responses between unrelated viruses for example HCV and influenza virus. [26-31].

In our study, surprisingly we discovered that empty adenoviral vector (with no HCV antigen) can induce broad cross-reactive immune responses against multiple HCV proteins. This finding was further supported by the fact that adenovirus proteins contain extensive regions of homology with multiple peptides derived from various HCV proteins. Further, the mice immunized with empty Ad vector significantly reduced the Vac-HCV load. Therefore, Ad vector may have a potential use as therapeutic/prophylactic vaccine for HCV infection, even without an additional HCV transgene. Further, we observed that the homology between HCV epitopes and different adenoviruses spans across a number of adenoviral proteins which have conserved domains across different adenoviruses, and thus it can possibly be extended to a number of uncommon human and non-human adenovirus derived vectors [19].

5.3 HCV antigen specific cross-reactive immunity in HCV naïve and Adimmune healthy human blood donors

Adenoviruses usually cause mild asymptomatic infection in upper respiratory tract in humans. Most people experienced adenoviral infection in their life, and have different levels of memory B and T cell immune responses. In our study, we screened 19 healthy human blood donors who never had HCV infection. We could see adenovirus specific antibodies in all 19 donors. Next we sought to investigate whether these Ad immune donors demonstrate the crossreactive immune responses to various HCV antigens or not. We found that Ad-immune individuals demonstrated the presence of anti-HCV specific humoral (IgG) responses against multiple HCV antigens. Interestingly, anti-NS3 and anti-NS4 IgG showed a moderate correlation with Ad hexon-specific IgG.

Furthermore, all of the Ad-immune individuals demonstrated HCV antigens-dependent induction of cytokines (IL-10, IFN- γ or IL-10/IFN- γ) in CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. However, the majority of cross-reactive T cell stimulation resulted in CD4⁺ T cells with IL-10 production (n=14/17) and only a minority with IFN- γ production (n=3/17 donors) against multiple HCV antigens. These results support our conjecture observed in mice study (Chapter 3). Further, these cross-reactive immune responses can explain the cases of HCV-specific memory T cells in HCV-naïve individuals, and also explain spontaneous re-activation of HCV-specific functional immune responses and viral clearance. It also suggests that pre-existing Ad immunity crossreactive to HCV may be playing an important role in the natural course of chronic vs. acute/clearing of HCV infection.

5.4 Conclusions

Adenoviral vectors no doubt have many advantages as vaccine antigen delivery vehicle due to their intrinsic adjuvant properties and efficient antigen delivery. Our studies have focused on understanding of the role of adaptive immune responses against non-structural protein (NS4) of HCV in viral clearance. We have conclusively shown that Ad vector expressing HCV antigen can induce protective humoral and cellular immune responses. Further, the problem of preexisting Ad vector-specific immunity can be avoided and transgene specific immune responses can be further optimized by utilizing suitable dose and route of immunization. Further, we

143

discovered a significant homology in amino acid sequence between Ad proteins and multiple HCV antigen epitopes, which also reflected in terms of HCV cross-reactive antibody and T cell immune responses in mice immunized with Ad vector. Furthermore, Ad-immune healthy HCV naïve individuals also showed significant level of HCV cross-reactive immune responses. Ad vector (expressing vaccine antigens) based vaccines are being tested for several pathogens including HCV. Our studies further suggest that widespread use of these Ad vector based vaccines could significantly impact the prevalence and course of HCV infection.

5.5 Future directions

We have shown that Ad vector containing the single non-structural antigen (NS4) of HCV can induce strong protective immunity in mice and optimizing the vector dose and route of administration can further enhance this immunity. We speculate that, inclusion of other non-structural and structural proteins will further broaden and enhance the HCV specific immune responses. Such Ad vector based strategies need to be explored in future studies. In our study, we used vaccinia-HCV mice challenge model and showed reduction in viral load in their ovaries. The protective potential of the immune responses induced by Ad-vector containing HCV antigens should be further tested in more relevant humanized animal models that can be infected with HCV.

Our studies demonstrated that Ad vector alone can induce protective cross-reactive immune responses against a number of HCV antigens. We further showed that HCV naïve people with pre-existing Ad immunity also showed cross-reactive antibodies and antigen dependent IFN- γ and IL-10 secretion from T cells. Further, anti-Ad hexon IgG was moderately correlated with the HCV NS3 and NS4 specific IgG in a cohort of 19 blood donors. However, such correlation study requires extensively large cohorts of HCV naïve and infected individuals

and should be investigated in another prospective study. Our studies have significant implications in understanding HCV immunity and have enormous inference in the use of recombinant adenovirus vaccines. We believe that most individuals have some levels of pre-existing Ad specific immunity. It will be interesting to see whether boosting this immunity with Ad vector alone could also boost the cross-reactive immune responses, and whether these responses will help in protection against HCV infection. Furthermore, it needs to be established, how pre-existing immunity to adenoviruses, and prevalent use of Ad vectors as vaccines for other diseases, shape the course of natural infection with HCV in the human population.

5.6 References

- 1. Shoukry NH, Grakoui A, Houghton M, Chien DY, Ghrayeb J, Reimann KA, *et al.* Memory CD8+ T cells are required for protection from persistent hepatitis C virus infection. *J Exp Med* 2003,**197**:1645-1655.
- 2. Bassett SE, Guerra B, Brasky K, Miskovsky E, Houghton M, Klimpel GR, *et al.* Protective immune response to hepatitis C virus in chimpanzees rechallenged following clearance of primary infection. *Hepatology* 2001,**33**:1479-1487.
- 3. Schirren CA, Jung MC, Gerlach JT, Worzfeld T, Baretton G, Mamin M, *et al.* Liverderived hepatitis C virus (HCV)-specific CD4(+) T cells recognize multiple HCV epitopes and produce interferon gamma. *Hepatology* 2000,**32**:597-603.
- 4. Cooper S, Erickson AL, Adams EJ, Kansopon J, Weiner AJ, Chien DY, *et al.* Analysis of a successful immune response against hepatitis C virus. *Immunity* 1999,**10**:439-449.
- 5. Osburn WO, Snider AE, Wells BL, Latanich R, Bailey JR, Thomas DL, *et al.* Clearance of hepatitis C infection is associated with the early appearance of broad neutralizing antibody responses. *Hepatology* 2014,**59**:2140-2151.
- 6. Esteban-Riesco L, Depaulis F, Moreau A, Bacq Y, Dubois F, Goudeau A, *et al.* Rapid and sustained autologous neutralizing response leading to early spontaneous recovery after HCV infection. *Virology* 2013,444:90-99.
- 7. Wahid A, Dubuisson J. Virus-neutralizing antibodies to hepatitis C virus. *J Viral Hepat* 2013,**20**:369-376.
- 8. Pestka JM, Zeisel MB, Blaser E, Schurmann P, Bartosch B, Cosset FL, *et al.* Rapid induction of virus-neutralizing antibodies and viral clearance in a single-source outbreak of hepatitis C. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2007,**104**:6025-6030.
- 9. Meunier JC, Gottwein JM, Houghton M, Russell RS, Emerson SU, Bukh J, *et al.* Vaccineinduced cross-genotype reactive neutralizing antibodies against hepatitis C virus. *J Infect Dis* 2011,**204**:1186-1190.
- 10. Stamataki Z, Coates S, Evans MJ, Wininger M, Crawford K, Dong C, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus envelope glycoprotein immunization of rodents elicits cross-reactive neutralizing antibodies. *Vaccine* 2007, **25**:7773-7784.
- 11. Logvinoff C, Major ME, Oldach D, Heyward S, Talal A, Balfe P, *et al.* Neutralizing antibody response during acute and chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 2004,**101**:10149-10154.

- 12. Polakos NK, Drane D, Cox J, Ng P, Selby MJ, Chien D, *et al.* Characterization of hepatitis C virus core-specific immune responses primed in rhesus macaques by a nonclassical ISCOM vaccine. *J Immunol* 2001,**166**:3589-3598.
- 13. Casadevall A, Pirofski LA. A new synthesis for antibody-mediated immunity. *Nat Immunol* 2012,**13**:21-28.
- 14. Sillanpaa M, Melen K, Porkka P, Fagerlund R, Nevalainen K, Lappalainen M, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus core, NS3, NS4B and NS5A are the major immunogenic proteins in humoral immunity in chronic HCV infection. *Virol J* 2009,6:84.
- 15. Lang Kuhs KA, Toporovski R, Yan J, Ginsberg AA, Shedlock DJ, Weiner DB. Induction of intrahepatic HCV NS4B, NS5A and NS5B-specific cellular immune responses following peripheral immunization. *PLoS One* 2012,7:e52165.
- 16. Vajdy M, Selby M, Medina-Selby A, Coit D, Hall J, Tandeske L, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus polyprotein vaccine formulations capable of inducing broad antibody and cellular immune responses. *J Gen Virol* 2006,**87**:2253-2262.
- 17. Santra S, Seaman MS, Xu L, Barouch DH, Lord CI, Lifton MA, *et al.* Replicationdefective adenovirus serotype 5 vectors elicit durable cellular and humoral immune responses in nonhuman primates. *J Virol* 2005,**79**:6516-6522.
- 18. Tatsis N, Ertl HC. Adenoviruses as vaccine vectors. Mol Ther 2004,10:616-629.
- 19. Colloca S, Barnes E, Folgori A, Ammendola V, Capone S, Cirillo A, *et al.* Vaccine vectors derived from a large collection of simian adenoviruses induce potent cellular immunity across multiple species. *Sci Transl Med* 2012,4:115ra112.
- 20. Kuwano K, Reyes VE, Humphreys RE, Ennis FA. Recognition of disparate HA and NS1 peptides by an H-2Kd-restricted, influenza specific CTL clone. *Mol Immunol* 1991,**28**:1-7.
- 21. Loftus DJ, Chen Y, Covell DG, Engelhard VH, Appella E. Differential contact of disparate class I/peptide complexes as the basis for epitope cross-recognition by a single T cell receptor. *J Immunol* 1997,**158**:3651-3658.
- 22. Miller RH, Purcell RH. Hepatitis C virus shares amino acid sequence similarity with pestiviruses and flaviviruses as well as members of two plant virus supergroups. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1990,**87**:2057-2061.
- 23. Tellinghuisen TL, Marcotrigiano J, Gorbalenya AE, Rice CM. The NS5A protein of hepatitis C virus is a zinc metalloprotein. *J Biol Chem* 2004, **279**:48576-48587.
- 24. Gorbalenya AE, Blinov VM, Donchenko AP, Koonin EV. An NTP-binding motif is the most conserved sequence in a highly diverged monophyletic group of proteins involved in positive strand RNA viral replication. *J Mol Evol* 1989, **28**:256-268.

- 25. Poch O, Blumberg BM, Bougueleret L, Tordo N. Sequence comparison of five polymerases (L proteins) of unsegmented negative-strand RNA viruses: theoretical assignment of functional domains. *J Gen Virol* 1990,**71** (**Pt 5**):1153-1162.
- 26. Clute SC, Naumov YN, Watkin LB, Aslan N, Sullivan JL, Thorley-Lawson DA, *et al.* Broad cross-reactive TCR repertoires recognizing dissimilar Epstein-Barr and influenza A virus epitopes. *J Immunol* 2010,**185**:6753-6764.
- 27. Selin LK, Nahill SR, Welsh RM. Cross-reactivities in memory cytotoxic T lymphocyte recognition of heterologous viruses. *J Exp Med* 1994,**179**:1933-1943.
- 28. Welsh RM, Che JW, Brehm MA, Selin LK. Heterologous immunity between viruses. *Immunol Rev* 2010,**235**:244-266.
- 29. Kasprowicz V, Ward SM, Turner A, Grammatikos A, Nolan BE, Lewis-Ximenez L, *et al.* Defining the directionality and quality of influenza virus-specific CD8+ T cell cross-reactivity in individuals infected with hepatitis C virus. *J Clin Invest* 2008,**118**:1143-1153.
- 30. Wedemeyer H, Mizukoshi E, Davis AR, Bennink JR, Rehermann B. Cross-reactivity between hepatitis C virus and Influenza A virus determinant-specific cytotoxic T cells. *J Virol* 2001,**75**:11392-11400.
- 31. Urbani S, Amadei B, Fisicaro P, Pilli M, Missale G, Bertoletti A, *et al.* Heterologous T cell immunity in severe hepatitis C virus infection. *J Exp Med* 2005, **201**:675-680.

Bibliography

Chapter 1: Introduction to Hepatitis C Virus

- 1. Feinstone SM, Kapikian AZ, Purcell RH, Alter HJ, Holland PV. Transfusion-associated hepatitis not due to viral hepatitis type A or B. *N Engl J Med* 1975, **292**:767-770.
- 2. Choo QL, Kuo G, Weiner AJ, Overby LR, Bradley DW, Houghton M. Isolation of a cDNA clone derived from a blood-borne non-A, non-B viral hepatitis genome. *Science* 1989,**244**:359-362.
- 3. Kuo G, Choo QL, Alter HJ, Gitnick GL, Redeker AG, Purcell RH, *et al.* An assay for circulating antibodies to a major etiologic virus of human non-A, non-B hepatitis. *Science* 1989,**244**:362-364.
- 4. Alter MJ. Transmission of hepatitis C virus--route, dose, and titer. *N Engl J Med* 1994,**330**:784-786.
- Schreiber GB, Busch MP, Kleinman SH, Korelitz JJ. The risk of transfusion-transmitted viral infections. The Retrovirus Epidemiology Donor Study. N Engl J Med 1996,334:1685-1690.
- 6. Alter MJ. Epidemiology of hepatitis C. *Hepatology* 1997,**26**:62s-65s.
- 7. Alter MJ. Prevention of spread of hepatitis C. *Hepatology* 2002,**36**:S93-98.
- 8. Hauri AM, Armstrong GL, Hutin YJ. The global burden of disease attributable to contaminated injections given in health care settings. *Int J STD AIDS* 2004,**15**:7-16.
- 9. Mast EE, Hwang LY, Seto DS, Nolte FS, Nainan OV, Wurtzel H, *et al.* Risk factors for perinatal transmission of hepatitis C virus (HCV) and the natural history of HCV infection acquired in infancy. *J Infect Dis* 2005,**192**:1880-1889.
- 10. Berenguer M. Management of hepatitis C virus in the transplant patient. *Clin Liver Dis* 2007,**11**:355-376.
- 11. Mohd Hanafiah K, Groeger J, Flaxman AD, Wiersma ST. Global epidemiology of hepatitis C virus infection: new estimates of age-specific antibody to HCV seroprevalence. *Hepatology* 2013,**57**:1333-1342.
- 12. Davis GL, Alter MJ, El-Serag H, Poynard T, Jennings LW. Aging of hepatitis C virus (HCV)-infected persons in the United States: a multiple cohort model of HCV prevalence and disease progression. *Gastroenterology* 2010,**138**:513-521, 521.e511-516.
- 13. Gower E, Estes C, Blach S, Razavi-Shearer K, Razavi H. Global epidemiology and genotype distribution of the hepatitis C virus infection. *J Hepatol* 2014.
- 14. WHO. Global distribution of hepatitis A, B, and C, 2001. *WEEKLY EPIDEMIOLOGICAL RECORD* 2002,77:45-48.
- 15. Gower E, Estes C, Blach S, Razavi-Shearer K, Razavi H. Global epidemiology and genotype distribution of the hepatitis C virus infection. *J Hepatol* 2014,**61**:S45-57.
- 16. Yuasa T, Ishikawa G, Manabe S, Sekiguchi S, Takeuchi K, Miyamura T. The particle size of hepatitis C virus estimated by filtration through microporous regenerated cellulose fibre. *J Gen Virol* 1991,**72 (Pt 8)**:2021-2024.

- 17. Grakoui A, McCourt DW, Wychowski C, Feinstone SM, Rice CM. Characterization of the hepatitis C virus-encoded serine proteinase: determination of proteinase-dependent polyprotein cleavage sites. *J Virol* 1993,67:2832-2843.
- 18. Hijikata M, Kato N, Ootsuyama Y, Nakagawa M, Ohkoshi S, Shimotohno K. Hypervariable regions in the putative glycoprotein of hepatitis C virus. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 1991,175:220-228.
- 19. Santolini E, Migliaccio G, La Monica N. Biosynthesis and biochemical properties of the hepatitis C virus core protein. *J Virol* 1994,**68**:3631-3641.
- 20. Large MK, Kittlesen DJ, Hahn YS. Suppression of host immune response by the core protein of hepatitis C virus: possible implications for hepatitis C virus persistence. *J Immunol* 1999,**162**:931-938.
- 21. Shih CM, Lo SJ, Miyamura T, Chen SY, Lee YH. Suppression of hepatitis B virus expression and replication by hepatitis C virus core protein in HuH-7 cells. *J Virol* 1993,67:5823-5832.
- 22. Ray RB, Steele R, Meyer K, Ray R. Transcriptional repression of p53 promoter by hepatitis C virus core protein. *J Biol Chem* 1997, **272**:10983-10986.
- 23. Srinivas RV, Ray RB, Meyer K, Ray R. Hepatitis C virus core protein inhibits human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication. *Virus Res* 1996,45:87-92.
- 24. Bartosch B, Dubuisson J, Cosset FL. Infectious hepatitis C virus pseudo-particles containing functional E1-E2 envelope protein complexes. *J Exp Med* 2003,**197**:633-642.
- 25. Nielsen SU, Bassendine MF, Burt AD, Bevitt DJ, Toms GL. Characterization of the genome and structural proteins of hepatitis C virus resolved from infected human liver. *J Gen Virol* 2004,**85**:1497-1507.
- 26. Deleersnyder V, Pillez A, Wychowski C, Blight K, Xu J, Hahn YS, *et al.* Formation of native hepatitis C virus glycoprotein complexes. *J Virol* 1997,**71**:697-704.
- 27. McKeating JA, Zhang LQ, Logvinoff C, Flint M, Zhang J, Yu J, *et al.* Diverse hepatitis C virus glycoproteins mediate viral infection in a CD81-dependent manner. *J Virol* 2004,**78**:8496-8505.
- 28. Flint M, McKeating JA. The role of the hepatitis C virus glycoproteins in infection. *Rev Med Virol* 2000,**10**:101-117.
- 29. Rosa D, Campagnoli S, Moretto C, Guenzi E, Cousens L, Chin M, *et al.* A quantitative test to estimate neutralizing antibodies to the hepatitis C virus: cytofluorimetric assessment of envelope glycoprotein 2 binding to target cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1996,**93**:1759-1763.
- 30. Moradpour D, Penin F, Rice CM. Replication of hepatitis C virus. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 2007,**5**:453-463.
- 31. Baril M, Brakier-Gingras L. Translation of the F protein of hepatitis C virus is initiated at a non-AUG codon in a +1 reading frame relative to the polyprotein. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2005,**33**:1474-1486.

- 32. Samrat SK, Li W, Singh S, Kumar R, Agrawal B. Alternate reading frame protein (F protein) of hepatitis C virus: paradoxical effects of activation and apoptosis on human dendritic cells lead to stimulation of T cells. *PLoS One* 2014,**9**:e86567.
- 33. Carrere-Kremer S, Montpellier-Pala C, Cocquerel L, Wychowski C, Penin F, Dubuisson J. Subcellular localization and topology of the p7 polypeptide of hepatitis C virus. *J Virol* 2002,**76**:3720-3730.
- 34. Gonzalez ME, Carrasco L. Viroporins. FEBS Lett 2003,552:28-34.
- 35. Sakai A, Claire MS, Faulk K, Govindarajan S, Emerson SU, Purcell RH, *et al.* The p7 polypeptide of hepatitis C virus is critical for infectivity and contains functionally important genotype-specific sequences. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2003,**100**:11646-11651.
- 36. Bartenschlager R, Lohmann V, Wilkinson T, Koch JO. Complex formation between the NS3 serine-type proteinase of the hepatitis C virus and NS4A and its importance for polyprotein maturation. *J Virol* 1995,**69**:7519-7528.
- 37. Lin C, Thomson JA, Rice CM. A central region in the hepatitis C virus NS4A protein allows formation of an active NS3-NS4A serine proteinase complex in vivo and in vitro. *J Virol* 1995,**69**:4373-4380.
- 38. Tanji Y, Hijikata M, Satoh S, Kaneko T, Shimotohno K. Hepatitis C virus-encoded nonstructural protein NS4A has versatile functions in viral protein processing. *J Virol* 1995, **69**:1575-1581.
- 39. Kim JL, Morgenstern KA, Lin C, Fox T, Dwyer MD, Landro JA, *et al.* Crystal structure of the hepatitis C virus NS3 protease domain complexed with a synthetic NS4A cofactor peptide. *Cell* 1996,**87**:343-355.
- 40. Love RA, Parge HE, Wickersham JA, Hostomsky Z, Habuka N, Moomaw EW, *et al.* The crystal structure of hepatitis C virus NS3 proteinase reveals a trypsin-like fold and a structural zinc binding site. *Cell* 1996,**87**:331-342.
- 41. Yan Y, Li Y, Munshi S, Sardana V, Cole JL, Sardana M, *et al.* Complex of NS3 protease and NS4A peptide of BK strain hepatitis C virus: a 2.2 A resolution structure in a hexagonal crystal form. *Protein Sci* 1998,7:837-847.
- 42. Pawlotsky JM, McHutchison JG. Hepatitis C. Development of new drugs and clinical trials: promises and pitfalls. Summary of an AASLD hepatitis single topic conference, Chicago, IL, February 27-March 1, 2003. *Hepatology* 2004,**39**:554-567.
- 43. Gwack Y, Kim DW, Han JH, Choe J. DNA helicase activity of the hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 3. *Eur J Biochem* 1997, **250**:47-54.
- 44. Tai CL, Chi WK, Chen DS, Hwang LH. The helicase activity associated with hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 3 (NS3). *J Virol* 1996,**70**:8477-8484.
- 45. Failla C, Tomei L, De Francesco R. Both NS3 and NS4A are required for proteolytic processing of hepatitis C virus nonstructural proteins. *J Virol* 1994,**68**:3753-3760.
- 46. Bartenschlager R, Ahlborn-Laake L, Mous J, Jacobsen H. Kinetic and structural analyses of hepatitis C virus polyprotein processing. *J Virol* 1994,**68**:5045-5055.

- 47. Elazar M, Liu P, Rice CM, Glenn JS. An N-terminal amphipathic helix in hepatitis C virus (HCV) NS4B mediates membrane association, correct localization of replication complex proteins, and HCV RNA replication. *J Virol* 2004,**78**:11393-11400.
- 48. Egger D, Wolk B, Gosert R, Bianchi L, Blum HE, Moradpour D, *et al.* Expression of hepatitis C virus proteins induces distinct membrane alterations including a candidate viral replication complex. *J Virol* 2002,**76**:5974-5984.
- 49. Einav S, Gerber D, Bryson PD, Sklan EH, Elazar M, Maerkl SJ, *et al.* Discovery of a hepatitis C target and its pharmacological inhibitors by microfluidic affinity analysis. *Nat Biotechnol* 2008, **26**:1019-1027.
- 50. Stone M, Jia S, Heo WD, Meyer T, Konan KV. Participation of rab5, an early endosome protein, in hepatitis C virus RNA replication machinery. *J Virol* 2007,**81**:4551-4563.
- 51. Gao L, Aizaki H, He JW, Lai MM. Interactions between viral nonstructural proteins and host protein hVAP-33 mediate the formation of hepatitis C virus RNA replication complex on lipid raft. *J Virol* 2004,**78**:3480-3488.
- 52. Huang Y, Staschke K, De Francesco R, Tan SL. Phosphorylation of hepatitis C virus NS5A nonstructural protein: a new paradigm for phosphorylation-dependent viral RNA replication? *Virology* 2007,**364**:1-9.
- 53. Bressanelli S, Tomei L, Rey FA, De Francesco R. Structural analysis of the hepatitis C virus RNA polymerase in complex with ribonucleotides. *J Virol* 2002,**76**:3482-3492.
- 54. Ago H, Adachi T, Yoshida A, Yamamoto M, Habuka N, Yatsunami K, *et al.* Crystal structure of the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase of hepatitis C virus. *Structure* 1999,7:1417-1426.
- 55. Lesburg CA, Cable MB, Ferrari E, Hong Z, Mannarino AF, Weber PC. Crystal structure of the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase from hepatitis C virus reveals a fully encircled active site. *Nat Struct Biol* 1999,**6**:937-943.
- 56. Hong Z, Cameron CE, Walker MP, Castro C, Yao N, Lau JY, *et al.* A novel mechanism to ensure terminal initiation by hepatitis C virus NS5B polymerase. *Virology* 2001,**285**:6-11.
- 57. Cai Z, Yi M, Zhang C, Luo G. Mutagenesis analysis of the rGTP-specific binding site of hepatitis C virus RNA-dependent RNA polymerase. *J Virol* 2005,**79**:11607-11617.
- 58. Qin W, Luo H, Nomura T, Hayashi N, Yamashita T, Murakami S. Oligomeric interaction of hepatitis C virus NS5B is critical for catalytic activity of RNA-dependent RNA polymerase. *J Biol Chem* 2002,**277**:2132-2137.
- 59. Wang QM, Hockman MA, Staschke K, Johnson RB, Case KA, Lu J, *et al.* Oligomerization and cooperative RNA synthesis activity of hepatitis C virus RNA-dependent RNA polymerase. *J Virol* 2002,**76**:3865-3872.
- 60. Shirota Y, Luo H, Qin W, Kaneko S, Yamashita T, Kobayashi K, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus (HCV) NS5A binds RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRP) NS5B and modulates RNA-dependent RNA polymerase activity. *J Biol Chem* 2002,**277**:11149-11155.

- 61. Shimakami T, Hijikata M, Luo H, Ma YY, Kaneko S, Shimotohno K, *et al.* Effect of interaction between hepatitis C virus NS5A and NS5B on hepatitis C virus RNA replication with the hepatitis C virus replicon. *J Virol* 2004,**78**:2738-2748.
- 62. Ogata N, Alter HJ, Miller RH, Purcell RH. Nucleotide sequence and mutation rate of the H strain of hepatitis C virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1991,**88**:3392-3396.
- 63. Kato N, Ootsuyama Y, Ohkoshi S, Nakazawa T, Sekiya H, Hijikata M, *et al.* Characterization of hypervariable regions in the putative envelope protein of hepatitis C virus. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 1992,**189**:119-127.
- 64. Weiner AJ, Brauer MJ, Rosenblatt J, Richman KH, Tung J, Crawford K, *et al.* Variable and hypervariable domains are found in the regions of HCV corresponding to the flavivirus envelope and NS1 proteins and the pestivirus envelope glycoproteins. *Virology* 1991,**180**:842-848.
- 65. Smith DB, Simmonds P. Characteristics of nucleotide substitution in the hepatitis C virus genome: constraints on sequence change in coding regions at both ends of the genome. J *Mol Evol* 1997,**45**:238-246.
- 66. Farci P, Alter HJ, Govindarajan S, Wong DC, Engle R, Lesniewski RR, *et al.* Lack of protective immunity against reinfection with hepatitis C virus. *Science* 1992,**258**:135-140.
- 67. Hijikata M, Shimizu Y, Yoshikura H. [Hypervariable region specific formation of immune complexes in a plasma with quasispecies of hepatitis C virus]. *Nihon Rinsho* 1995,**53** Suppl:150-155.
- 68. Hijikata M. [Trends in molecular epidemiology of hepatitis B virus]. *Nihon Rinsho* 1995,**53 Suppl**:40-46.
- 69. Kojima M, Osuga T, Tsuda F, Tanaka T, Okamoto H. Influence of antibodies to the hypervariable region of E2/NS1 glycoprotein on the selective replication of hepatitis C virus in chimpanzees. *Virology* 1994,**204**:665-672.
- Okamoto H, Kojima M, Okada S, Yoshizawa H, Iizuka H, Tanaka T, *et al.* Genetic drift of hepatitis C virus during an 8.2-year infection in a chimpanzee: variability and stability. *Virology* 1992,190:894-899.
- Carpentier A, Conti F, Carriere M, Aoudjehane L, Miroux C, Morales O, et al. Analysis of gene transcription in sera during chronic hepatitis C infection. J Med Virol 2009,81:473-480.
- 72. Simmonds P, Bukh J, Combet C, Deleage G, Enomoto N, Feinstone S, *et al.* Consensus proposals for a unified system of nomenclature of hepatitis C virus genotypes. *Hepatology* 2005,**42**:962-973.
- 73. Wakita T, Pietschmann T, Kato T, Date T, Miyamoto M, Zhao Z, *et al.* Production of infectious hepatitis C virus in tissue culture from a cloned viral genome. *Nat Med* 2005,**11**:791-796.
- 74. Pileri P, Uematsu Y, Campagnoli S, Galli G, Falugi F, Petracca R, *et al.* Binding of hepatitis C virus to CD81. *Science* 1998, **282**:938-941.

- 75. Scarselli E, Ansuini H, Cerino R, Roccasecca RM, Acali S, Filocamo G, *et al.* The human scavenger receptor class B type I is a novel candidate receptor for the hepatitis C virus. *Embo j* 2002,**21**:5017-5025.
- 76. Bartosch B, Cosset FL. Cell entry of hepatitis C virus. Virology 2006,348:1-12.
- 77. Gardner JP, Durso RJ, Arrigale RR, Donovan GP, Maddon PJ, Dragic T, *et al.* L-SIGN (CD 209L) is a liver-specific capture receptor for hepatitis C virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2003,**100**:4498-4503.
- 78. Pohlmann S, Zhang J, Baribaud F, Chen Z, Leslie GJ, Lin G, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus glycoproteins interact with DC-SIGN and DC-SIGNR. *J Virol* 2003,77:4070-4080.
- 79. Evans MJ, von Hahn T, Tscherne DM, Syder AJ, Panis M, Wolk B, *et al.* Claudin-1 is a hepatitis C virus co-receptor required for a late step in entry. *Nature* 2007,**446**:801-805.
- 80. Miyanari Y, Atsuzawa K, Usuda N, Watashi K, Hishiki T, Zayas M, *et al.* The lipid droplet is an important organelle for hepatitis C virus production. *Nat Cell Biol* 2007,**9**:1089-1097.
- 81. Lindenbach BD, Evans MJ, Syder AJ, Wolk B, Tellinghuisen TL, Liu CC, *et al.* Complete replication of hepatitis C virus in cell culture. *Science* 2005,**309**:623-626.
- 82. Suzuki T, Aizaki H, Murakami K, Shoji I, Wakita T. Molecular biology of hepatitis C virus. *J Gastroenterol* 2007,**42**:411-423.
- 83. Blanchard E, Brand D, Trassard S, Goudeau A, Roingeard P. Hepatitis C virus-like particle morphogenesis. *J Virol* 2002,**76**:4073-4079.
- 84. Zoulim F, Chevallier M, Maynard M, Trepo C. Clinical consequences of hepatitis C virus infection. *Rev Med Virol* 2003,**13**:57-68.
- 85. Katze MG, He Y, Gale M, Jr. Viruses and interferon: a fight for supremacy. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2002,**2**:675-687.
- 86. Sen GC. Viruses and interferons. Annu Rev Microbiol 2001,55:255-281.
- 87. Horner SM, Gale M, Jr. Regulation of hepatic innate immunity by hepatitis C virus. *Nat Med* 2013,19:879-888.
- 88. Li Kea. Activation of chemokine and inflammatory cytokine response in HCV-infected hepatocytes depends on TLR3 sensing of HCV dsRNA intermediates. *Hepatology* 2011.
- 89. Wang N, Liang Y, Devaraj S, Wang J, Lemon SM, Li K. Toll-like receptor 3 mediates establishment of an antiviral state against hepatitis C virus in hepatoma cells. *J Virol* 2009,**83**:9824-9834.
- 90. Bode JG, Brenndorfer ED, Haussinger D. Hepatitis C virus (HCV) employs multiple strategies to subvert the host innate antiviral response. *Biol Chem* 2008,**389**:1283-1298.
- 91. Takagi H, Fukaya T, Eizumi K, Sato Y, Sato K, Shibazaki A, *et al.* Plasmacytoid dendritic cells are crucial for the initiation of inflammation and T cell immunity in vivo. *Immunity* 2011,**35**:958-971.
- 92. Foy E, Li K, Sumpter R, Jr., Loo YM, Johnson CL, Wang C, *et al.* Control of antiviral defenses through hepatitis C virus disruption of retinoic acid-inducible gene-I signaling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2005,**102**:2986-2991.

- 93. Li K, Foy E, Ferreon JC, Nakamura M, Ferreon AC, Ikeda M, *et al.* Immune evasion by hepatitis C virus NS3/4A protease-mediated cleavage of the Toll-like receptor 3 adaptor protein TRIF. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2005,**102**:2992-2997.
- 94. Meylan E, Curran J, Hofmann K, Moradpour D, Binder M, Bartenschlager R, *et al.* Cardif is an adaptor protein in the RIG-I antiviral pathway and is targeted by hepatitis C virus. *Nature* 2005,**437**:1167-1172.
- 95. Gale M, Jr., Kwieciszewski B, Dossett M, Nakao H, Katze MG. Antiapoptotic and oncogenic potentials of hepatitis C virus are linked to interferon resistance by viral repression of the PKR protein kinase. *J Virol* 1999,**73**:6506-6516.
- Ghosh AK, Steele R, Meyer K, Ray R, Ray RB. Hepatitis C virus NS5A protein modulates cell cycle regulatory genes and promotes cell growth. *J Gen Virol* 1999,80 (Pt 5):1179-1183.
- 97. Kaufman RJ. Double-stranded RNA-activated protein kinase mediates virus-induced apoptosis: a new role for an old actor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1999,**96**:11693-11695.
- 98. Sklan EH, Charuworn P, Pang PS, Glenn JS. Mechanisms of HCV survival in the host. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2009,**6**:217-227.
- 99. Corado J, Toro F, Rivera H, Bianco NE, Deibis L, De Sanctis JB. Impairment of natural killer (NK) cytotoxic activity in hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection. *Clin Exp Immunol* 1997,**109**:451-457.
- 100. Andoniou CE, Andrews DM, Degli-Esposti MA. Natural killer cells in viral infection: more than just killers. *Immunol Rev* 2006,**214**:239-250.
- 101. Amadei B, Urbani S, Cazaly A, Fisicaro P, Zerbini A, Ahmed P, et al. Activation of natural killer cells during acute infection with hepatitis C virus. *Gastroenterology* 2010,138:1536-1545.
- 102. Pelletier S, Drouin C, Bedard N, Khakoo SI, Bruneau J, Shoukry NH. Increased degranulation of natural killer cells during acute HCV correlates with the magnitude of virus-specific T cell responses. *J Hepatol* 2010,**53**:805-816.
- 103. Meier UC, Owen RE, Taylor E, Worth A, Naoumov N, Willberg C, *et al.* Shared alterations in NK cell frequency, phenotype, and function in chronic human immunodeficiency virus and hepatitis C virus infections. *J Virol* 2005,**79**:12365-12374.
- 104. Morishima C, Paschal DM, Wang CC, Yoshihara CS, Wood BL, Yeo AE, et al. Decreased NK cell frequency in chronic hepatitis C does not affect ex vivo cytolytic killing. *Hepatology* 2006,43:573-580.
- 105. Nattermann J, Feldmann G, Ahlenstiel G, Langhans B, Sauerbruch T, Spengler U. Surface expression and cytolytic function of natural killer cell receptors is altered in chronic hepatitis C. *Gut* 2006,**55**:869-877.
- 106. Kawarabayashi N, Seki S, Hatsuse K, Ohkawa T, Koike Y, Aihara T, *et al.* Decrease of CD56(+)T cells and natural killer cells in cirrhotic livers with hepatitis C may be involved in their susceptibility to hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hepatology* 2000,**32**:962-969.

- 107. Ahlenstiel G, Titerence RH, Koh C, Edlich B, Feld JJ, Rotman Y, *et al.* Natural killer cells are polarized toward cytotoxicity in chronic hepatitis C in an interferon-alfa-dependent manner. *Gastroenterology* 2010,**138**:325-335.e321-322.
- 108. Oliviero B, Varchetta S, Paudice E, Michelone G, Zaramella M, Mavilio D, *et al.* Natural killer cell functional dichotomy in chronic hepatitis B and chronic hepatitis C virus infections. *Gastroenterology* 2009,**137**:1151-1160, 1160.e1151-1157.
- 109. De Maria A, Fogli M, Mazza S, Basso M, Picciotto A, Costa P, *et al.* Increased natural cytotoxicity receptor expression and relevant IL-10 production in NK cells from chronically infected viremic HCV patients. *Eur J Immunol* 2007,**37**:445-455.
- 110. Jinushi M, Takehara T, Tatsumi T, Kanto T, Miyagi T, Suzuki T, *et al.* Negative regulation of NK cell activities by inhibitory receptor CD94/NKG2A leads to altered NK cell-induced modulation of dendritic cell functions in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *J Immunol* 2004,**173**:6072-6081.
- 111. Crotta S, Stilla A, Wack A, D'Andrea A, Nuti S, D'Oro U, *et al.* Inhibition of natural killer cells through engagement of CD81 by the major hepatitis C virus envelope protein. *J Exp Med* 2002,**195**:35-41.
- 112. Tseng CT, Klimpel GR. Binding of the hepatitis C virus envelope protein E2 to CD81 inhibits natural killer cell functions. *J Exp Med* 2002,**195**:43-49.
- 113. Herzer K, Falk CS, Encke J, Eichhorst ST, Ulsenheimer A, Seliger B, *et al.* Upregulation of major histocompatibility complex class I on liver cells by hepatitis C virus core protein via p53 and TAP1 impairs natural killer cell cytotoxicity. *J Virol* 2003,77:8299-8309.
- 114. Taniguchi M, Harada M, Kojo S, Nakayama T, Wakao H. The regulatory role of Valpha14 NKT cells in innate and acquired immune response. *Annu Rev Immunol* 2003,**21**:483-513.
- 115. Norris S, Doherty DG, Collins C, McEntee G, Traynor O, Hegarty JE, *et al.* Natural T cells in the human liver: cytotoxic lymphocytes with dual T cell and natural killer cell phenotype and function are phenotypically heterogenous and include Valpha24-JalphaQ and gammadelta T cell receptor bearing cells. *Hum Immunol* 1999,**60**:20-31.
- 116. Deignan T, Curry MP, Doherty DG, Golden-Mason L, Volkov Y, Norris S, et al. Decrease in hepatic CD56(+) T cells and V alpha 24(+) natural killer T cells in chronic hepatitis C viral infection. J Hepatol 2002,37:101-108.
- 117. Yamagiwa S, Matsuda Y, Ichida T, Honda Y, Takamura M, Sugahara S, *et al.* Sustained response to interferon-alpha plus ribavirin therapy for chronic hepatitis C is closely associated with increased dynamism of intrahepatic natural killer and natural killer T cells. *Hepatol Res* 2008,**38**:664-672.
- 118. de Lalla C, Galli G, Aldrighetti L, Romeo R, Mariani M, Monno A, *et al.* Production of profibrotic cytokines by invariant NKT cells characterizes cirrhosis progression in chronic viral hepatitis. *J Immunol* 2004,**173**:1417-1425.
- 119. Cao W, Liu YJ. Innate immune functions of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Curr Opin Immunol* 2007,19:24-30.

- 120. Yonkers NL, Rodriguez B, Milkovich KA, Asaad R, Lederman MM, Heeger PS, *et al.* TLR ligand-dependent activation of naive CD4 T cells by plasmacytoid dendritic cells is impaired in hepatitis C virus infection. *Journal of Immunology* 2007,**178**:4436-4444.
- 121. Averill L, Lee WM, Karandikar NJ. Differential dysfunction in dendritic cell subsets during chronic HCV infection. *Clin Immunol* 2007,**123**:40-49.
- 122. Kanto T, Inoue M, Miyatake H, Sato A, Sakakibara M, Yakushijin T, *et al.* Reduced numbers and impaired ability of myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells to polarize T helper cells in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *J Infect Dis* 2004,**190**:1919-1926.
- 123. Murakami H, Akbar SM, Matsui H, Horiike N, Onji M. Decreased interferon-alpha production and impaired T helper 1 polarization by dendritic cells from patients with chronic hepatitis C. *Clin Exp Immunol* 2004,**137**:559-565.
- 124. Shen T, Chen X, Chen Y, Xu Q, Lu F, Liu S. Increased PD-L1 expression and PD-L1/CD86 ratio on dendritic cells were associated with impaired dendritic cells function in HCV infection. *J Med Virol* 2010,82:1152-1159.
- 125. Dolganiuc A, Paek E, Kodys K, Thomas J, Szabo G. Myeloid dendritic cells of patients with chronic HCV infection induce proliferation of regulatory T lymphocytes. *Gastroenterology* 2008,**135**:2119-2127.
- 126. Frelin L, Brenndorfer ED, Ahlen G, Weiland M, Hultgren C, Alheim M, *et al.* The hepatitis C virus and immune evasion: non-structural 3/4A transgenic mice are resistant to lethal tumour necrosis factor alpha mediated liver disease. *Gut* 2006,**55**:1475-1483.
- 127. Langhans B, Kupfer B, Braunschweiger I, Arndt S, Schulte W, Nischalke HD, *et al.* Interferon-lambda serum levels in hepatitis C. *J Hepatol* 2011,**54**:859-865.
- 128. Li W, Krishnadas DK, Li J, Tyrrell DL, Agrawal B. Induction of primary human T cell responses against hepatitis C virus-derived antigens NS3 or core by autologous dendritic cells expressing hepatitis C virus antigens: potential for vaccine and immunotherapy. *J Immunol* 2006,**176**:6065-6075.
- 129. Li W, Krishnadas DK, Kumar R, Tyrrell DL, Agrawal B. Priming and stimulation of hepatitis C virus-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells against HCV antigens NS4, NS5a or NS5b from HCV-naive individuals: implications for prophylactic vaccine. *Int Immunol* 2008,20:89-104.
- 130. Li W, Li J, Tyrrell DL, Agrawal B. Expression of hepatitis C virus-derived core or NS3 antigens in human dendritic cells leads to induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines and normal T-cell stimulation capabilities. *J Gen Virol* 2006,**87**:61-72.
- 131. Krishnadas DK, Li W, Kumar R, Tyrrell LJ, Agrawal B. In vitro activation and differentiation of naive CD4(+) and CD8(+) T cells into HCV Core- and NS3-specific armed effector cells: A new role for CD4(+) T cells. *Cellular Immunology* 2009,259:141-149.
- 132. Rodrigue-Gervais IG, Jouan L, Beaule G, Sauve D, Bruneau J, Willems B, *et al.* Poly(I:C) and lipopolysaccharide innate sensing functions of circulating human myeloid dendritic cells are affected in vivo in hepatitis C virus-infected patients. *J Virol* 2007,**81**:5537-5546.

- 133. Rodrigue-Gervais IG, Rigsby H, Jouan L, Sauve D, Sekaly RP, Willems B, *et al.* Dendritic cell inhibition is connected to exhaustion of CD8+ T cell polyfunctionality during chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *J Immunol* 2010,**184**:3134-3144.
- 134. Brenndorfer ED, Sallberg M. Hepatitis C virus-mediated modulation of cellular immunity. *Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz)* 2012,60:315-329.
- 135. Mengshol JA, Golden-Mason L, Arikawa T, Smith M, Niki T, McWilliams R, *et al.* A crucial role for Kupffer cell-derived galectin-9 in regulation of T cell immunity in hepatitis C infection. *PLoS One* 2010,**5**:e9504.
- 136. Zhang Y, Ma CJ, Ni L, Zhang CL, Wu XY, Kumaraguru U, *et al.* Cross-talk between programmed death-1 and suppressor of cytokine signaling-1 in inhibition of IL-12 production by monocytes/macrophages in hepatitis C virus infection. *J Immunol* 2011,**186**:3093-3103.
- 137. Abe T, Kaname Y, Hamamoto I, Tsuda Y, Wen X, Taguwa S, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 5A modulates the toll-like receptor-MyD88-dependent signaling pathway in macrophage cell lines. *J Virol* 2007,**81**:8953-8966.
- 138. Duesberg U, von dem Bussche A, Kirschning CJ, Miyake K, Sauerbruch T, Spengler U. Cell activation by synthetic lipopeptides of the hepatitis C virus (HCV) core protein is mediated by toll like receptors (TLRs) 2 and 4. *Immunology Letters* 2002,**84**:89-95.
- 139. Szabo G, Dolganiuc A. Subversion of plasmacytoid and myeloid dendritic cell functions in chronic HCV infection. *Immunobiology* 2005,**210**:237-247.
- 140. Parren PW, Burton DR. The antiviral activity of antibodies in vitro and in vivo. Adv Immunol 2001,77:195-262.
- 141. Peterson J, Green G, Iida K, Caldwell B, Kerrison P, Bernich S, *et al.* Detection of hepatitis C core antigen in the antibody negative 'window' phase of hepatitis C infection. *Vox Sang* 2000,**78**:80-85.
- 142. Zein NN, Li H, Persing DH. Humoral immunity in acute and chronic hepatitis C infection. *Gastroenterology* 1999,**117**:510.
- 143. Tsai SL, Liaw YF, Chen MH, Huang CY, Kuo GC. Detection of type 2-like T-helper cells in hepatitis C virus infection: implications for hepatitis C virus chronicity. *Hepatology* 1997,**25**:449-458.
- 144. Farci P, Alter HJ, Wong DC, Miller RH, Govindarajan S, Engle R, *et al.* Prevention of hepatitis C virus infection in chimpanzees after antibody-mediated in vitro neutralization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1994,**91**:7792-7796.
- 145. Pestka JM, Zeisel MB, Blaser E, Schurmann P, Bartosch B, Cosset FL, *et al.* Rapid induction of virus-neutralizing antibodies and viral clearance in a single-source outbreak of hepatitis C. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2007,**104**:6025-6030.
- 146. Lavillette D, Morice Y, Germanidis G, Donot P, Soulier A, Pagkalos E, *et al.* Human serum facilitates hepatitis C virus infection, and neutralizing responses inversely correlate with viral replication kinetics at the acute phase of hepatitis C virus infection. *J Virol* 2005,**79**:6023-6034.

- 147. Nielsen SU, Bassendine MF, Burt AD, Martin C, Pumeechockchai W, Toms GL. Association between hepatitis C virus and very-low-density lipoprotein (VLDL)/LDL analyzed in iodixanol density gradients. *J Virol* 2006,**80**:2418-2428.
- 148. Helle F, Goffard A, Morel V, Duverlie G, McKeating J, Keck ZY, *et al.* The neutralizing activity of anti-hepatitis C virus antibodies is modulated by specific glycans on the E2 envelope protein. *J Virol* 2007,**81**:8101-8111.
- 149. Falkowska E, Kajumo F, Garcia E, Reinus J, Dragic T. Hepatitis C virus envelope glycoprotein E2 glycans modulate entry, CD81 binding, and neutralization. *J Virol* 2007,**81**:8072-8079.
- 150. Timpe JM, Stamataki Z, Jennings A, Hu K, Farquhar MJ, Harris HJ, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus cell-cell transmission in hepatoma cells in the presence of neutralizing antibodies. *Hepatology* 2008,**47**:17-24.
- 151. Farci P, Shimoda A, Wong D, Cabezon T, De Gioannis D, Strazzera A, *et al.* Prevention of hepatitis C virus infection in chimpanzees by hyperimmune serum against the hypervariable region 1 of the envelope 2 protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1996,**93**:15394-15399.
- 152. Shimizu YK, Hijikata M, Iwamoto A, Alter HJ, Purcell RH, Yoshikura H. Neutralizing antibodies against hepatitis C virus and the emergence of neutralization escape mutant viruses. *J Virol* 1994,**68**:1494-1500.
- 153. Tonomura N, McLaughlin K, Grimm L, Goldsby RA, Osborne BA. Glucocorticoidinduced apoptosis of thymocytes: requirement of proteasome-dependent mitochondrial activity. *J Immunol* 2003,**170**:2469-2478.
- 154. Nakamura I, Imawari M. Cellular immune response in HCV infection. *J Gastroenterol* 2000,**35**:881-889.
- 155. Neumann-Haefelin C, Blum HE, Chisari FV, Thimme R. T cell response in hepatitis C virus infection. *J Clin Virol* 2005,**32**:75-85.
- 156. Schulze zur Wiesch J, Lauer GM, Day CL, Kim AY, Ouchi K, Duncan JE, *et al.* Broad repertoire of the CD4+ Th cell response in spontaneously controlled hepatitis C virus infection includes dominant and highly promiscuous epitopes. *J Immunol* 2005,175:3603-3613.
- 157. Rosen HR, Miner C, Sasaki AW, Lewinsohn DM, Conrad AJ, Bakke A, *et al.* Frequencies of HCV-specific effector CD4+ T cells by flow cytometry: correlation with clinical disease stages. *Hepatology* 2002,**35**:190-198.
- 158. Grakoui A, Shoukry NH, Woollard DJ, Han JH, Hanson HL, Ghrayeb J, *et al.* HCV persistence and immune evasion in the absence of memory T cell help. *Science* 2003,**302**:659-662.
- 159. Ulsenheimer A, Gerlach JT, Gruener NH, Jung MC, Schirren CA, Schraut W, *et al.* Detection of functionally altered hepatitis C virus-specific CD4 T cells in acute and chronic hepatitis C. *Hepatology* 2003,**37**:1189-1198.

- 160. Folgori A, Spada E, Pezzanera M, Ruggeri L, Mele A, Garbuglia AR, *et al.* Early impairment of hepatitis C virus specific T cell proliferation during acute infection leads to failure of viral clearance. *Gut* 2006,**55**:1012-1019.
- 161. Schulze Zur Wiesch J, Ciuffreda D, Lewis-Ximenez L, Kasprowicz V, Nolan BE, Streeck H, et al. Broadly directed virus-specific CD4+ T cell responses are primed during acute hepatitis C infection, but rapidly disappear from human blood with viral persistence. J Exp Med 2012,209:61-75.
- 162. Gerlach JT, Diepolder HM, Jung MC, Gruener NH, Schraut WW, Zachoval R, *et al.* Recurrence of hepatitis C virus after loss of virus-specific CD4(+) T-cell response in acute hepatitis C. *Gastroenterology* 1999,**117**:933-941.
- 163. Fuller MJ, Hildeman DA, Sabbaj S, Gaddis DE, Tebo AE, Shang L, *et al.* Cutting edge: emergence of CD127high functionally competent memory T cells is compromised by high viral loads and inadequate T cell help. *J Immunol* 2005,**174**:5926-5930.
- 164. Brooks DG, Teyton L, Oldstone MB, McGavern DB. Intrinsic functional dysregulation of CD4 T cells occurs rapidly following persistent viral infection. J Virol 2005,79:10514-10527.
- 165. Bowen DG, Walker CM. Adaptive immune responses in acute and chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *Nature* 2005,**436**:946-952.
- 166. Lauer GM, Barnes E, Lucas M, Timm J, Ouchi K, Kim AY, *et al.* High resolution analysis of cellular immune responses in resolved and persistent hepatitis C virus infection. *Gastroenterology* 2004,**127**:924-936.
- 167. Gruner NH, Gerlach TJ, Jung MC, Diepolder HM, Schirren CA, Schraut WW, *et al.* Association of hepatitis C virus-specific CD8+ T cells with viral clearance in acute hepatitis C. *J Infect Dis* 2000,**181**:1528-1536.
- 168. Cucchiarini M, Kammer AR, Grabscheid B, Diepolder HM, Gerlach TJ, Gruner N, *et al.* Vigorous peripheral blood cytotoxic T cell response during the acute phase of hepatitis C virus infection. *Cell Immunol* 2000,**203**:111-123.
- 169. Cooper S, Erickson AL, Adams EJ, Kansopon J, Weiner AJ, Chien DY, *et al.* Analysis of a successful immune response against hepatitis C virus. *Immunity* 1999,**10**:439-449.
- 170. Lechner F, Wong DK, Dunbar PR, Chapman R, Chung RT, Dohrenwend P, *et al.* Analysis of successful immune responses in persons infected with hepatitis C virus. *J Exp Med* 2000,**191**:1499-1512.
- 171. Lechner F, Gruener NH, Urbani S, Uggeri J, Santantonio T, Kammer AR, *et al.* CD8+ T lymphocyte responses are induced during acute hepatitis C virus infection but are not sustained. *Eur J Immunol* 2000,**30**:2479-2487.
- 172. Thimme R, Bukh J, Spangenberg HC, Wieland S, Pemberton J, Steiger C, *et al.* Viral and immunological determinants of hepatitis C virus clearance, persistence, and disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2002,99:15661-15668.
- 173. Chang KM, Thimme R, Melpolder JJ, Oldach D, Pemberton J, Moorhead-Loudis J, *et al.* Differential CD4(+) and CD8(+) T-cell responsiveness in hepatitis C virus infection. *Hepatology* 2001,**33**:267-276.

- 174. Lau LL, Jamieson BD, Somasundaram T, Ahmed R. Cytotoxic T-cell memory without antigen. *Nature* 1994, **369**:648-652.
- 175. Veiga-Fernandes H, Walter U, Bourgeois C, McLean A, Rocha B. Response of naive and memory CD8+ T cells to antigen stimulation in vivo. *Nat Immunol* 2000,1:47-53.
- 176. Abel M, Sene D, Pol S, Bourliere M, Poynard T, Charlotte F, *et al.* Intrahepatic virusspecific IL-10-producing CD8 T cells prevent liver damage during chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *Hepatology* 2006,44:1607-1616.
- 177. Alatrakchi N, Graham CS, van der Vliet HJ, Sherman KE, Exley MA, Koziel MJ. Hepatitis C virus (HCV)-specific CD8+ cells produce transforming growth factor beta that can suppress HCV-specific T-cell responses. *J Virol* 2007,**81**:5882-5892.
- Brooks DG, Trifilo MJ, Edelmann KH, Teyton L, McGavern DB, Oldstone MB. Interleukin-10 determines viral clearance or persistence in vivo. *Nat Med* 2006,12:1301-1309.
- 179. Ejrnaes M, Filippi CM, Martinic MM, Ling EM, Togher LM, Crotty S, *et al.* Resolution of a chronic viral infection after interleukin-10 receptor blockade. *J Exp Med* 2006,**203**:2461-2472.
- 180. Kaplan DE, Ikeda F, Li Y, Nakamoto N, Ganesan S, Valiga ME, *et al.* Peripheral virusspecific T-cell interleukin-10 responses develop early in acute hepatitis C infection and become dominant in chronic hepatitis. *J Hepatol* 2008,**48**:903-913.
- Marie JC, Letterio JJ, Gavin M, Rudensky AY. TGF-beta1 maintains suppressor function and Foxp3 expression in CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J Exp Med* 2005,201:1061-1067.
- 182. Wedemeyer H, He XS, Nascimbeni M, Davis AR, Greenberg HB, Hoofnagle JH, *et al.* Impaired effector function of hepatitis C virus-specific CD8+ T cells in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *J Immunol* 2002,**169**:3447-3458.
- 183. Bengsch B, Seigel B, Ruhl M, Timm J, Kuntz M, Blum HE, et al. Coexpression of PD-1, 2B4, CD160 and KLRG1 on exhausted HCV-specific CD8+ T cells is linked to antigen recognition and T cell differentiation. PLoS Pathog 2010,6:e1000947.
- 184. Golden-Mason L, Palmer BE, Kassam N, Townshend-Bulson L, Livingston S, McMahon BJ, *et al.* Negative immune regulator Tim-3 is overexpressed on T cells in hepatitis C virus infection and its blockade rescues dysfunctional CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. *J Virol* 2009,**83**:9122-9130.
- 185. Nakamoto N, Cho H, Shaked A, Olthoff K, Valiga ME, Kaminski M, *et al.* Synergistic reversal of intrahepatic HCV-specific CD8 T cell exhaustion by combined PD-1/CTLA-4 blockade. *PLoS Pathog* 2009,**5**:e1000313.
- 186. Boettler T, Spangenberg HC, Neumann-Haefelin C, Panther E, Urbani S, Ferrari C, et al. T cells with a CD4+CD25+ regulatory phenotype suppress in vitro proliferation of virus-specific CD8+ T cells during chronic hepatitis C virus infection. J Virol 2005,79:7860-7867.
- 187. Cabrera R, Tu Z, Xu Y, Firpi RJ, Rosen HR, Liu C, et al. An immunomodulatory role for CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T lymphocytes in hepatitis C virus infection. *Hepatology* 2004,40:1062-1071.

- 188. Rushbrook SM, Ward SM, Unitt E, Vowler SL, Lucas M, Klenerman P, *et al.* Regulatory T cells suppress in vitro proliferation of virus-specific CD8+ T cells during persistent hepatitis C virus infection. *J Virol* 2005,**79**:7852-7859.
- 189. Li S, Floess S, Hamann A, Gaudieri S, Lucas A, Hellard M, *et al.* Analysis of FOXP3+ regulatory T cells that display apparent viral antigen specificity during chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *PLoS Pathog* 2009,**5**:e1000707.
- 190. Manigold T, Shin EC, Mizukoshi E, Mihalik K, Murthy KK, Rice CM, *et al.* Foxp3+CD4+CD25+ T cells control virus-specific memory T cells in chimpanzees that recovered from hepatitis C. *Blood* 2006,**107**:4424-4432.
- 191. Brenndorfer ED, Brass A, Soderholm J, Frelin L, Aleman S, Bode JG, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus non-structural 3/4A protein interferes with intrahepatic interferon-gamma production. *Gut* 2012,**61**:589-596.
- 192. Riezu-Boj JI, Larrea E, Aldabe R, Guembe L, Casares N, Galeano E, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus induces the expression of CCL17 and CCL22 chemokines that attract regulatory T cells to the site of infection. *J Hepatol* 2011,**54**:422-431.
- 193. Selin LK, Wlodarczyk MF, Kraft AR, Nie S, Kenney LL, Puzone R, *et al.* Heterologous immunity: immunopathology, autoimmunity and protection during viral infections. *Autoimmunity* 2011,44:328-347.
- 194. Venturi V, Rudd BD, Davenport MP. Specificity, promiscuity, and precursor frequency in immunoreceptors. *Curr Opin Immunol* 2013,**25**:639-645.
- 195. Ekeruche-Makinde J, Miles JJ, van den Berg HA, Skowera A, Cole DK, Dolton G, *et al.* Peptide length determines the outcome of TCR/peptide-MHCI engagement. *Blood* 2013,**121**:1112-1123.
- 196. Nakagawa Y, Kikuchi H, Takahashi H. Molecular analysis of TCR and peptide/MHC interaction using P18-I10-derived peptides with a single D-amino acid substitution. *Biophys J* 2007,**92**:2570-2582.
- 197. Wilson DB, Wilson DH, Schroder K, Pinilla C, Blondelle S, Houghten RA, *et al.* Specificity and degeneracy of T cells. *Mol Immunol* 2004,**40**:1047-1055.
- 198. Amrani A, Serra P, Yamanouchi J, Trudeau JD, Tan R, Elliott JF, *et al.* Expansion of the antigenic repertoire of a single T cell receptor upon T cell activation. *J Immunol* 2001,**167**:655-666.
- 199. Nie S, Lin SJ, Kim SK, Welsh RM, Selin LK. Pathological features of heterologous immunity are regulated by the private specificities of the immune repertoire. *Am J Pathol* 2010,**176**:2107-2112.
- 200. Kasprowicz V, Ward SM, Turner A, Grammatikos A, Nolan BE, Lewis-Ximenez L, *et al.* Defining the directionality and quality of influenza virus-specific CD8+ T cell cross-reactivity in individuals infected with hepatitis C virus. *J Clin Invest* 2008,**118**:1143-1153.
- 201. Chen HD, Fraire AE, Joris I, Welsh RM, Selin LK. Specific history of heterologous virus infections determines anti-viral immunity and immunopathology in the lung. *Am J Pathol* 2003,**163**:1341-1355.

- 202. Brehm MA, Pinto AK, Daniels KA, Schneck JP, Welsh RM, Selin LK. T cell immunodominance and maintenance of memory regulated by unexpectedly cross-reactive pathogens. *Nat Immunol* 2002,**3**:627-634.
- 203. Wedemeyer H, Mizukoshi E, Davis AR, Bennink JR, Rehermann B. Cross-reactivity between hepatitis C virus and Influenza A virus determinant-specific cytotoxic T cells. *J Virol* 2001,**75**:11392-11400.
- 204. Shoukry NH, Grakoui A, Houghton M, Chien DY, Ghrayeb J, Reimann KA, *et al.* Memory CD8+ T cells are required for protection from persistent hepatitis C virus infection. *J Exp Med* 2003,**197**:1645-1655.
- 205. Mehta SH, Cox A, Hoover DR, Wang XH, Mao Q, Ray S, et al. Protection against persistence of hepatitis C. Lancet 2002,359:1478-1483.
- 206. Bassett SE, Guerra B, Brasky K, Miskovsky E, Houghton M, Klimpel GR, *et al.* Protective immune response to hepatitis C virus in chimpanzees rechallenged following clearance of primary infection. *Hepatology* 2001,33:1479-1487.
- 207. Nascimbeni M, Mizukoshi E, Bosmann M, Major ME, Mihalik K, Rice CM, *et al.* Kinetics of CD4+ and CD8+ memory T-cell responses during hepatitis C virus rechallenge of previously recovered chimpanzees. *J Virol* 2003,**77**:4781-4793.
- 208. Major ME, Mihalik K, Puig M, Rehermann B, Nascimbeni M, Rice CM, *et al.* Previously infected and recovered chimpanzees exhibit rapid responses that control hepatitis C virus replication upon rechallenge. *Journal of Virology* 2002,**76**:6586-6595.
- 209. Rauch A, Gaudieri S, Thio C, Bochud PY. Host genetic determinants of spontaneous hepatitis C clearance. *Pharmacogenomics* 2009,**10**:1819-1837.
- 210. Neumann-Haefelin C, Thimme R. Impact of the genetic restriction of virus-specific T-cell responses in hepatitis C virus infection. *Genes Immun* 2007,**8**:181-192.
- 211. Bellanti F, Vendemiale G, Altomare E, Serviddio G. The impact of interferon lambda 3 gene polymorphism on natural course and treatment of hepatitis C. *Clin Dev Immunol* 2012,**2012**:849373.
- 212. Shoukry NH, Cawthon AG, Walker CM. Cell-mediated immunity and the outcome of hepatitis C virus infection. *Annu Rev Microbiol* 2004,**58**:391-424.
- 213. Wahid A, Dubuisson J. Virus-neutralizing antibodies to hepatitis C virus. *J Viral Hepat* 2013, **20**:369-376.
- 214. Stamataki Z, Coates S, Evans MJ, Wininger M, Crawford K, Dong C, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus envelope glycoprotein immunization of rodents elicits cross-reactive neutralizing antibodies. *Vaccine* 2007, **25**:7773-7784.
- 215. Lin Y, Kwon T, Polo J, Zhu YF, Coates S, Crawford K, et al. Induction of broad CD4+ and CD8+ T-cell responses and cross-neutralizing antibodies against hepatitis C virus by vaccination with Th1-adjuvanted polypeptides followed by defective alphaviral particles expressing envelope glycoproteins gpE1 and gpE2 and nonstructural proteins 3, 4, and 5. J Virol 2008,82:7492-7503.

- 216. Law JL, Chen C, Wong J, Hockman D, Santer DM, Frey SE, et al. A hepatitis C virus (HCV) vaccine comprising envelope glycoproteins gpE1/gpE2 derived from a single isolate elicits broad cross-genotype neutralizing antibodies in humans. *PLoS One* 2013,8:e59776.
- 217. Raghuraman S, Park H, Osburn WO, Winkelstein E, Edlin BR, Rehermann B. Spontaneous clearance of chronic hepatitis C virus infection is associated with appearance of neutralizing antibodies and reversal of T-cell exhaustion. *J Infect Dis* 2012,**205**:763-771.
- Osburn WO, Snider AE, Wells BL, Latanich R, Bailey JR, Thomas DL, et al. Clearance of hepatitis C infection is associated with the early appearance of broad neutralizing antibody responses. *Hepatology* 2014,59:2140-2151.
- 219. Osburn WO, Fisher BE, Dowd KA, Urban G, Liu L, Ray SC, et al. Spontaneous control of primary hepatitis C virus infection and immunity against persistent reinfection. *Gastroenterology* 2010,**138**:315-324.
- 220. Houghton M. Prospects for prophylactic and therapeutic vaccines against the hepatitis C viruses. *Immunol Rev* 2011,**239**:99-108.
- 221. Frey SE, Houghton M, Coates S, Abrignani S, Chien D, Rosa D, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of HCV E1E2 vaccine adjuvanted with MF59 administered to healthy adults. *Vaccine* 2010, **28**:6367-6373.
- 222. Meunier JC, Gottwein JM, Houghton M, Russell RS, Emerson SU, Bukh J, *et al.* Vaccineinduced cross-genotype reactive neutralizing antibodies against hepatitis C virus. *J Infect Dis* 2011,**204**:1186-1190.
- 223. Stamataki Z, Coates S, Abrignani S, Houghton M, McKeating JA. Immunization of human volunteers with hepatitis C virus envelope glycoproteins elicits antibodies that cross-neutralize heterologous virus strains. In: *J Infect Dis*. United States; 2011. pp. 811-813.
- 224. Folgori A, Capone S, Ruggeri L, Meola A, Sporeno E, Ercole BB, *et al.* A T-cell HCV vaccine eliciting effective immunity against heterologous virus challenge in chimpanzees. *Nat Med* 2006,**12**:190-197.
- 225. Barnes E, Folgori A, Capone S, Swadling L, Aston S, Kurioka A, *et al.* Novel adenovirusbased vaccines induce broad and sustained T cell responses to HCV in man. *Sci Transl Med* 2012,4:115ra111.
- 226. Drane D, Maraskovsky E, Gibson R, Mitchell S, Barnden M, Moskwa A, *et al.* Priming of CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses using a HCV core ISCOMATRIX vaccine: a phase I study in healthy volunteers. *Hum Vaccin* 2009,**5**:151-157.
- 227. Habersetzer F, Honnet G, Bain C, Maynard-Muet M, Leroy V, Zarski JP, *et al.* A poxvirus vaccine is safe, induces T-cell responses, and decreases viral load in patients with chronic hepatitis C. *Gastroenterology* 2011,**141**:890-899.e891-894.
- 228. H W, E J-K, M W, al e. Significant improvement of complete EVR in HCVac phase II clinical trial when adding TG4040 therapeutic vaccine to PegIFNα2a and ribavirin. *J Hepatol* 2012,**56**
- 229. Aman W, Mousa S, Shiha G, Mousa SA. Current status and future directions in the management of chronic hepatitis C. *Virol J* 2012,**9**:57.

- 230. Bacon BR, Gordon SC, Lawitz E, Marcellin P, Vierling JM, Zeuzem S, *et al.* Boceprevir for previously treated chronic HCV genotype 1 infection. *N Engl J Med* 2011,**364**:1207-1217.
- 231. Poordad F, McCone J, Jr., Bacon BR, Bruno S, Manns MP, Sulkowski MS, *et al.* Boceprevir for untreated chronic HCV genotype 1 infection. *N Engl J Med* 2011,**364**:1195-1206.
- 232. Jacobson IM, McHutchison JG, Dusheiko G, Di Bisceglie AM, Reddy KR, Bzowej NH, *et al.* Telaprevir for previously untreated chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *N Engl J Med* 2011,**364**:2405-2416.
- 233. Zeuzem S, Andreone P, Pol S, Lawitz E, Diago M, Roberts S, et al. Telaprevir for retreatment of HCV infection. N Engl J Med 2011,364:2417-2428.
- 234. Gane EJ, Stedman CA, Hyland RH, Ding X, Svarovskaia E, Symonds WT, *et al.* Nucleotide polymerase inhibitor sofosbuvir plus ribavirin for hepatitis C. *N Engl J Med* 2013,**368**:34-44.
- 235. Lawitz E, Mangia A, Wyles D, Rodriguez-Torres M, Hassanein T, Gordon SC, *et al.* Sofosbuvir for previously untreated chronic hepatitis C infection. *N Engl J Med* 2013,**368**:1878-1887.
- 236. Manns M, Marcellin P, Poordad F, de Araujo ES, Buti M, Horsmans Y, *et al.* Simeprevir with pegylated interferon alfa 2a or 2b plus ribavirin in treatment-naive patients with chronic hepatitis C virus genotype 1 infection (QUEST-2): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. *Lancet* 2014,**384**:414-426.
- 237. Jacobson IM, Dore GJ, Foster GR, Fried MW, Radu M, Rafalsky VV, *et al.* Simeprevir with pegylated interferon alfa 2a plus ribavirin in treatment-naive patients with chronic hepatitis C virus genotype 1 infection (QUEST-1): a phase 3, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* 2014,**384**:403-413.
- 238. Jacobson IM, Gordon SC, Kowdley KV, Yoshida EM, Rodriguez-Torres M, Sulkowski MS, *et al.* Sofosbuvir for hepatitis C genotype 2 or 3 in patients without treatment options. *N Engl J Med* 2013,**368**:1867-1877.
- 239. Zeuzem S, Dusheiko G, Salupere R, Mangia A, Flisiak R, Hyland R, *et al.* Sofosbuvir plus Ribavirin for 12 or 24 Weeks for Patients with HCV Genotype 2 or 3: the VALENCE trial. *Hepatology* 2013,**58**:733A-734A.
- 240. Jacobson I, Ghalib R, Rodriguez-Torres M, Younossi Z, Corregidor A, Sulkowski M, *et al.* SVR results of a once-daily regimen of simeprevir (TMC435) plus sofosbuvir (GS-7977) with or without ribavirin in cirrhotic and non-cirrhotic HCV genotype 1 treatment-naive and prior null responder patients: The COSMOS study. *Hepatology* 2013,**58**:1379A-1380A.
- 241. Sulkowski MS, Gardiner DF, Rodriguez-Torres M, Reddy KR, Hassanein T, Jacobson I, *et al.* Daclatasvir plus sofosbuvir for previously treated or untreated chronic HCV infection. *N Engl J Med* 2014,**370**:211-221.
- 242. Kowdley K, Lawitz E, Poordad F, Cohen D, Nelson D, Zeuzem S, *et al.* Phase 2b Trial of Interferon-free Therapy for Hepatitis C Virus Genotype 1. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2014,**370**:222-232.
- 243. Lawitz E, Poordad F, Pang P. Sofosbuvir and ledipasvir fixed-dose combination with and without ribavirin in treatment-naive and previously treated patients with genotype 1 hepatitis C virus infection (LONESTAR): an open-label, randomised, phase 2 trial (vol 383, pg 515, 2014). *Lancet* 2014,**383**:870-870.
- 244. Lawitz E, Gane EJ. Sofosbuvir for previously untreated chronic hepatitis C infection. *N Engl J Med* 2013,**369**:678-679.
- 245. Chayama K, Suzuki Y, Ikeda K, Toyota J, Karino Y, Kawakami Y, *et al.* All-oral Combination of Daclatasvir Plus Asunaprevir in Interferon Ineligible Naive/Intolerant and Nonresponder Japanese Patients Chronically Infected with HCV Genotype 1b: Results from a Phase 3 Trial. *Hepatology* 2013,**58**:313A-313A.
- 246. Jensen D, Asselah, T., Dieterich, D. T., Foster, G., Sulkowski, M., & Zeuzem, S. A pooled analysis of two randomized, doubleblindplacebo-controlled Phase III trials (STARTVerso1&2) offaldaprevir plus pegylated interferon a-2a and ribavirin intreatmentnaive patients with chronic hepatitis C genotype-1infection. *Hepatology* 2013,58 (Suppl.).
- 247. Harrington M. State of the (research) chimp. In: *Lab Anim (NY)*. United States; 2012. pp. 31.
- 248. Hiasa Y, Takahashi H, Shimizu M, Nuriya H, Tsukiyama-Kohara K, Tanaka T, *et al.* Major histocompatibility complex class-I presentation impaired in transgenic mice expressing hepatitis C virus structural proteins during dendritic cell maturation. *J Med Virol* 2004,74:253-261.
- 249. Washburn ML, Bility MT, Zhang L, Kovalev GI, Buntzman A, Frelinger JA, *et al.* A humanized mouse model to study hepatitis C virus infection, immune response, and liver disease. *Gastroenterology* 2011,**140**:1334-1344.
- 250. Xie ZC, Riezu-Boj JI, Lasarte JJ, Guillen J, Su JH, Civeira MP, *et al.* Transmission of hepatitis C virus infection to tree shrews. *Virology* 1998,**244**:513-520.
- 251. Mercer DF, Schiller DE, Elliott JF, Douglas DN, Hao C, Rinfret A, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus replication in mice with chimeric human livers. *Nat Med* 2001,7:927-933.
- 252. Walters KA, Joyce MA, Thompson JC, Smith MW, Yeh MM, Proll S, *et al.* Host-specific response to HCV infection in the chimeric SCID-beige/Alb-uPA mouse model: role of the innate antiviral immune response. *PLoS Pathog* 2006,**2**:e59.
- 253. Kneteman NM, Weiner AJ, O'Connell J, Collett M, Gao T, Aukerman L, *et al.* Anti-HCV therapies in chimeric scid-Alb/uPA mice parallel outcomes in human clinical application. *Hepatology* 2006,**43**:1346-1353.
- 254. Kamiya N, Iwao E, Hiraga N, Tsuge M, Imamura M, Takahashi S, *et al.* Practical evaluation of a mouse with chimeric human liver model for hepatitis C virus infection using an NS3-4A protease inhibitor. *J Gen Virol* 2010,**91**:1668-1677.
- 255. Dorner M, Horwitz JA, Robbins JB, Barry WT, Feng Q, Mu K, et al. A genetically humanized mouse model for hepatitis C virus infection. *Nature* 2011,474:208-211.

- 256. Dorner M, Ploss A. Deconstructing hepatitis C virus infection in humanized mice. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 2011,**1245**:59-62.
- 257. Pancholi P, Perkus M, Tricoche N, Liu Q, Prince AM. DNA immunization with hepatitis C virus (HCV) polycistronic genes or immunization by HCV DNA priming-recombinant canarypox virus boosting induces immune responses and protection from recombinant HCV-vaccinia virus infection in HLA-A2.1-transgenic mice. *J Virol* 2003,77:382-390.
- 258. Murata K, Lechmann M, Qiao M, Gunji T, Alter HJ, Liang TJ. Immunization with hepatitis C virus-like particles protects mice from recombinant hepatitis C virus-vaccinia infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2003,**100**:6753-6758.
- 259. Arribillaga L, de Cerio AL, Sarobe P, Casares N, Gorraiz M, Vales A, *et al.* Vaccination with an adenoviral vector encoding hepatitis C virus (HCV) NS3 protein protects against infection with HCV-recombinant vaccinia virus. *Vaccine* 2002,**21**:202-210.
- 260. Yu H, Huang H, Xiang J, Babiuk LA, van Drunen Littel-van den Hurk S. Dendritic cells pulsed with hepatitis C virus NS3 protein induce immune responses and protection from infection with recombinant vaccinia virus expressing NS3. *J Gen Virol* 2006,**87**:1-10.
- 261. Ouyang EC, Wu CH, Walton C, Promrat K, Wu GY. Transplantation of human hepatocytes into tolerized genetically immunocompetent rats. *World J Gastroenterol* 2001,7:324-330.
- 262. Wu GY, Konishi M, Walton CM, Olive D, Hayashi K, Wu CH. A novel immunocompetent rat model of HCV infection and hepatitis. *Gastroenterology* 2005,**128**:1416-1423.
- 263. Pandey A, Singh N, Vemula SV, Couetil L, Katz JM, Donis R, *et al.* Impact of preexisting adenovirus vector immunity on immunogenicity and protection conferred with an adenovirus-based H5N1 influenza vaccine. *PLoS One* 2012,7:e33428.
- 264. Holst PJ, Orskov C, Thomsen AR, Christensen JP. Quality of the transgene-specific CD8+ T cell response induced by adenoviral vector immunization is critically influenced by virus dose and route of vaccination. *J Immunol* 2010,**184**:4431-4439.

Chapter 2: Recombinant Adenoviral Vector Expressing HCV NS4 Induces Protective Immune Responses: A Dose and Route Conundrum

- 1. Wasley A, Alter MJ. Epidemiology of hepatitis C: geographic differences and temporal trends. *Semin Liver Dis* 2000,**20**:1-16.
- 2. Saito I, Miyamura T, Ohbayashi A, Harada H, Katayama T, Kikuchi S, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus infection is associated with the development of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1990,**87**:6547-6549.
- 3. Cooper S, Erickson AL, Adams EJ, Kansopon J, Weiner AJ, Chien DY, *et al.* Analysis of a successful immune response against hepatitis C virus. *Immunity* 1999,**10**:439-449.
- 4. Thimme R, Bukh J, Spangenberg HC, Wieland S, Pemberton J, Steiger C, *et al.* Viral and immunological determinants of hepatitis C virus clearance, persistence, and disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2002,99:15661-15668.

- 5. Rehermann B, Nascimbeni M. Immunology of hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus infection. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2005,**5**:215-229.
- 6. Dustin LB, Rice CM. Flying under the radar: the immunobiology of hepatitis C. *Annu Rev Immunol* 2007,**25**:71-99.
- 7. Large MK, Kittlesen DJ, Hahn YS. Suppression of host immune response by the core protein of hepatitis C virus: possible implications for hepatitis C virus persistence. *J Immunol* 1999,**162**:931-938.
- 8. Sarobe P, Lasarte JJ, Zabaleta A, Arribillaga L, Arina A, Melero I, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus structural proteins impair dendritic cell maturation and inhibit in vivo induction of cellular immune responses. *J Virol* 2003,77:10862-10871.
- 9. Pavio N, Lai MM. The hepatitis C virus persistence: how to evade the immune system? *J Biosci* 2003, **28**:287-304.
- 10. Krishnadas DK, Ahn JS, Han J, Kumar R, Agrawal B. Immunomodulation by hepatitis C virus-derived proteins: targeting human dendritic cells by multiple mechanisms. *Int Immunol* 2010,**22**:491-502.
- 11. Bengsch B, Seigel B, Ruhl M, Timm J, Kuntz M, Blum HE, *et al.* Coexpression of PD-1, 2B4, CD160 and KLRG1 on exhausted HCV-specific CD8+ T cells is linked to antigen recognition and T cell differentiation. *PLoS Pathog* 2010,**6**:e1000947.
- 12. Simmonds P. Genetic diversity and evolution of hepatitis C virus--15 years on. *J Gen Virol* 2004,**85**:3173-3188.
- 13. Mukherjee R, Burns A, Rodden D, Chang F, Chaum M, Garcia N, *et al.* Diagnosis and Management of Hepatitis C Virus Infection. *J Lab Autom* 2015.
- 14. Lauer GM, Barnes E, Lucas M, Timm J, Ouchi K, Kim AY, *et al.* High resolution analysis of cellular immune responses in resolved and persistent hepatitis C virus infection. *Gastroenterology* 2004,**127**:924-936.
- 15. Thimme R, Oldach D, Chang KM, Steiger C, Ray SC, Chisari FV. Determinants of viral clearance and persistence during acute hepatitis C virus infection. *J Exp Med* 2001,**194**:1395-1406.
- Neumann-Haefelin C, Timm J, Spangenberg HC, Wischniowski N, Nazarova N, Kersting N, et al. Virological and immunological determinants of intrahepatic virus-specific CD8+ T-cell failure in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *Hepatology* 2008,47:1824-1836.
- 17. Arribillaga L, de Cerio AL, Sarobe P, Casares N, Gorraiz M, Vales A, *et al.* Vaccination with an adenoviral vector encoding hepatitis C virus (HCV) NS3 protein protects against infection with HCV-recombinant vaccinia virus. *Vaccine* 2002,**21**:202-210.
- 18. Bassett JD, Swift SL, Bramson JL. Optimizing vaccine-induced CD8(+) T-cell immunity: focus on recombinant adenovirus vectors. *Expert Rev Vaccines* 2011,**10**:1307-1319.
- 19. Liu MA. Immunologic basis of vaccine vectors. Immunity 2010,33:504-515.
- 20. Ulmer JB, Montgomery DL, Donnelly JJ, Liu MA. DNA vaccines. *Methods Mol Med* 1996,4:289-300.

- 21. Tatsis N, Fitzgerald JC, Reyes-Sandoval A, Harris-McCoy KC, Hensley SE, Zhou D, *et al.* Adenoviral vectors persist in vivo and maintain activated CD8+ T cells: implications for their use as vaccines. *Blood* 2007,**110**:1916-1923.
- 22. Thomsen PJHaAR. Harnessing the Potential of Adenovirus Vectored Vaccines. In: *Viral Gene Therapy*. Edited by Xu DK: InTech; 2011.
- 23. Krebs P, Scandella E, Odermatt B, Ludewig B. Rapid functional exhaustion and deletion of CTL following immunization with recombinant adenovirus. *J Immunol* 2005,**174**:4559-4566.
- 24. Yang TC, Millar J, Groves T, Grinshtein N, Parsons R, Takenaka S, *et al.* The CD8(+) T cell population elicited by recombinant adenovirus displays a novel partially exhausted phenotype associated with prolonged antigen presentation that nonetheless provides long-term immunity. *Journal of Immunology* 2006,**176**:200-210.
- 25. Holst PJ, Orskov C, Thomsen AR, Christensen JP. Quality of the transgene-specific CD8+ T cell response induced by adenoviral vector immunization is critically influenced by virus dose and route of vaccination. *J Immunol* 2010,**184**:4431-4439.
- Kaufman DR, Bivas-Benita M, Simmons NL, Miller D, Barouch DH. Route of adenovirusbased HIV-1 vaccine delivery impacts the phenotype and trafficking of vaccine-elicited CD8+ T lymphocytes. *J Virol* 2010,84:5986-5996.
- 27. Zhi Y, Gao G. Muscle as a Target for Genetic Vaccine. In: *Muscle Gene Therapy*. Edited by Duan D: Springer New York; 2010. pp. 231-247.
- 28. Lin SW, Cun AS, Harris-McCoy K, Ertl HC. Intramuscular rather than oral administration of replication-defective adenoviral vaccine vector induces specific CD8+ T cell responses in the gut. *Vaccine* 2007, **25**:2187-2193.
- 29. Guan J, Wen B, Deng Y, Zhang K, Chen H, Wu X, *et al.* Effect of route of delivery on heterologous protection against HCV induced by an adenovirus vector carrying HCV structural genes. *Virol J* 2011,**8**:506.
- 30. Ogura T, Mizukami H, Mimuro J, Madoiwa S, Okada T, Matsushita T, *et al.* Utility of intraperitoneal administration as a route of AAV serotype 5 vector-mediated neonatal gene transfer. *J Gene Med* 2006,**8**:990-997.
- 31. Berraondo P, Ochoa L, Crettaz J, Rotellar F, Vales A, Martinez-Anso E, *et al.* IFN-alpha gene therapy for woodchuck hepatitis with adeno-associated virus: differences in duration of gene expression and antiviral activity using intraportal or intramuscular routes. *Mol Ther* 2005,**12**:68-76.
- 32. Estcourt MJ, Létourneau S, McMichael AJ, Hanke T. Vaccine route, dose and type of delivery vector determine patterns of primary CD8+ T cell responses. 2005,- **35**:- 2540.
- 33. Lehner T, Wang Y, Ping L, Bergmeier L, Mitchell E, Cranage M, *et al.* The effect of route of immunization on mucosal immunity and protection. *J Infect Dis* 1999,**179 Suppl 3**:S489-492.
- 34. Valdenegro-Vega VA, Crosbie P, Vincent B, Cain KD, Nowak BF. Effect of immunization route on mucosal and systemic immune response in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). *Vet Immunol Immunopathol* 2013,**151**:113-123.

- 35. Ahi YS, Bangari DS, Mittal SK. Adenoviral vector immunity: its implications and circumvention strategies. *Curr Gene Ther* 2011,**11**:307-320.
- 36. Richardson JS, Pillet S, Bello AJ, Kobinger GP. Airway delivery of an adenovirus-based Ebola virus vaccine bypasses existing immunity to homologous adenovirus in nonhuman primates. *J Virol* 2013,**87**:3668-3677.
- 37. Feinstone SM, Hu DJ, Major ME. Prospects for prophylactic and therapeutic vaccines against hepatitis C virus. *Clin Infect Dis* 2012,**55 Suppl 1**:S25-32.
- 38. Fauvelle C, Lepiller Q, Felmlee DJ, Fofana I, Habersetzer F, Stoll-Keller F, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus vaccines--progress and perspectives. *Microb Pathog* 2013,**58**:66-72.
- 39. Law JL, Chen C, Wong J, Hockman D, Santer DM, Frey SE, *et al.* A hepatitis C virus (HCV) vaccine comprising envelope glycoproteins gpE1/gpE2 derived from a single isolate elicits broad cross-genotype neutralizing antibodies in humans. *PLoS One* 2013,**8**:e59776.
- 40. Bruna-Romero O, Lasarte JJ, Wilkinson G, Grace K, Clarke B, Borras-Cuesta F, *et al.* Induction of cytotoxic T-cell response against hepatitis C virus structural antigens using a defective recombinant adenovirus. *Hepatology* 1997,**25**:470-477.
- 41. Li W, Krishnadas DK, Li J, Tyrrell DL, Agrawal B. Induction of primary human T cell responses against hepatitis C virus-derived antigens NS3 or core by autologous dendritic cells expressing hepatitis C virus antigens: potential for vaccine and immunotherapy. *J Immunol* 2006,**176**:6065-6075.
- 42. Lang Kuhs KA, Toporovski R, Yan J, Ginsberg AA, Shedlock DJ, Weiner DB. Induction of intrahepatic HCV NS4B, NS5A and NS5B-specific cellular immune responses following peripheral immunization. *PLoS One* 2012,7:e52165.
- 43. Dahari H, Feinstone SM, Major ME. Meta-analysis of hepatitis C virus vaccine efficacy in chimpanzees indicates an importance for structural proteins. *Gastroenterology* 2010,**139**:965-974.
- 44. Murata K, Lechmann M, Qiao M, Gunji T, Alter HJ, Liang TJ. Immunization with hepatitis C virus-like particles protects mice from recombinant hepatitis C virus-vaccinia infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2003,**100**:6753-6758.
- 45. Li W, Krishnadas DK, Kumar R, Tyrrell DL, Agrawal B. Priming and stimulation of hepatitis C virus-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells against HCV antigens NS4, NS5a or NS5b from HCV-naive individuals: implications for prophylactic vaccine. *Int Immunol* 2008, **20**:89-104.
- 46. Pancholi P, Perkus M, Tricoche N, Liu Q, Prince AM. DNA immunization with hepatitis C virus (HCV) polycistronic genes or immunization by HCV DNA priming-recombinant canarypox virus boosting induces immune responses and protection from recombinant HCV-vaccinia virus infection in HLA-A2.1-transgenic mice. *J Virol* 2003,77:382-390.
- 47. Krishnadas DK, Li W, Kumar R, Tyrrell DL, Agrawal B. HCV-core and NS3 antigens play disparate role in inducing regulatory or effector T cells in vivo: Implications for viral persistence or clearance. *Vaccine* 2010,**28**:2104-2114.

- 48. Brady MT, MacDonald AJ, Rowan AG, Mills KH. Hepatitis C virus non-structural protein 4 suppresses Th1 responses by stimulating IL-10 production from monocytes. *Eur J Immunol* 2003,**33**:3448-3457.
- 49. Mahajan SD, Aalinkeel R, Schwartz SA, Chawda RP, Nair MP. Effector cell mediated cytotoxicity measured by intracellular Granzyme B release in HIV infected subjects. *Biol Proced Online* 2003,**5**:182-188.
- 50. Mosmann TR, Coffman RL. TH1 and TH2 cells: different patterns of lymphokine secretion lead to different functional properties. *Annu Rev Immunol* 1989,7:145-173.
- 51. Chen M, Sallberg M, Sonnerborg A, Weiland O, Mattsson L, Jin L, *et al.* Limited humoral immunity in hepatitis C virus infection. *Gastroenterology* 1999,**116**:135-143.
- 52. Hempel G, Galle PR, Lohr HF. Quantitative analysis of specific Th1/Th2 helper cell responses and IgG subtype antibodies in interferon-alpha-treated patients with chronic hepatitis C. *J Med Virol* 2001,**64**:340-349.
- 53. Kawano Y, Noma T, Yata J. Regulation of human IgG subclass production by cytokines. IFN-gamma and IL-6 act antagonistically in the induction of human IgG1 but additively in the induction of IgG2. *J Immunol* 1994,**153**:4948-4958.
- 54. Hazenbos WL, Heijnen IA, Meyer D, Hofhuis FM, Renardel de Lavalette CR, Schmidt RE, *et al.* Murine IgG1 complexes trigger immune effector functions predominantly via Fc gamma RIII (CD16). *J Immunol* 1998,**161**:3026-3032.

Chapter 3: Adenoviral Proteins Induce Heterologous Immune Responses against Hepatitis C Virus Antigens in Mice

- 1. Alter MJ. Epidemiology of hepatitis C virus infection. *World J Gastroenterol* 2007,**13**:2436-2441.
- 2. McHutchison JG, Bacon BR. Chronic hepatitis C: an age wave of disease burden. *Am J Manag Care* 2005,11:S286-295; quiz S307-211.
- 3. Seeff LB. Natural history of chronic hepatitis C. *Hepatology* 2002,**36**:S35-46.
- 4. Heim MH. 25 years of interferon-based treatment of chronic hepatitis C: an epoch coming to an end. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2013,**13**:535-542.
- 5. Heim MH, Thimme R. Innate and adaptive immune responses in HCV infections. *J Hepatol* 2014,**61**:S14-25.
- 6. Holz L, Rehermann B. T cell responses in hepatitis C virus infection: Historical overview and goals for future research. *Antiviral Res* 2015,**114c**:96-105.
- 7. Park SH, Rehermann B. Immune responses to HCV and other hepatitis viruses. *Immunity* 2014,40:13-24.
- 8. Cooper S, Erickson AL, Adams EJ, Kansopon J, Weiner AJ, Chien DY, *et al.* Analysis of a successful immune response against hepatitis C virus. *Immunity* 1999,**10**:439-449.

- 9. Lechner F, Wong DK, Dunbar PR, Chapman R, Chung RT, Dohrenwend P, *et al.* Analysis of successful immune responses in persons infected with hepatitis C virus. *J Exp Med* 2000,**191**:1499-1512.
- 10. Thimme R, Bukh J, Spangenberg HC, Wieland S, Pemberton J, Steiger C, *et al.* Viral and immunological determinants of hepatitis C virus clearance, persistence, and disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2002,**99**:15661-15668.
- 11. Neumann-Haefelin C, Timm J, Spangenberg HC, Wischniowski N, Nazarova N, Kersting N, *et al.* Virological and immunological determinants of intrahepatic virus-specific CD8+ T-cell failure in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *Hepatology* 2008,**47**:1824-1836.
- 12. Cashman SB, Marsden BD, Dustin LB. The Humoral Immune Response to HCV: Understanding is Key to Vaccine Development. *Front Immunol* 2014,**5**:550.
- 13. Osburn WO, Snider AE, Wells BL, Latanich R, Bailey JR, Thomas DL, *et al.* Clearance of hepatitis C infection is associated with the early appearance of broad neutralizing antibody responses. *Hepatology* 2014,**59**:2140-2151.
- 14. Wahid A, Dubuisson J. Virus-neutralizing antibodies to hepatitis C virus. *J Viral Hepat* 2013,**20**:369-376.
- 15. Casadevall A, Pirofski LA. A new synthesis for antibody-mediated immunity. *Nat Immunol* 2012,**13**:21-28.
- 16. Raghuraman S, Park H, Osburn WO, Winkelstein E, Edlin BR, Rehermann B. Spontaneous clearance of chronic hepatitis C virus infection is associated with appearance of neutralizing antibodies and reversal of T-cell exhaustion. *J Infect Dis* 2012,**205**:763-771.
- Li W, Krishnadas DK, Kumar R, Tyrrell DL, Agrawal B. Priming and stimulation of hepatitis C virus-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells against HCV antigens NS4, NS5a or NS5b from HCV-naive individuals: implications for prophylactic vaccine. *Int Immunol* 2008,20:89-104.
- 18. Wedemeyer H, Mizukoshi E, Davis AR, Bennink JR, Rehermann B. Cross-reactivity between hepatitis C virus and Influenza A virus determinant-specific cytotoxic T cells. *J Virol* 2001,**75**:11392-11400.
- 19. Schulze Zur Wiesch J, Ciuffreda D, Lewis-Ximenez L, Kasprowicz V, Nolan BE, Streeck H, *et al.* Broadly directed virus-specific CD4+ T cell responses are primed during acute hepatitis C infection, but rapidly disappear from human blood with viral persistence. *J Exp Med* 2012,**209**:61-75.
- 20. Gruner NH, Gerlach TJ, Jung MC, Diepolder HM, Schirren CA, Schraut WW, *et al.* Association of hepatitis C virus-specific CD8+ T cells with viral clearance in acute hepatitis C. *J Infect Dis* 2000,**181**:1528-1536.
- 21. Russell WC. Adenoviruses: update on structure and function. J Gen Virol 2009,90:1-20.
- 22. Hendrickx R, Stichling N, Koelen J, Kuryk L, Lipiec A, Greber UF. Innate immunity to adenovirus. *Hum Gene Ther* 2014,**25**:265-284.
- 23. Jooss K, Chirmule N. Immunity to adenovirus and adeno-associated viral vectors: implications for gene therapy. *Gene Ther* 2003,10:955-963.

- 24. Kay MA, Glorioso JC, Naldini L. Viral vectors for gene therapy: the art of turning infectious agents into vehicles of therapeutics. *Nature Medicine* 2001,7:33-40.
- 25. Asefa B, Korokhov N, Lemiale F. Heterologous HIV-based lentiviral/adenoviral vectors immunizations result in enhanced HIV-specific immunity. *Vaccine* 2010,**28**:3617-3624.
- 26. Majhen D, Calderon H, Chandra N, Fajardo CA, Rajan A, Alemany R, *et al.* Adenovirusbased vaccines for fighting infectious diseases and cancer: progress in the field. *Hum Gene Ther* 2014,**25**:301-317.
- 27. (NIAID) NIoAaID. A Staged Phase I/II Study, to Assess Safety, Efficacy and Immunogenicity of a New Hepatitis C Prophylactic Vaccine Based on Sequential Use of AdCh3NSmut1 and MVA-NSmut *In: ClinicalTrials.gov, Bethesda (MD): National Library of Medicine (US).*
- 28. Li W, Krishnadas DK, Li J, Tyrrell DL, Agrawal B. Induction of primary human T cell responses against hepatitis C virus-derived antigens NS3 or core by autologous dendritic cells expressing hepatitis C virus antigens: potential for vaccine and immunotherapy. *J Immunol* 2006,**176**:6065-6075.
- 29. Krishnadas DK, Ahn JS, Han J, Kumar R, Agrawal B. Immunomodulation by hepatitis C virus-derived proteins: targeting human dendritic cells by multiple mechanisms. *Int Immunol* 2010,**22**:491-502.
- 30. Krishnadas DK, Li W, Kumar R, Tyrrell DL, Agrawal B. HCV-core and NS3 antigens play disparate role in inducing regulatory or effector T cells in vivo: Implications for viral persistence or clearance. *Vaccine* 2010,**28**:2104-2114.
- 31. Samrat SK, Li W, Singh S, Kumar R, Agrawal B. Alternate reading frame protein (F protein) of hepatitis C virus: paradoxical effects of activation and apoptosis on human dendritic cells lead to stimulation of T cells. *PLoS One* 2014,9:e86567.
- 32. Singh S, Vedi S, Li W, Samrat SK, Kumar R, Agrawal B. Recombinant adenoviral vector expressing HCV NS4 induces protective immune responses in a mouse model of Vaccinia-HCV virus infection: a dose and route conundrum. *Vaccine* 2014,**32**:2712-2721.
- 33. Webpage. Challenges in Designing HIV Vaccines. Webpage-The Body 2009.
- 34. Swayne DE, Kapczynski D. Strategies and challenges for eliciting immunity against avian influenza virus in birds. *Immunol Rev* 2008,**225**:314-331.
- 35. Biesecker JL, Fitch FW, Rowley DA, Stuart FP. Cellular and humoral immunity after allogeneic transplantation in the rat. IV. The effect of heterologous antilymphocyte serum on cellular and humoral immunity after allogeneic renal transplantation. *Transplantation* 1973,**16**:441-450.
- 36. Welsh RM, Che JW, Brehm MA, Selin LK. Heterologous immunity between viruses. *Immunol Rev* 2010,**235**:244-266.
- 37. Selin LK, Nahill SR, Welsh RM. Cross-reactivities in memory cytotoxic T lymphocyte recognition of heterologous viruses. *J Exp Med* 1994,**179**:1933-1943.

- 38. Nilges K, Hohn H, Pilch H, Neukirch C, Freitag K, Talbot PJ, *et al.* Human papillomavirus type 16 E7 peptide-directed CD8+ T cells from patients with cervical cancer are cross-reactive with the coronavirus NS2 protein. *J Virol* 2003,77:5464-5474.
- 39. Shen ZT, Nguyen TT, Daniels KA, Welsh RM, Stern LJ. Disparate epitopes mediating protective heterologous immunity to unrelated viruses share peptide-MHC structural features recognized by cross-reactive T cells. *J Immunol* 2013,**191**:5139-5152.
- 40. Hao Y, Legrand N, Freitas AA. The clone size of peripheral CD8 T cells is regulated by TCR promiscuity. *J Exp Med* 2006,**203**:1643-1649.
- 41. Amrani A, Serra P, Yamanouchi J, Trudeau JD, Tan R, Elliott JF, *et al.* Expansion of the antigenic repertoire of a single T cell receptor upon T cell activation. *J Immunol* 2001,**167**:655-666.
- 42. Daniels KA, Hatfield SD, Welsh RM, Brehm MA. MHC basis of T cell-dependent heterologous immunity to arenaviruses. *Virology* 2014,**464-465**:213-217.
- 43. Venturi V, Rudd BD, Davenport MP. Specificity, promiscuity, and precursor frequency in immunoreceptors. *Curr Opin Immunol* 2013,**25**:639-645.
- 44. Hemmer B, Pinilla C, Gran B, Vergelli M, Ling N, Conlon P, *et al.* Contribution of individual amino acids within MHC molecule or antigenic peptide to TCR ligand potency. *J Immunol* 2000,**164**:861-871.
- 45. Nakagawa Y, Kikuchi H, Takahashi H. Molecular analysis of TCR and peptide/MHC interaction using P18-I10-derived peptides with a single D-amino acid substitution. *Biophys J* 2007,**92**:2570-2582.
- 46. Armstrong KM, Insaidoo FK, Baker BM. Thermodynamics of T cell receptor peptide/MHC interactions: progress and opportunities. *Journal of molecular recognition : JMR* 2008,**21**:275-287.
- 47. Greenbaum J, Sidney J, Chung J, Brander C, Peters B, Sette A. Functional classification of class II human leukocyte antigen (HLA) molecules reveals seven different supertypes and a surprising degree of repertoire sharing across supertypes. *Immunogenetics* 2011,**63**:325-335.
- 48. Roomp K, Domingues FS. Predicting interactions between T cell receptors and MHC-peptide complexes. *Mol Immunol* 2011,**48**:553-562.
- 49. Cuendet MA, Zoete V, Michielin O. How T cell receptors interact with peptide-MHCs: a multiple steered molecular dynamics study. *Proteins* 2011,**79**:3007-3024.
- 50. Nie S, Lin SJ, Kim SK, Welsh RM, Selin LK. Pathological features of heterologous immunity are regulated by the private specificities of the immune repertoire. *Am J Pathol* 2010,**176**:2107-2112.
- 51. Rehermann B, Shin EC. Private aspects of heterologous immunity. *J Exp Med* 2005, **201**:667-670.
- 52. Immunization with Recombinant Adenoviral Vectors Expressing HCV Core or F Proteins Leads to T Cells with Reduced Effector Molecules Granzyme B and IFN-γ: A Potential New Strategy for Immune Evasion in HCV Infection. *Viral Immunology* 2015.

- 53. Marchalonis JJ, Adelman MK, Robey IF, Schluter SF, Edmundson AB. Exquisite specificity and peptide epitope recognition promiscuity, properties shared by antibodies from sharks to humans. *J Mol Recognit* 2001,**14**:110-121.
- 54. Sela-Culang I, Kunik V, Ofran Y. The structural basis of antibody-antigen recognition. *Front Immunol* 2013,4:302.

Chapter 4: Humans with Pre-Existing Adenoviral Immunity Show HCV-Specific Cross-reactive Immunity

- 1. Lechner F, Gruener NH, Urbani S, Uggeri J, Santantonio T, Kammer AR, *et al.* CD8+ T lymphocyte responses are induced during acute hepatitis C virus infection but are not sustained. *Eur J Immunol* 2000,**30**:2479-2487.
- 2. Lechner F, Wong DK, Dunbar PR, Chapman R, Chung RT, Dohrenwend P, *et al.* Analysis of successful immune responses in persons infected with hepatitis C virus. *J Exp Med* 2000,**191**:1499-1512.
- 3. Osburn WO, Snider AE, Wells BL, Latanich R, Bailey JR, Thomas DL, *et al.* Clearance of hepatitis C infection is associated with the early appearance of broad neutralizing antibody responses. *Hepatology* 2014,**59**:2140-2151.
- 4. Fierro NA, Gonzalez-Aldaco K, Torres-Valadez R, Trujillo-Trujillo ME, Roman S, Trujillo-Ochoa JL, *et al.* Spontaneous hepatitis C viral clearance and hepatitis C chronic infection are associated with distinct cytokine profiles in Mexican patients. *Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz* 2015,**110**:267-271.
- 5. Park SH, Rehermann B. Immune responses to HCV and other hepatitis viruses. *Immunity* 2014,40:13-24.
- 6. Heim MH, Thimme R. Innate and adaptive immune responses in HCV infections. *J Hepatol* 2014,**61**:S14-25.
- 7. Raghuraman S, Park H, Osburn WO, Winkelstein E, Edlin BR, Rehermann B. Spontaneous clearance of chronic hepatitis C virus infection is associated with appearance of neutralizing antibodies and reversal of T-cell exhaustion. *J Infect Dis* 2012,**205**:763-771.
- 8. Li W, Krishnadas DK, Kumar R, Tyrrell DL, Agrawal B. Priming and stimulation of hepatitis C virus-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells against HCV antigens NS4, NS5a or NS5b from HCV-naive individuals: implications for prophylactic vaccine. *Int Immunol* 2008, **20**:89-104.
- 9. Wedemeyer H, Mizukoshi E, Davis AR, Bennink JR, Rehermann B. Cross-reactivity between hepatitis C virus and Influenza A virus determinant-specific cytotoxic T cells. *J Virol* 2001,**75**:11392-11400.
- 10. Cho YK, Kim YN, Song BC. Predictors of spontaneous viral clearance and outcomes of acute hepatitis C infection. *Clin Mol Hepatol* 2014,**20**:368-375.
- 11. Kong F, Pan Y, Chi X, Wang X, Chen L, Lv J, *et al.* Factors associated with spontaneous clearance of hepatitis C virus in Chinese population. *Biomed Res Int* 2014,**2014**:527030.

- 12. Shen ZT, Nguyen TT, Daniels KA, Welsh RM, Stern LJ. Disparate epitopes mediating protective heterologous immunity to unrelated viruses share peptide-MHC structural features recognized by cross-reactive T cells. *J Immunol* 2013,**191**:5139-5152.
- 13. Welsh RM, Che JW, Brehm MA, Selin LK. Heterologous immunity between viruses. *Immunol Rev* 2010,**235**:244-266.
- 14. Nie S, Lin SJ, Kim SK, Welsh RM, Selin LK. Pathological features of heterologous immunity are regulated by the private specificities of the immune repertoire. *Am J Pathol* 2010,**176**:2107-2112.
- 15. Rehermann B, Shin EC. Private aspects of heterologous immunity. *J Exp Med* 2005, **201**:667-670.
- 16. Scognamiglio P, Accapezzato D, Casciaro MA, Cacciani A, Artini M, Bruno G, *et al.* Presence of effector CD8+ T cells in hepatitis C virus-exposed healthy seronegative donors. *J Immunol* 1999,**162**:6681-6689.
- 17. Urbani S, Amadei B, Fisicaro P, Pilli M, Missale G, Bertoletti A, *et al.* Heterologous T cell immunity in severe hepatitis C virus infection. *J Exp Med* 2005, **201**:675-680.
- 18. Taylor R. Interpretation of the Correlation Coefficient: A Basic Review Journal of Diagnostic Medical Sonography 1990,1:34-39.
- 19. Schroter M, Feucht HH, Schafer P, Zollner B, Polywka S, Laufs R. Definition of falsepositive reactions in screening for hepatitis C virus antibodies. *J Clin Microbiol* 1999,**37**:233-234.
- 20. Mullis CE, Laeyendecker O, Reynolds SJ, Ocama P, Quinn J, Boaz I, *et al.* High frequency of false-positive hepatitis C virus enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay in Rakai, Uganda. *Clin Infect Dis* 2013,**57**:1747-1750.
- 21. Kim YS, Lee HS, Ahn YO. Factors associated with positive predictability of the anti-HCV ELISA method with confirmatory RT-PCR. *J Korean Med Sci* 1999,**14**:629-634.
- 22. Caudai C, Padula MG, Bastianoni I, Valensin PE, Shyamala V, Han J, *et al.* Antibody testing and RT-PCR results in hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection: HCV-RNA detection in PBMC of plasma viremia-negative HCV-seropositive persons. *Infection* 1998, **26**:151-154.
- 23. Ionita E, Lupulescu E, Alexandrescu V, Chirita C, Balteanu M, Negut AE. [False-positive ELISA reactions for the hepatitis C virus and the human immunodeficiency virus after anti-influenzal vaccination]. *Bacteriol Virusol Parazitol Epidemiol* 1995,**40**:249-252.
- 24. Roy S, Calcedo R, Medina-Jaszek A, Keough M, Peng H, Wilson JM. Adenoviruses in lymphocytes of the human gastro-intestinal tract. *PLoS One* 2011,6:e24859.
- 25. Sharma S, Thomas PG. The two faces of heterologous immunity: protection or immunopathology. *J Leukoc Biol* 2014,**95**:405-416.
- 26. Welsh RM, Selin LK. No one is naive: the significance of heterologous T-cell immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2002,**2**:417-426.
- 27. Colloca S, Barnes E, Folgori A, Ammendola V, Capone S, Cirillo A, *et al.* Vaccine vectors derived from a large collection of simian adenoviruses induce potent cellular immunity across multiple species. *Sci Transl Med* 2012,4:115ra112.

Chapter 5: General Discussion

- 1. Shoukry NH, Grakoui A, Houghton M, Chien DY, Ghrayeb J, Reimann KA, *et al.* Memory CD8+ T cells are required for protection from persistent hepatitis C virus infection. *J Exp Med* 2003,**197**:1645-1655.
- 2. Bassett SE, Guerra B, Brasky K, Miskovsky E, Houghton M, Klimpel GR, *et al.* Protective immune response to hepatitis C virus in chimpanzees rechallenged following clearance of primary infection. *Hepatology* 2001,**33**:1479-1487.
- 3. Schirren CA, Jung MC, Gerlach JT, Worzfeld T, Baretton G, Mamin M, *et al.* Liverderived hepatitis C virus (HCV)-specific CD4(+) T cells recognize multiple HCV epitopes and produce interferon gamma. *Hepatology* 2000,**32**:597-603.
- 4. Cooper S, Erickson AL, Adams EJ, Kansopon J, Weiner AJ, Chien DY, *et al.* Analysis of a successful immune response against hepatitis C virus. *Immunity* 1999,**10**:439-449.
- 5. Osburn WO, Snider AE, Wells BL, Latanich R, Bailey JR, Thomas DL, *et al.* Clearance of hepatitis C infection is associated with the early appearance of broad neutralizing antibody responses. *Hepatology* 2014,**59**:2140-2151.
- 6. Esteban-Riesco L, Depaulis F, Moreau A, Bacq Y, Dubois F, Goudeau A, *et al.* Rapid and sustained autologous neutralizing response leading to early spontaneous recovery after HCV infection. *Virology* 2013,444:90-99.
- 7. Wahid A, Dubuisson J. Virus-neutralizing antibodies to hepatitis C virus. *J Viral Hepat* 2013,**20**:369-376.
- 8. Pestka JM, Zeisel MB, Blaser E, Schurmann P, Bartosch B, Cosset FL, *et al.* Rapid induction of virus-neutralizing antibodies and viral clearance in a single-source outbreak of hepatitis C. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2007,**104**:6025-6030.
- 9. Meunier JC, Gottwein JM, Houghton M, Russell RS, Emerson SU, Bukh J, *et al.* Vaccineinduced cross-genotype reactive neutralizing antibodies against hepatitis C virus. *J Infect Dis* 2011,**204**:1186-1190.
- 10. Stamataki Z, Coates S, Evans MJ, Wininger M, Crawford K, Dong C, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus envelope glycoprotein immunization of rodents elicits cross-reactive neutralizing antibodies. *Vaccine* 2007, **25**:7773-7784.
- 11. Logvinoff C, Major ME, Oldach D, Heyward S, Talal A, Balfe P, *et al.* Neutralizing antibody response during acute and chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 2004,**101**:10149-10154.
- 12. Polakos NK, Drane D, Cox J, Ng P, Selby MJ, Chien D, *et al.* Characterization of hepatitis C virus core-specific immune responses primed in rhesus macaques by a nonclassical ISCOM vaccine. *J Immunol* 2001,**166**:3589-3598.
- 13. Casadevall A, Pirofski LA. A new synthesis for antibody-mediated immunity. *Nat Immunol* 2012,**13**:21-28.
- 14. Sillanpaa M, Melen K, Porkka P, Fagerlund R, Nevalainen K, Lappalainen M, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus core, NS3, NS4B and NS5A are the major immunogenic proteins in humoral immunity in chronic HCV infection. *Virol J* 2009,**6**:84.

- 15. Lang Kuhs KA, Toporovski R, Yan J, Ginsberg AA, Shedlock DJ, Weiner DB. Induction of intrahepatic HCV NS4B, NS5A and NS5B-specific cellular immune responses following peripheral immunization. *PLoS One* 2012,7:e52165.
- 16. Vajdy M, Selby M, Medina-Selby A, Coit D, Hall J, Tandeske L, *et al.* Hepatitis C virus polyprotein vaccine formulations capable of inducing broad antibody and cellular immune responses. *J Gen Virol* 2006,**87**:2253-2262.
- 17. Santra S, Seaman MS, Xu L, Barouch DH, Lord CI, Lifton MA, *et al.* Replicationdefective adenovirus serotype 5 vectors elicit durable cellular and humoral immune responses in nonhuman primates. *J Virol* 2005, **79**:6516-6522.
- 18. Tatsis N, Ertl HC. Adenoviruses as vaccine vectors. *Mol Ther* 2004, 10:616-629.
- 19. Colloca S, Barnes E, Folgori A, Ammendola V, Capone S, Cirillo A, *et al.* Vaccine vectors derived from a large collection of simian adenoviruses induce potent cellular immunity across multiple species. *Sci Transl Med* 2012,**4**:115ra112.
- 20. Kuwano K, Reyes VE, Humphreys RE, Ennis FA. Recognition of disparate HA and NS1 peptides by an H-2Kd-restricted, influenza specific CTL clone. *Mol Immunol* 1991,**28**:1-7.
- 21. Loftus DJ, Chen Y, Covell DG, Engelhard VH, Appella E. Differential contact of disparate class I/peptide complexes as the basis for epitope cross-recognition by a single T cell receptor. *J Immunol* 1997,**158**:3651-3658.
- 22. Miller RH, Purcell RH. Hepatitis C virus shares amino acid sequence similarity with pestiviruses and flaviviruses as well as members of two plant virus supergroups. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1990,**87**:2057-2061.
- 23. Tellinghuisen TL, Marcotrigiano J, Gorbalenya AE, Rice CM. The NS5A protein of hepatitis C virus is a zinc metalloprotein. *J Biol Chem* 2004, **279**:48576-48587.
- 24. Gorbalenya AE, Blinov VM, Donchenko AP, Koonin EV. An NTP-binding motif is the most conserved sequence in a highly diverged monophyletic group of proteins involved in positive strand RNA viral replication. *J Mol Evol* 1989, **28**:256-268.
- 25. Poch O, Blumberg BM, Bougueleret L, Tordo N. Sequence comparison of five polymerases (L proteins) of unsegmented negative-strand RNA viruses: theoretical assignment of functional domains. *J Gen Virol* 1990,**71 (Pt 5)**:1153-1162.
- 26. Clute SC, Naumov YN, Watkin LB, Aslan N, Sullivan JL, Thorley-Lawson DA, *et al.* Broad cross-reactive TCR repertoires recognizing dissimilar Epstein-Barr and influenza A virus epitopes. *J Immunol* 2010,**185**:6753-6764.
- 27. Selin LK, Nahill SR, Welsh RM. Cross-reactivities in memory cytotoxic T lymphocyte recognition of heterologous viruses. *J Exp Med* 1994,**179**:1933-1943.
- 28. Welsh RM, Che JW, Brehm MA, Selin LK. Heterologous immunity between viruses. *Immunol Rev* 2010,235:244-266.
- 29. Kasprowicz V, Ward SM, Turner A, Grammatikos A, Nolan BE, Lewis-Ximenez L, *et al.* Defining the directionality and quality of influenza virus-specific CD8+ T cell cross-reactivity in individuals infected with hepatitis C virus. *J Clin Invest* 2008,**118**:1143-1153.

- 30. Wedemeyer H, Mizukoshi E, Davis AR, Bennink JR, Rehermann B. Cross-reactivity between hepatitis C virus and Influenza A virus determinant-specific cytotoxic T cells. *J Virol* 2001,**75**:11392-11400.
- 31. Urbani S, Amadei B, Fisicaro P, Pilli M, Missale G, Bertoletti A, *et al.* Heterologous T cell immunity in severe hepatitis C virus infection. *J Exp Med* 2005,**201**:675-680.

Appendices

Appendix 1:



T cell proliferation after single immunization. Antigen-specific T cell proliferation after immunization with high (2×10^8 pfu / mouse) and low (2×10^8 pfu / mouse) dose of recombinant adenovirus vector (rAd) containing HCV-NS4 antigen, by intramuscular (i.m.) and intraperitoneal (i.p.) routes in C57BL/6 mice. After 8 days of immunization, mouse splenocytes were harvested and T cell proliferation was evaluated in each group of immunized mice by a ³Hthymidine-uptake assay. Mean ± SD of CPM (counts per minutes) from quadruplicate wells are shown.

Appendix 2:



Vaccinia-HCV challenge after single immunization. After 8 days of immunization with high $(2 \times 10^8 \text{ pfu/mouse})$ or low $(2 \times 10^7 \text{ pfu/mouse})$ antigen doses via i.m. or i.p. route, mice were challenged with $1 \times 10^5 \text{ pfu/mouse}$ i.p. Five days after challenge, mice were euthanized and viral load was determined in the ovaries of individual mouse by plaque assay using TK-1 cell line. Mean \pm SD of viral titers from each mice group (n=3) are shown. The mean viral titter in immunized mice groups were not significantly different (p>0.05) from unimmunized group.

	HCV-1a	a Core peptide	s (15 amino acid each)	Nun	nber o	of Ad protei	ns showing	homology	(range of s	core in %)
No.	Name	Location on polyprotein	Amino acid sequence	25.00 30.00) -)	30.11 - 35.00	35.11 - 40.00	40.11 - 45.00	45.11 - 50.00	>50.00
1	Core-1	1-15	MSTNPKPQRKTKRNT		5	2	0	0	0	0
2	Core-2	5-19	PKPQRKTKRNTNRRP		10	2	1	0	0	0
3	Core-3	9-23	RKTKRNTNRRPQDVK		8	3	0	0	0	0
4	Core-4	13-27	RNTNRRPQDVKFPGG		13	1	1	0	0	0
5	Core-5	17-31	RRPQDVKFPGGGQIV		10	2	0	0	0	0
6	Core-6	21-35	DVKFPGGGQIVGGVY		5	3	0	0	0	1
7	Core-7	25-39	PGGGQIVGGVYLLPR		10	3	0	0	0	0
8	Core-8	29-43	QIVGGVYLLPRRGPR		13	6	3	0	0	0
9	Core-9	33-47	GVYLLPRRGPRLGVR		10	7	1	0	2	0
10	Core-10	37-51	LPRRGPRLGVRATRK		8	9	0	0	2	0
11	Core-11	41-55	GPRLGVRATRKTSER		12	3	2	0	0	0
12	Core-12	45-59	GVRATRKTSERSQPR		10	5	1	0	0	0
13	Core-13	49-63	TRKTSERSQPRGRRQ		8	6	1	0	0	0
14	Core-14	53-67	SERSQPRGRRQPIPK		7	6	1	0	0	0
15	Core-15	57-71	QPRGRRQPIPKARRP		7	7	2	0	0	0
16	Core-16	61-75	RRQPIPKARRPEGRT		8	10	0	0	0	0
17	Core-17	65-79	IPKARRPEGRTWAQP		6	1	1	0	0	0
18	Core-18	69-83	RRPEGRTWAQPGYPW		6	2	1	0	0	0
19	Core-19	73-87	GRTWAQPGYPWPLYG		3	3	0	0	0	0
20	Core-20	77-91	AQPGYPWPLYGNEGC		4	1	1	0	0	0
21	Core-21	81-95	YPWPLYGNEGCGWAG		6	3	1	0	0	0
22	Core-22	85-99	LYGNEGCGWAGWLLS		5	4	0	0	0	0
23	Core-23	89-103	EGCGWAGWLLSPRGS		5	3	1	0	0	0
24	Core-24	93-107	WAGWLLSPRGSRPSW		5	2	1	0	0	0
25	Core-25	97-111	LLSPRGSRPSWGPTD		9	3	1	0	0	0
26	Core-26	101-115	RGSRPSWGPTDPRRR		11	2	1	0	0	0
27	Core-27	105-119	PSWGPTDPRRRSRNL		8	7	2	0	0	0
28	Core-28	109-123	PTDPRRRSRNLGKVI		12	5	1	0	0	0
29	Core-29	113-127	RRRSRNLGKVIDTLT		12	3	0	0	1	0
30	Core-30	117-131	RNLGKVIDTLTCGFA		3	2	0	0	0	0
31	Core-31	121-135	KVIDTLTCGFADLMG		3	2	0	0	0	0
32	Core-32	125-139	TLTCGFADLMGYIPL		4	1	0	0	0	0
33	Core-33	129-143	GFADLMGYIPLVGAP		4	4	0	0	1	0
34	Core-34	133-147	LMGYIPLVGAPLGGA		4	3	0	0	1	0
35	Core-35	137-151	IPLVGAPLGGAARAL		9	4	3	0	0	0
36	Core-36	141-155	GAPLGGAARALAHGV		7	6	4	0	1	0
37	Core-37	145-159	GGAARALAHGVRVLE		11	8	2	0	0	0
38	Core-38	149-163	RALAHGVRVLEDGVN		10	3	0	0	0	0
39	Core-39	153-167	HGVRVLEDGVNYATG		8	2	0	0	0	0
40	Core-40	157-171	VLEDGVNYATGNLPG		9	1	0	0	0	0
41	Core-41	161-175	GVNYATGNLPGCSFS		4	2	1	0	0	0
42	Core-42	165-179	ATGNLPGCSFSIFLL		5	1	1	0	0	0
43	Core-43	169-183	LPGCSFSIFLLALLS		3	0	1	0	1	0
44	Core-44	173-187	SFSIFLLALLSCLTV		4	1	1	0	0	0
45	Core-45	177-191	FLLALLSCLTVPASA		7	0	2	0	0	0
Cum with	mulative nu each HCV (umber of Ad p Core peptide	roteins showing homology		331	154	39	0	9	1
Tota	I number of	f Core peptide	s showing homology		45	43	27	0	7	1

Appendix 3: List of HCV Core derived peptides and number of Ad proteins showing homology

	нсу	/-1a F peptides	(15 amino acid each)	Number o	of Ad protei	ns showing	homology	(range of s	core in %)
No.	Name	Location on polyprotein	Amino acid sequence	25.00 - 30.00	30.11 - 35.00	35.11 - 40.00	40.11 - 45.00	45.11 - 50.00	>50.00
1	F-1	1-15	MSTNPKPQRKPNVTP	2	8	1	0	0	0
2	F-2	11-25	PNVTPTVAHRTSSSR	11	2	0	0	0	0
3	F-3	21-35	TSSSRVAVRSLVEFT	7	1	0	0	0	0
4	F-4	31-45	LVEFTCCRAGALDWV	5	1	0	0	0	0
5	F-5	41-55	ALDWVCARRGRLPSG	6	3	0	0	0	0
6	F-6	51-65	RLPSGRNLEVDVSLS	7	3	0	0	0	0
7	F-7	61-75	DVSLSPRHVGPRAGP	9	3	1	0	0	0
8	F-8	71-85	PRAGPGLSPGTLGPS	9	6	1	0	0	0
9	F-9	81-95	TLGPSMAMRVAGGRD	5	4	0	0	1	0
10	F-10	91-105	AGGRDGSCLPVALGL	10	3	0	0	1	0
11	F-11	101-115	VALGLAGAPQTPGVG	6	6	1	0	0	0
12	F-12	111-125	TPGVGRAIWVRSSIP	7	2	0	0	0	0
13	F-13	121-135	RSSIPLRAASPTSWG	8	3	0	0	0	0
14	F-14	131-145	PTSWGTYRSSAPLLE	4	2	0	0	0	0
15	F-15	141-155	APLLEALPGPWRMAS	7	5	0	0	1	0
16	F-16	148-162	LPGPWRMASGFWKTA	4	0	0	0	0	1
Cum with	mulative r each HCV	number of Ad p F peptide	roteins showing homology	107	52	4	0	3	1
Tota	l number o	of F peptides sh	nowing homology	16	15	4	0	3	1

Appendix 4: List of HCV F derived peptides and number of Ad proteins showing homology

	HCV-1	a NS3 peptide:	s (15 amino acid each)	Number	of Ad protei	ns showing	ı homology	(range of s	core in %)
No.	Name	Location on polyprotein	Amino acid sequence	25.00 - 30.00	30.11 - 35.00	35.11 - 40.00	40.11 - 45.00	45.11 - 50.00	>50.00
1	NS3-1	1367-1381	LSTTGEIPFYGKAIP	7	7 1	2	0	0	0
2	NS3-2	1411-1425	GINAVAYYRGLDVS		5 0	1	3	0	0
3	NS3-3	1415-1429	VAYYRGLDVSVIPTS	6	6 4	1	0	1	0
4	NS3-4	1372-1386	EIPFYGKAIPLEVIK	5	5 2	0	0	0	0
5	NS3-5	1450-1464	SVIDCNTCVTQTVDF	3	3 0	1	0	0	0
6	NS3-6	1127-1142	SSDLYLVTRHADVIP	5	5 📕 1	1	0	0	0
7	NS3-7	1621-1635	PTPLLYRLGAVQNEV	6	3	1	0	0	0
8	NS3-8	1467-1482	RRGRTGRGKPGIYRF	10	3	2	0	0	0
9	NS3-9	1187-1201	RGVAKAVDFIPVENL		l 📕 1	1	0	0	0
10	NS3-10	1607-1622	MWKCLIRLKPTLHGP	3	8 2	0	0	0	0
11	NS3-11	1067-1081	QTFLATCINGVCWTV	() 0	0	0	0	0
Cum with	mulative n each HCV	umber of Ad p NS3 peptide	roteins showing homology	54	17	10	3	1	0
Tota	l number o	f NS3 peptides	showing homology	10	8	8	1	1	0

Appendix 5: List of HCV NS3 derived peptides and number of Ad proteins showing homology

	HCV-1a	NS4 peptides	s (20 amino acid each)	Number o	of Ad protei	ns showing	homology	(range of s	core in %)
No.	Name	Location on polyprotein	Amino acid sequence	25.00 - 30.00	30.11 - 35.00	35.11 - 40.00	40.11 - 45.00	45.11 - 50.00	>50.00
1	NS4a-1	1658-1677	STWVLVGGVLAALAAYCLST	7	0	0	0	0	0
2	NS4a-2	1673-1692	YCLSTGCVVIVGRIVLSGKP	0	1	0	0	0	0
3	NS4a-3	1688-1707	LSGKPAIIPDREVLYQEFDE	3	1	0	0	0	0
4	NS4a-4	1703-1721	QEFDEMEECSQHLPYIEQG	0	1	0	0	0	0
1	NS4b-1	1712-1731	SQHLPYIEQGMMLAEQFKQK	3	0	0	0	0	0
2	NS4b-2	1727-1746	QFKQKALGLLQTASRHAEVI	2	0	0	0	0	0
3	NS4b-3	1742-1761	HAEVITPAVQTNWQKLEVFW	2	0	0	0	0	0
4	NS4b-4	1757-1776	LEVFWAKHMWNFISGIQYLA	2	2	0	0	0	0
5	NS4b-5	1772-1791	IQYLAGLSTLPGNPAIASLM	6	0	0	0	0	0
6	NS4b-6	1787-1806	IASLMAFTAAVTSPLTTGQT	6	0	0	0	0	0
7	NS4b-7	1802-1821	TTGQTLLFNILGGWVAAQLA	5	0	0	0	0	0
8	NS4b-8	1817-1836	AAQLAAPGAATAFVGAGLAG	5	0	1	0	0	0
9	NS4b-9	1832-1851	AGLAGAAIGSVGLGKVLVDI	10	1	0	0	0	0
10	NS4b-10	1847-1866	VLVDILAGYGAGVAGALVAF	3	0	0	0	0	0
11	NS4b-11	1862-1881	ALVAFKIMSGEVPSTEDLVN	0	1	0	0	0	0
12	NS4b-12	1877-1896	EDLVNLLPAILSPGALVVGV	6	0	0	0	0	0
13	NS4b-13	1892-1911	LVVGVVCAAILRRHVGPGEG	0	0	1	0	0	0
14	NS4b-14	1907-1926	GPGEGAVQWMNRLIAFASRG	5	2	0	0	0	0
15	NS4b-15	1922-1941	FASRGNHVSPTHYVPESDAA	0	0	0	0	0	0
16	NS4b-16	1937-1956	ESDAAARVTAILSSLTVTQL	10	0	0	0	0	0
Cum with	mulative nu each HCV N	mber of Ad p IS4 peptide	roteins showing homology	75	9	2	0	0	0
Tota	I number of	NS4 peptides	showing homology	15	7	2	0	0	0

Appendix 6: List of HCV NS4 derived peptides and number of Ad proteins showing homology

	HCV-1a	NS5a peptide	s (20 amino acid each)	Number	· 0	f Ad protei	ns showing	homology	(range of s	core in %)
No.	Name	Location on polyprotein	Amino acid sequence	25.00 - 30.00		30.11 - 35.00	35.11 - 40.00	40.11 - 45.00	45.11 - 50.00	>50.00
1	NS5a-1	1972-1991	CSGSWLRDIWDWICEVLSDF		3	0	1	0	0	0
2	NS5a-2	1987-2006	VLSDFKTWLKAKLMPQLPGI		3	0	0	0	0	0
3	NS5a-3	2002-2021	QLPGIPFVSCQRGYRGVWRG		5	2	1	0	0	0
4	NS5a-4	2017-2036	GVWRGDGIMHTRCHCGAEIT		3	1	2	0	0	0
5	NS5a-5	2032-2051	GAEITGHVKNGTMRIVGPRT		5	0	0	0	0	0
6	NS5a-6	2047-2066	VGPRTCRNMWSGTFPINAYT		3	0	0	0	0	0
7	NS5a-7	2062-2081	INAYTTGPCTPLPAPNYKFA		5	0	0	0	0	0
8	NS5a-8	2077-2096	NYKFALWRVSAEEYVEIRRV		3	0	0	0	0	0
9	NS5a-9	2092-2111	EIRRVGDFHYVSGMTTDNLK		3	0	0	0	0	0
10	NS5a-10	2107-2126	TDNLKCPCQIPSPEFFTELD		1	0	0	0	0	0
11	NS5a-11	2122-2141	FTELDGVRLHRFAPPCKPLL		4	0	0	0	0	0
12	NS5a-12	2137-2156	CKPLLREEVSFRVGLHEYPV		6	0	0	0	0	0
13	NS5a-13	2152-2171	HEYPVGSQLPCEPEPDVAVL		5	0	0	0	0	0
14	NS5a-14	2167-2186	DVAVLTSMLTDPSHITAEAA		5	1	0	0	0	0
15	NS5a-15	2182-2201	TAEAAGRRLARGSPPSMASS	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	15	0	0	0	0	0
16	NS5a-16	2197-2216	SMASS SASQLSAPSLKATCT		4	0	0	1	0	0
17	NS5a-17	2212-2231	KATCTANHDSPDAELIEANL		7	0	0	0	0	0
18	NS5a-18	2227-2246	IEANLLWRQEMGGNITRVES		4	0	0	0	0	0
19	NS5a-19	2242-2261	TRVESENKVVILDSFDPLVA		4	1	0	0	0	0
20	NS5a-20	2257-2276	DPLVAEEDEREVSVPAEILR		4	1	1	0	0	0
21	NS5a-21	2272-2291	AEILRKSRRFARALPVWARP		8	1	1	0	0	0
22	NS5a-22	2287-2306	VWARPDYNPPLVETWKKPDY		4	0	0	0	0	0
23	NS5a-23	2302-2321	KKPDYEPPVVHGCPLPPPRS		9	1	2	0	0	0
24	NS5a-24	2317-2336	PPPRSPPVPPPRKKRTVVLT	-	4	4	0	1	0	0
25	NS5a-25	2332-2351	TVVLTESTLSTALAELATKS		8	0	0	0	0	0
26	NS5a-26	2347-2366	LATKSFGSSSTSGITGDNTT		6	0	0	0	0	0
27	NS5a-27	2362-2381	GDNTTTSSEPAPSGCPPDSD		7	2	0	0	0	0
28	NS5a-28	2377-2396	PPDSDVESYSSMPPLEGEPG		9	1	1	0	0	0
29	NS5a-29	2392-2420	EGEPGDPDLSDGSWSTVSSG ADTEDVVCC		1	0	0	0	0	0
Cum with	mulative nu each HCV N	mber of Ad p IS5a peptide	roteins showing homology	15	58	15	9	2	0	0
Tota	I number of	NS5a peptide	s showing homology	2	29	10	7	2	0	0

Appendix 7: List of HCV NS5A derived peptides and number of Ad proteins showing homology

	HCV-1a	NS5b peptide	es (20 amino acid each)	Numbe	er o	f Ad protei	ns showing	homology	(range of s	core in %)
No.	Name	Location on polyprotein	Amino acid sequence	25.00 - 30.00		30.11 - 35.00	35.11 - 40.00	40.11 - 45.00	45.11 - 50.00	>50.00
1	NS5b-1	2421-2440	SMSYSWTGALVTPCAAEEQK		2	0	0	0	0	0
2	NS5b-2	2436-2455	AEEQKLPINALSNSLLRHHN		5	0	0	0	0	0
3	NS5b-3	2451-2470	LRHHNLVYSTTSRSACQRQK		3	0	0	0	0	0
4	NS5b-4	2466-2485	CQRQKKVTFDRLQVLDSHYQ		2	0	0	0	0	0
5	NS5b-5	2481-2500	DSHYQDVLKEVKAAASKVKA		4	1	0	0	0	0
6	NS5b-6	2496-2515	SKVKA NLLSVEEACSLTPPH		6	0	0	0	0	0
7	NS5b-7	2511-2530	LTPPHSAKSKFGYGAKDVRC		1	0	0	0	0	0
8	NS5b-8	2526-2545	KDVRCHARKAVAHINSVWKD		3	0	0	0	0	0
9	NS5b-9	2541-2560	SVWKDLLEDSVTPIDTTIMA		2	0	0	0	0	0
10	NS5b-10	2556-2575	TTIMAKNEVFCVQPEKGGRK		7	0	0	0	0	0
11	NS5b-11	2571-2590	KGGRKPARLIVFPDLGVRVC		4	0	0	0	0	0
12	NS5b-12	2586-2605	GVRVCEKMALYDVVSKLPLA		3	0	0	0	0	0
13	NS5b-13	2601-2620	KLPLAVMGSSYGFQYSPGQR		9	0	0	0	0	0
14	NS5b-14	2616-2635	SPGQRVEFLVQAWKSKKTPM		3	0	0	0	0	0
15	NS5b-15	2631-2650	KKTPMGFSYDTRCFDSTVTE		3	0	0	0	0	0
16	NS5b-16	2646-2665	STVTESDIRTEEAIYQCCDL		2	0	0	0	0	0
17	NS5b-17	2661-2680	QCCDLDPQARVAIKSLTERL		6	1	0	0	0	0
18	NS5b-18	2676-2695	LTERLYVGGPLTNSRGENCG		10	0	0	0	0	0
19	NS5b-19	2691-2710	GENCGYRRCRASGVLTTSCG		7	0	1	0	0	0
20	NS5b-20	2706-2725	TTSCGNTLTCYIKARAACRA		3	0	0	0	0	0
21	NS5b-21	2721-2740	AACRAAGLQDCTMLVCGDDL		3	0	1	0	0	0
22	NS5b-22	2736-2755	CGDDLVVICESAGVQEDAAN		3	0	0	0	0	0
23	NS5b-23	2751-2770	EDAANLRAFTEAMTRYSAPP		6	1	0	0	0	0
24	NS5b-24	2766-2785	YSAPPGDPPQPEYDLELITS		9	0	0	0	0	0
25	NS5b-25	2781-2800	ELITSCSSNVSVAHDGAGKR		4	0	0	0	0	0
26	NS5b-26	2796-2815	GAGKRVYYLTRDPTTPLARA		8	0	0	0	0	0
27	NS5b-27	2811-2830	PLARAAWETARHTPVNSWLG		3	0	0	0	0	0
28	NS5b-28	2826-2845	NSWLGNIIMFAPTLWARMIL		2	0	0	0	0	0
29	NS5b-29	2841-2860	ARMILMTHFFSVLIARDQLE		1	0	0	0	0	0
30	NS5b-30	2856-2875	RDQLEQALNCEIYGACYSIE		1	1	0	0	0	0
31	NS5b-31	2871-2890	CYSIEPLDLPPIIQRLHGLS		4	0	0	1	0	0
32	NS5b-32	2886-2905	LHGLSAFSLHSYSPGEINRV		6	0	0	0	0	0
33	NS5b-33	2901-2920	EINRVAACLRKLGVPPLRAW		7	1	1	0	0	0
34	NS5b-34	2916-2935	PLRAWRHRARSVRARLLSRG		10	0	0	0	0	0
35	NS5b-35	2931-2950	LLSRGGRAAICGKYLFNWAV		2	0	0	0	0	0
36	NS5b-36	2946-2965	FNWAVRTKLKLTPITAAGRL		3	0	0	0	0	0
37	NS5b-37	2961-2980	AAGRLDLSGWFTAGYSGGDI		7	1	0	0	0	0
38	NS5b-38	2976-2995	SGGDIYHSVSHARPRWFWFC		5	0	0	0	0	0
39	NS5b-39	2991-3015	WFWFCLLLLAAGVGIYLLPN		5	1	1	0	0	0
Cum	mulative nu	mber of Ad p	roteins showing homology		74	_				
with	each HCV N	IS5b peptide	5 57	1	74	7	4	1	0	0
Total	number of	NS5b peptide	es showing homology		39	7	4	1	0	0

Appendix 8: List of HCV NS5B derived peptides and number of Ad proteins showing homology

		HCV-1a E1 per	otides (20 amino acid each)	Number	Number of Ad proteins showing homology (range of score in %)	re in %)		
No.	Name	Location on polyprotein	Amino acid sequence	25.00 - 30.00	30.11 - 35.00	35.11 - 40.00	40.11 - 45.00	>50.00
1	E1-1	192-211	YQVRNSSGLYHVTNDCPNSS	7	0	0	0	0
2	E1-2	207-226	CPNSSIVYEAADAILHTPGC	6	1	0	0	0
3	E1-3	222-241	HTPGCVPCVREGNASRCWVA	5	0	0	0	0
4	E1-4	237-256	RCWVAVTPTVATRDGKLPTT	6	1	0	0	0
5	E1-5	252-271	KLPTTQLRRHIDLLVGSATL	2	0	0	0	0
6	E1-6	267-286	GSATLCSALYVGDLCGSVFL	3	2	0	0	0
7	E1-7	282-301	GSVFLVGQLFTFSPRRHWTT	6	0	0	0	0
8	E1-8	297-316	RHWTTQDCNCSIYPGHITGH	7	0	0	0	0
9	E1-9	312-331	HITGHRMAWDMMMNWSPTAA	1	0	0	0	0
10	E1-10	327-346	SPTAALVVAQLLRIPQAIMD	6	1	0	0	0
11	E1-11	342-361	QAIMDMIAGAHWGVLAGIAY	1	0	0	0	0
12	E1-12	357-383	AGIAYFSMVGNWAKVLVVLLLFAGVD	0	0	0	0	0
Cum E1 pe	mulative n eptide	umber of Ad pro	teins showing homology with each HCV	50	5	0	0	0
Total	l number of	f E1 peptides sh	owing homology	11	4	0	0	0

Appendix 7. List of the v Et derived peptides and number of Ad proteins showing nomolog	Appendix 9: List of HCV E1	derived peptides and	number of Ad pro	oteins showing homology
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	----------------------------	----------------------	------------------	-------------------------

		HCV-1a E2 pej	ptides (20 amino acid each)	Number	r of Ad proteins	showing homolo	gy (range of sco	re in %)
No.	Name	Location on polyprotein	Amino acid sequence	25.00 - 30.00	30.11 - 35.00	35.11 - 40.00	40.11 - 45.00	>50.00
1	E2-1	384-403	ETHVTGGSAGRTTAGLVGLL	6	1	0	0	0
2	E2-2	399-418	LVGLLTPGAKQNIQLINTNG	6	0	0	0	0
3	E2-3	414-433	INTNGSWHINSTALNCNESL	1	0	0	0	0
4	E2-4	429-448	CNESLNTGWLAGLFYQHKFN	3	0	0	0	0
5	E2-5	444-463	QHKFNSSGCPERLASCRRLT	4	1	0	0	0
6	E2-6	459-478	CRRLTDFAQGWGPISYANGS	3	0	0	0	0
7	E2-7	474-493	YANGSGLDERPYCWHYPPRP	4	3	0	0	0
8	E2-8	489-508	YPPRPCGIVPAKSVCGPVYC	7	2	0	0	0
9	E2-9	504-523	GPVYCFTPSPVVVGTTDRSG	8	0	1	0	0
10	E2-10	519-538	TDRSGAPTYSWGANDTDVFV	2	0	0	0	0
11	E2-11	534-553	TDVFVLNNTRPPLGNWFGCT	7	0	0	0	0
12	E2-12	549-568	WFGCTWMNSTGFTKVCGAPP	3	0	0	0	0
13	E2-13	564-583	CGAPPCVIGGVGNNTLLCPT	9	0	0	0	0
14	E2-14	579-598	LLCPTDCFRKHPEATYSRCG	3	0	0	0	0
15	E2-15	594-513	YSRCGSGPWITPRCMVDYPY	3	0	0	0	0
16	E2-16	609-628	VDYPYRLWHYPCTINYTIFK	5	0	0	0	0
17	E2-17	624-643	YTIFKVRMYVGGVEHRLEAA	1	1	0	0	0
18	E2-18	639-658	RLEAACNWTRGERCDLEDRD	8	0	0	0	0
19	E2-19	654-673	LEDRDRSELSPLLLSTTQWQ	7	1	0	0	0
20	E2-20	669-688	TTQWQVLPCSFTTLPALSTG	4	0	1	0	0
21	E2-21	684-703	ALSTGLIHLHQNIVDVQYLY	5	1	0	0	0
22	E2-22	699-718	VQYLYGVGSSIASWAIKWEY	3	0	0	0	0
23	E2-23	714-733	KWEYVVLLFLLLADARVCS	4	0	0	0	0
24	E2-24	729-746	ARVCSCLWMMLLISQAEA	1	0	0	0	0
Cumi E2 pe	nulative nu ptide	umber of Ad pro	oteins showing homology with each HCV	107	10	2	0	0
Total	number of	f E2 peptides sh	nowing homology	24	7	2	0	0

Appendix 10: List of HCV E2 derived peptides and number of Ad proteins showing homology

		HCV-1a p7 pep	otides (20 amino acid each)	Number of Ad proteins showing homology (range of score in %)	re in %)			
No.	Name	Location on polyprotein	Amino acid sequence	25.00 - 30.00	30.11 - 35.00	35.11 - 40.00	40.11 - 45.00	>50.00
1	P7-1	747-766	ALENLVILNAASLAGTHGLV	6	1	0	0	0
2	P7-2	762-781	THGLVSFLVFFCFAWYLKGR	1	1	0	0	0
3	P7-3	777-796	YLKGRWVPGAVYAFYGMWPL	2	0	0	0	0
4	P7-4	792-809	GMWPLLLLLLALPQRAYA	ю	1	0	1	0
Cum p7 pe	mulative m ptide	umber of Ad pro	teins showing homology with each HCV	12	3	0	1	0
Total	l number of	f p7 peptides sh	owing homology	4	3	0	1	0

Appendix 11: List of HCV p7 derived peptides and number of Ad proteins showing homology

	I	HCV-1a NS2 pe	eptides (20 amino acid each)	Numbe	r of Ad proteins	showing homolo	gy (range of sco	re in %)
No.	Name	Location on polyprotein	Amino acid sequence	25.00 - 30.00	30.11 - 35.00	35.11 - 40.00	40.11 - 45.00	>50.00
1	NS2-1	810-829	LDTEVAASCGGVVLVGLMAL	8	0	0	0	0
2	NS2-2	825-844	GLMALTLSPYYKRYISWCMW	2	0	0	0	0
3	NS2-3	840-859	SWCMWWLQYFLTRVEAQLHV	2	0	0	0	0
4	NS2-4	855-874	AQLHVWVPPLNVRGGRDAVI	4	1	0	0	0
5	NS2-5	870-889	RDAVILLMCVVHPTLVFDIT	3	0	0	0	0
6	NS2-6	885-904	VFDITKLLLAIFGPLWILQA	2	0	0	0	0
7	NS2-7	900-919	WILQASLLKVPYFVRVQGLL	4	0	0	0	0
8	NS2-8	915-934	VQGLLRICALARKIAGGHYV	4	0	0	0	0
9	NS2-9	930-949	GGHYVQMAIIKLGALTGTYV	5	0	0	0	0
10	NS2-10	945-964	TGTYVYNHLTPLRDWAHNGL	6	1	0	0	0
11	NS2-11	960-979	AHNGLRDLAVAVEPVVFSRM	4	1	0	0	0
12	NS2-12	975-994	VFSRMETKLITWGADTAACG	2	0	0	0	0
13	NS2-13	990-1009	TAACGDIINGLPVSARRGQE	4	1	0	0	0
14	NS2-14	1005-1026	RRGQEILLGPADGMVSKGWRLL	1	0	0	0	0
Cum NS2	mulative nu peptide	umber of Ad pro	oteins showing homology with each HCV	51	4	0	0	0
Tota	l number of	f NS2 peptides	showing homology	14	4	0	0	0

Appendix 12: List of HC v NS2 derived peptides and number of Ad proteins showing n
